jover

technologies

Plover Bay Technologies Limited
HENMBERLT
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

(RFAEEEEMILINERAE)

Stock Code B&f1LaE : 1523

Annual Report
FIR
2023



10

22

38

42

53

71

78

79

81

82

84

176

Contents

=F

Corporate Information
el
Chairman’s Statement
iR

Financial Summary

WA 5 17k

Management Discussion and Analysis
S A b b

Corporate Governance Report

1 3 IR R

Profile of Directors and Senior Management
R N AR B R

Report of the Directors

R W

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BRBE - A R R

Independent Auditor’s Report

T8 ST A% BT

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and

Other Comprehensive Income
B0 1R AR M A A Tk AR R
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

5 e BB IR DL R

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
ot E R

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HaBaneR

Notes to Financial Statements

B 5 3R B

Five Year Financial Summary

AR 5 ik



Corporate Information

NEEHR

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Wing Hong Alex (Chairman)
Mr. Chau Kit Wai

Mr. Chong Ming Pui

Mr. Yeung Yu

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Dr. Yu Kin Tim

Mr. Ho Chi Lam

Mr. Wan Sze Chung

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Wan Sze Chung (Chairman)
Dr. Yu Kin Tim
Mr. Ho Chi Lam

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Chan Wing Hong Alex (Chairman)
Dr. Yu Kin Tim
Mr. Wan Sze Chung

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Chan Wing Hong Alex (Chairman)
Dr. Yu Kin Tim
Mr. Wan Sze Chung

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Mr. Chan Wing Hong Alex (Chairman)
Mr. Chau Kit Wai
Mr. Yeung Yu

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Wang Yu

REGISTERED OFFICE
Third Floor

Century Yard

Cricket Square

P.O. Box 902

Grand Cayman

KY1-1103

Cayman Islands

2 Plover Bay Technologies Limited 2023 Annual Report

EEg
HBITES

B K HE S 2 (2 )
JAL 5

S I i g 2
Wy 5

BYFHTES
AR T
o] 35 % S 2
. 8 B8 55 R

BEREEE
i ST 2 (2 )
A 1

o 25 7 o 2.

REZES
B K HE S 28 (2 )
A {5 1+

U L 5

FWEEE
B K HE S 2 (2 )
At 5
i

RREEEES
B K HE S 28 (2 )
BEY P
By e

DNEME
T EL L

A E R
Third Floor
Century Yard
Cricket Square
P.O. Box 902
Grand Cayman
KY1-1103
Cayman Islands



HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE

OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Unit B, 5/F, Dragon Industrial Building
93 King Lam Street

Lai Chi Kok

Kowloon

Hong Kong

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN
ISLANDS

Tricor Services (Cayman Islands) Limited
Third Floor

Century Yard

Cricket Square

P.O. Box 902

Grand Cayman

KY1-1103

Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL BANKS

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
The Bank of East Asia, Limited

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

STOCK CODE
1523

WEBSITE

www.ploverbay.com

Corporate Information

NAEIER

ERATRRETELXEME

Eie

JL#E

7 B

MR 9355

HEFH T3 K ESHBE

% BUED

2K B HE 4 B Y
e

i M 2A I ) i B 0

FEHEROBFETHARE

Tricor Services (Cayman Islands) Limited
Third Floor

Century Yard

Cricket Square

P.O. Box 902

Grand Cayman

KY1-1103

Cayman Islands

EFERIT

ol L GRAT AT R
R SRAT AT PR 2 A
EERONBFETTE

B S ETT AR A
F s

BB 1698

B 4 Rl 017 A8

B 12 1K 3%

1523

48 ¥k

www.ploverbay.com

202358 HENBERAT 3



Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE

Dear shareholders and partners,

This is our first year of “Supercharged Connectivity”, a tagline we
adopted in the beginning of 2023 to capture the essence of what we
do — creating solutions that enable customers to build much more
reliable and faster networks.

In many parts of the world, connectivity remains a challenge to
acquire and set up, and often comes with speed, reliability and
stability problems. More often than not, rather than technological
limitations, these so-called last-mile problems are simply caused by
lack of economic incentives, rent-seeking behaviors, or bureaucratic
inefficiencies.

These issues underscore the need for easy ways to improve
connectivity across all businesses and industries, which is what
“Supercharged Connectivity” offers.

More connectivity options is good for business

Some years ago, we were asked if 5G or Starlink might replace our
business. In fact, we continue to grow and thrive as connectivity
options have proliferated in the past few years, expanding from
traditional broadband and mobile to low-earth orbit (LEO) satellite
services, fixed wireless access (FWA), private networks and more.

No single service provider can provide flawless reliability, perfect
latency and full network coverage in every market. Different carriers
and different types of internet services have their own strengths and
weaknesses. One of the key reasons customers purchase our products
is that they can combine their choices of connectivity to make their
network more stable and faster. Therefore, our business thrives when
more connectivity choices are available.

Our proprietary technology, SpeedFusion, takes the unique strengths
of each connection, whether it’s the low-latency of 5G, the broad
coverage of Starlink, or the stability of wired connections, and
combines them to create a “supercharged” connection that is superior
to any single source.

This flexibility has helped our partners around the world to reach
into many exciting projects and deployments.
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SpeedFusion is 18 years old

SpeedFusion has been developed for more than 18 years. It is mature,
but not stagnant. Over time, we have made it more reliable, more
responsive, and capable of supporting any carrier and more kinds of
internet services.

We have also built a full ecosystem around SpeedFusion. We have
routers in all kinds of form factors supporting different network
interfaces. Many of those are specifically designed for certain
industry verticals and deployment settings, and are refined over time
based on actual feedback from deployment sites.

We built software to help visualize and remotely manage a
large number of routers, and created a global network of point
of presences. These make it much easier for customers to use
SpeedFusion and manage their network. Over time, we also
introduced more management features and made our software easier
and more intuitive to use.

These core products and software are also supported by a range of
supporting products such as access points, signal-amplifying outdoor
antennas, network switches and so on, which help our customers in
delivering complete networking solutions.

Starlink’s first Authorized Technology Provider

Plover Bay is much more than just selling hardware. We are also
very different from conventional networking players, to the point that
some may find our SD-WAN features “lacking”.

This is because our entire ecosystem is built on solving connectivity
problems in a simple way. We continued to refine this ecosystem
over the years, accumulating strong trust and reputation across many
industry verticals. This is very hard to replicate, and it gives us many
edges when new opportunities emerge.

The emergence of Starlink is one such example. Since Starlink
launched in 2021, customers have been using Peplink to bridge their
Starlink connections with mobile or broadband at small remote sites.
Since then, the solution has continued to expand and land in larger
opportunities in maritime, public safety and mining.
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Chairman’s Statement

EFERE

In 2023, we helped one of the largest cruise ship companies in the
world bond together dozens of Starlink connections on their whole
fleet, providing fast broadband internet to thousands of passengers
and crew onboard. In this deployment, while competing large
networking companies also introduced their SD-WAN solutions, we
were able to deliver a much better performance in terms of speed,
reliability and stability. We also provided very responsive feedback
to the customer, and we had a wide range of supporting products
specialized for maritime deployments. These all added up to become
winning factors.

Eventually, this large deployment led us into our recent appointment
as Starlink’s first Authorized Technology Provider. The recognition
enhances our brand visibility and allows us to tap into the fast-
growing Starlink user base, providing even more potential for growth
in the coming years.

We believe these kinds of successes are proof that we are moving in
the right direction.

Besides Starlink, other new connectivity options have also emerged,
such as other LEO services, FWA and private networks.

Entering the Fixed Wireless Access market

The FWA market is a large opportunity. According to market
estimates, the number of FWA connections will more than double to
over 300 million by 2030. Of course, with such substantial volumes
at play, this is a highly competitive market. In fact, many leading
networking equipment manufacturers are already supplying sizable
volumes of FWA routers to telecom companies worldwide.

We intend to approach the FWA market with a different strategy.
Recently, we have launched the B One series fixed/5G router.
It features a full range of SpeedFusion capabilities. This gives
customers the ability to SpeedFusion different FWA networks
together with fixed broadband or other mobile networks.

The B One series is optimized for large volumes and has a very
friendly price point to small office/home office users.

We also launched a companion app called the “Peplink App”. The
app is an extension of our InControl2 management software, and
provides a much more simplified interface for users to configure and
manage their small networks, including SpeedFusion and other value-
added services. We believe the Peplink App makes our ecosystem
more accessible and helps us tap into customers in the FWA segment.
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Growing subscription pipeline
In 2023, our recurring revenue has reached a key milestone. It
currently accounts for 30% of our sales, and 52% of our gross profit.

The drivers of recurring revenue continue to grow. As at 31
December 2023, the number of devices registered on our cloud
management platform has risen 20% year-on-year to over 500K. At
the same time, the number of subscriptions has grown over 40% year-
on-year. The take-up rate of our subscriptions, which is defined as the
number of subscriptions versus the number of devices sold, also rose
to 28% against a growing user base.

To boost our recurring revenue growth pipeline, we will continue to
focus on providing superior value propositions through launching
affordable new products while further enhancing our software
features.

Other exciting opportunities

In the past year, Al has been developing by leaps and bounds. We
believe it will create a lot of opportunities for us in an expanding
connectivity market, making our operation more efficient to create
new Al-enabled product platforms. Plover Bay has a track record
in adopting new technology to enrich our product offerings and
ecosystem. We are very excited about the possibilities.

To wrap up

It took us 18 years to reach US$94.3M from zero. We have learned
a lot during our growth journey and, just like the coming of age of
a young person, Plover Bay is reaching a new stage with stronger
manufacturing and go-to-market partners to help us reach the next
US$100M much faster.

We are fortunate to have like-minded team members, partners and
investors around the world working together. Thank you everybody
for joining us in this exciting journey.
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Financial Summary

MBEEE

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities and
equity of Plover Bay Technologies Limited (the “Company”), together
with its subsidiaries (referred as the “Group” or “we” or “our” or
“us”) for each of the five years ended 31 December is as follows:

RESULTS

2023

20235
US$’°000
FEx

Hy iR BOA IR R (AR 2 7] ) 2 (] B
QA (TS s A ) B =12 H31H 1k T
fAFREAFERN OIS EE L ERE - Al
Lo HE S 1 B4R

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALLFE
2022 2021 2020 2019
20224F  20214F  20204F  20194F
US$000 US$000 US$ 000 US$000
T*mx TEXmxT TFEmx TETT

Revenue e A 94,259 86,757 74,128 52,818 45,910
Profit for the year attributable B AT HEBEAELER

to owners of the parent & A 28,099 22,659 21,200 14,230 12,089
Adjusted by: R R

Equity-settled share-based DAHE 25 45 B 2 R0

payments A5F 3 B 253 266 123 215 530

Core net profit 2 F s F 28,352 22,925 21,323 14,445 12,619
Earnings per share — BRERN —

basic (US cents) E A (EAL) 2.56 2.07 1.96 1.34 1.17
Core net profit per share — BREOCFEFNE —

basic (US cents) E AR (EA) 2.58 2.10 1.97 1.37 1.22
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Financial Summary

MBRE

AE BEKER

As at 31 December
M12831H

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

20235 20224F  20214F  20204F  20194F
US$’000 US$°000 US$000 US$000 US$ 000
FEx TFFXux FFEx TFTFEx TEi

Assets B
Total non-current assets I Ui B A A 7,106 5,494 4,800 4,366 5,520
Total current assets Ui B A AL 78,169 77,796 66,943 54,941 44,558
Total assets & MR 85,275 83,290 71,743 59,307 50,078
Liabilities =R
Total current liabilities B A 27,242 35,233 277388 20,914 12,906
Total non-current liabilities IE VB A A A 7,809 4,766 4272 2,555 3,058
Total liabilities B 45 35,051 39,999 31,660 23,469 15,964
Equity HE fi
Equity attributable to owners ®ATEAFAELER

of the parent 50,224 43291 40,083 35,838 34,114

The summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated L #iffi ZEI BB EZEZE S M B HRE 2
financial statements. — A o

20238 EEREARAT 9



Management Discussion and Analysis

BEBNWR D

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Revenue and segment information

Plover Bay is a vendor of connectivity hardware, software and
services. Our products include wired SD-WAN routers, wireless
SD-WAN routers and networking peripherals that support customers’
networks. We also engage in the sales of add-on software licences
and warranty and support services, which includes on-demand data
services.

As our product range continue to evolve, many of our products
are enabled with both wired and wireless functions. Our products
have also branched out to include connectivity products that do not
perform the function of a router, such as our mobile antenna, network
switches, accessories, access points, and so on.

The classification of our products into wired SD-WAN and
wireless SD-WAN routers is no longer accurate. Henceforth, we
will rename wired SD-WAN to “Fixed First Connectivity”, which
denotes products that typically rely on fixed networks as its primary
connectivity. Wireless SD-WAN shall be renamed to “Mobile First
Connectivity”, which includes products that primarily use wireless
networks for its connectivity.

Our revenue segments consist mainly of the following categories: (i)
SD-WAN routers, which is further divided into wired and wireless
products, also known as Fixed First Connectivity and Mobile First
Connectivity; (ii) warranty and support services, which includes
provision of warranty and usage-based data services; and (iii)
software licences, which includes one-off software licences and
subscription for InControl2 service and other software features.

Revenue highlights

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s revenue
increased to approximately US$94,259,000, representing an
approximately 8.6% year-over-year growth. The sales of Fixed
First Connectivity (formerly Wired SD-WAN routers) increased
to approximately US$14,589,000, a slight increase of about 1.1%
year-over-year. Sales of Mobile First Connectivity (formerly Wireless
SD-WAN routers) increased to approximately US$49,393,000, or
an increase of about 5.6% year-over-year. Warranty and support
services increased about 12.6% to US$23,765,000. Finally, the
sales of software licences increased about 46.4% year-over-year to
US$6,512,000.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The table below sets out our revenue by product and service category
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022:

BEEmR DA

T 2 ¥ 5 R 8 £20234F K% 20224E12 H31H
1F A B Fi o RO A5 R 4 B A

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12R31BLEE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Revenue % of total Revenue % of total
(= LV ON: i BB A Y
LN BOL A [ER; 4
US$°000 % US$°000 %
FEx % TEx %
Fixed First Connectivity E 4 4% 05 Se
(formerly Wired (LA i 78 7% AR
SD-WAN routers) SD-WAN# ] #%) 14,589 15.5 14,430 16.6
Mobile First Connectivity 6 Bl 4 4% 5 So 4
(formerly Wireless (LA i 75 7 JE AR
SD-WAN routers) SD-WAN # ] #) 49,393 52.4 46,773 53.9
Warranty and support services PR A5 B S 1% IR B 23,765 25.2 21,107 24.3
Software licences B AT 6,512 6.9 4,447 5.2
Total &t 94,259 100.0 86,757 100.0
Overview of recurring sales REMEHENE

We consider the sales of Fixed First Connectivity and Mobile First
Connectivity, licences for virtual appliances and add-on licences for
software features to be one-time sales.

Recurring sales mainly include the following:

(i) Embedded Subscriptions, which refers to revenues relating to (i)
embedded one-year warranty and services included with the
sale of a router or product;

(ii) Organic Subscriptions, which refers to revenues relating to  (ii)
sales of subscriptions for warranty (recognised in the software
licences and warranty and support services segment) and
software features (recognised in the software licences and
warranty and support services segment)

(iit) (iii)

the sales of cloud and data services, which are based on data
usage.

TAM W8y 18] R A9 A 1 S 1 R B) A A
S~ M T D A A R
T AT A B A — B o
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Management Discussion and Analysis
SRR ECISER

During the year, one-time sales increased approximately 4.1%
while recurring sales increased approximately 20.7% year-over-
year. Within recurring sales, Embedded Subscriptions warranty
accounted for approximately 41.0% of total recurring sales, while
Organic Subscriptions accounted for approximately 51.7%. The
sales of Embedded Subscriptions generally follows the growth trend
of Fixed First and Mobile First Connectivity segment sales of the
past twelve months. Growth of Organic Subscriptions is positively
impacted by our continued growing userbase, increasing take up rate
of subscriptions, and user stickiness.

The table below sets out the breakdown of revenue according to the
timing of revenue recognition for the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022:

AR AR BE s — UV B B BN A 4.19% 1T 58 R
PR B B[R] b 34 0 #920.7% o TE 88 1k B
o A EOARAE T A0 AR M B AR
(14941.0% T A7 A8 5T BE 40 05 58 1 6 B 488
HI51.7% » i A 2XET B & 6 0 5 IR A6 B E
A A 0 o RS B A A 1R O A B
WmETMANSEERENE RSB - A%
FTB R 2 B AR R R R
F1 B R TN P R R Y OE T R 2 o

T 2 # 5 R # £ 20234F K 20224E12 H31H
G N A R ST NE

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE
2023 2022
20234 20224F
Revenue Weight Revenue
(Y ON:Y f

N BatE e A

US$’000 % US$’000

FExR % T*7T
One-time sales: — K 65,579 69.6 63,004 72.6
Recurring sales: KEH MR 28,680 30.4 23,753 27.4
Total Gt 94,259 100.0 86,757 100.0

Overview of sales in geographical regions BHWENHEME

We divide our sales into the following geographical regions: North
America, EMEA (including Europe, Middle East and Africa), Asia
and other regions. During the year ended 31 December 2023, sales
to North America increased to approximately US$54,386,000,
representing year-on-year growth of approximately 4.6%. Sales
to EMEA rose to approximately US$27,536,000, representing
a year-on-year growth of approximately 26.7%. Sales to Asia
was approximately US$9,976,000, which decreased about 10.3%
year-on-year. Sales from other regions was approximately
US$2,361,000, which increased about 25.4% year-on-year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

During the period, sales in North America was mainly driven by
strong uptake of 5G products. Many of these products were mainly
used to enable resilient satellite and mobile communications, which
saw strong demands in maritime, government and public safety
verticals. However, the strong growth of 5G products has been
partially offset by the slower sales of 4G devices and the revamp of
our operations on a major North America ecommerce platform earlier
in the year, which has since been completed. Our operations on the
platform have resumed.

In EMEA, growth was lead by our Router-antenna integrated product
ranges, which are purpose-designed for mobility applications, such as
maritime. Meanwhile, both 5G and advanced 4G products saw strong
uptick in sales due to strong growth from relatively new partners in
eastern Europe.

Our sales in Asia is still mainly driven by government spending
in each individual country. As a result, sales in the region tends to
depend on project timing and can be lumpy from time to time.

The strong sales growth in Others region was mainly contributed by
sales to Australia and New Zealand, which was due to a strong ramp
up of brand building and sales activity by our key partner in the
region.

The table below sets out the breakdown of revenue amount by
geographical location of customers and the respective proportion of
total revenue for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022:
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For the year ended 31 December

BEI2A3NBLEE
2023 2022
20234 20224F
Revenue Weight Revenue Weight
YN b A A Y
WA Bat e A [ER:4
US$°000 % US$’000 %
FExR % +%£0 %
North America A6 & 54,386 57.7 52,017 60.0
EMEA EMEA 27,536 29.2 21,736 25.1
Asia i 9,976 10.6 11,121 12.8
Others HoAth 2,361 2.5 1,883 2.1
Total Gt 94,259 100.0 86,757 100.0
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Management Discussion and Analysis
SRR ECISER

Gross profit and gross profit margin

For the year ended 31 December 2023, our gross profit was
approximately US$50,913,000, a year-over-year increase of
approximately 9.5%. Our gross profit margin for the year was
approximately 54.0%, compared to approximately 53.6% for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

Our gross profit margin increased slightly compared to the same
period last year. Notably, our gross margin in the second half of 2023
improved to 54.6% compared to 53.3% in the first half of 2023 (the
“Interim Period”). Throughout the year, the increased sales mix of
the software licences and warranty and support services segment
has brought up the Group’s overall gross profit margin. For the year
ended 31 December 2023, gross profit from recurring revenues has
well exceeded half of the Group’s overall gross profit. On the other
hand, component costs and production lead times have returned to
reasonable levels, we also begin to see milder component costs in the
second half of the year, leading to improved margins in Fixed First
and Mobile First Connectivity segments compared to the Interim
Period.

The table below sets out our Group’s gross profit and gross profit
margin by product and service category for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022:

EMNRERN=E

B E£20234F12H31H L 4FE > I8 A9 E A
#150,913,0003 JG > 4% 4F 1 & £99.5% o A&
TEEBFRA54% > 22022412 H31H
1E4F B % R R 453.6%

B AR R AR L - A T A R A L
Tt EHAATENRE > BMKEF FTE2023
RN 2 A DR F54.6% o 20234 |2 4R
(TH AR ) £553.3% © 224 > $RPERFAT M
PR B S 3R MRS 2 SR S AL A 3 > A
BT AEBE R E R R o B E 2023412
31H IEAFJE > 2 H &% M A B B A
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i B AR 0 A E R A R B B A B KT
FAM L BH bR B B A 4F R 2R A E B AR AR
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o Bl 44 4% 1 S 8 1 4y 50 A R R b B
HETek# -

T 2 # 5) A # F20234F 52022412 A31H
b4 AR A B e O B IROBS S8 RN ) 4 1 B
D EEVE3

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALFE
2023 2022
20234 202246
Gross Gross Gross Gross
profit margin profit margin
E X ERE E F E I %
US$°000 % US$’000 %
FER % T %7t %
Fixed First Connectivity IF] 5 A A% 18 5T 2 6,215 42.6 6,166 427
Mobile First Connectivity o By 48 A% 5 S i 4% 16,659 337 16,682 35.7
Warranty and support services PRAE B 3 3% Ik 5 22,302 93.8 19,782 93.7
Software licences R AT 5,737 88.1 3,877 87.2
Total &t 50,913 54.0 46,507 53.6
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Other income and gains, net

Other income and gains, net for the year ended 31 December
2023 were approximately US$1,362,000 (2022: approximately
US$183,000). The sharp increase was mainly attributable to higher
bank interest income and foreign exchange gains, as compared to
foreign exchange losses (recognised in general and administrative
expenses) in 2022.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses comprised mainly salaries and
benefits of our sales and marketing staff, advertising and promotion
expenses incurred to promote our products and other expenses
relating to our sales and marketing activities.

Selling and distribution expenses for the year ended 31 December
2023 were approximately US$3,544,000, increasing about 14.3%
year-on-year. The overall increase was mainly due to higher spending
on advertising and promotion.

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses mainly represented salaries
and benefits of our administrative, finance and other supporting
staff, depreciation of property, plant and equipment, amortisation of
intangible assets, lease expenses and other office expenses.

General and administrative expenses for the year ended 31 December
2023 were approximately US$7,021,000, a year-on-year decrease
of approximately 14.1%. The decrease was mainly due to foreign
exchange losses, net of approximately US$1,657,000 recorded in
the previous period, as compared to foreign exchange gains, net of
approximately US$306,000 being recorded in “Other income and
gains, net” in the current period. Excluding the effects of foreign
exchange fluctuations, general and administrative expenses increased
by approximately 7.8% year-on-year.

Research and development, consultancy and other
expenses

Research and development (“R&D”) expenses mainly represented
salaries and benefits of our engineering, testing and supporting
staff, product testing fees, certification costs, tooling, components
and parts used for product research and development purposes.
Consultancy and other expenses mainly represented payments
to service providers for testing, technical support and system
maintenance.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BB RO

Research and development, consultancy and other expenses for the
year ended 31 December 2023 were approximately US$8,411,000,
decreasing approximately 4.3% year-on-year as we increased
the portion of hardware development outsourced to contract
manufacturers.

Government subsidies

For the year ended 31 December 2023, government subsidies of
approximately US$96,000 (2022: Nil) and nil (2022: approximately
US$389,000) were granted under the Dedicated Fund on Branding,
Upgrading and Domestic Sales and the Employment Support
Scheme implemented by the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (the “HKSAR Government”), respectively,
and approximately US$419,000 (2022: approximately US$490,000)
were granted by the Government of the Republic of Lithuania for
several R&D projects.

Equity-settled share-based payment expense

Included in selling and distribution expenses, general and
administrative expenses, and research and development, consultancy
and other expenses was equity-settled share-based payment expense,
representing equity-settled share-based payments to directors,
employees and consultants which are expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period since the grant date.

During the year, the Group granted 3,300,000 share options to 33
employees on 11 December 2023. Equity-settled share-based payment
expense for the year ended 31 December 2023 was approximately
US$253,000 (2022: approximately US$266,000). Details of share
options granted by the Group are set out below under the heading
“Share Option Scheme” of this annual report.

Total operating expenses

Total operating expenses for the year ended 31 December 2023,
which includes selling and distribution expenses, general and
administrative expenses, and research and development, consultancy
and other expenses, amounted to approximately US$18,976,000,
representing a year-over-year decrease of approximately 5.4%.
Employee cost (including equity-settled share-based payment expense
and directors’ remuneration) remained our largest cost component,
which amounted to approximately US$9,861,000 for the year (2022:
approximately US$9,957,000).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Finance costs and interest-bearing bank borrowings
Finance costs mainly represented interest on bank borrowings and
interest on lease liabilities.

Finance costs for the year ended 31 December 2023 were
approximately US$349,000, representing a year-over-year increase of
approximately 43.0%. The increase was mainly due to higher interest
rates.

As at 31 December 2023, bank borrowings were approximately
US$1,177,000 (2022: approximately US$6,471,000). The decrease in
bank borrowings was mainly because of repayment of loans.

Income tax expense

During the year, the Group provided for Hong Kong profits tax at
a rate of 16.5% on its estimated assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong, except for one subsidiary which is a qualifying entity under
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. Taking into consideration the
effects of super deductions of qualified R&D expenses implemented
by the HKSAR Government, the overall effective tax rate for the year
was approximately 14.7%.

Profit attributable to owners of the parent

Profit attributable to owners of the parent for the year ended 31
December 2023 was approximately US$28,099,000, representing an
increase of approximately 24.0% year-on-year.

Inventories

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s inventory balance was
approximately US$16,938,000 (2022: approximately US$32,333,000).
During the year, the component shortages and production lead times
started to abate, allowing us to meet customer demands while holding
less inventories.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BB RO

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The following list is a summary of certain principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group, some of which are beyond our
control:

— Brand recognition of our customers depends on our ability to
keep up with the rapidly changing technologies or conduct R&D
and market our new products and services;

—  Competition from existing or new competitors may affect our
market share in the SD-WAN markets and our revenue may be
reduced;

—  Our business and financial performances depend on our ability
to manage our inventories effectively;

— Global trade policy uncertainties, which may affect the
economics of the purchasing decisions of our end customers;

— We do not have long-term purchase commitments from our
customers which may lead to significant uncertainty and
volatility of our revenue;

— We may be exposed to credit risk of our customers, affecting
the collectability of trade receivables and adversely affecting
our cash flows; and

— Disruption of supply chain and raw material shortages may
affect our ability to meet customer demands.

The above is not an exhaustive list. Investors are advised to make
their own judgement or consult their own investment advisers before
making any investment in the Company’s shares.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2023, our bank borrowings amounted to
approximately US$1,177,000 (2022: approximately US$6,471,000)
which are secured by the pledge of a time deposit amounting to
approximately US$2,052,000 (2022: approximately US$2,029,000).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

As at 31 December 2023, the gearing ratio (which is defined as total
borrowings over total equity) of our Group was approximately 2.3%
(2022: approximately 14.9%). The Directors confirm that the Group
financed its operations principally from cash generated from its
business operations and expect that this will continue to be the case
in the coming year. We did not experience any liquidity problem
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

AGEING ANALYSIS OF TRADE
RECEIVABLES AND TRADE PAYABLES

For details of our ageing analysis of trade receivables and trade
payables, please refer to note 17 and note 20 to the consolidated
financial information, respectively.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign
currencies, mainly in Euro, US dollars, Pound Sterling and
Australian dollars, hence exposure to exchange rate fluctuations
arises. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the management monitors foreign exchange
exposure closely in order to keep the net exposure to an acceptable
level. The Group will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

EMPLOYEE AND SALARY POLICIES

The Directors consider the quality of employees as the most critical
factor in maintaining the Group’s business growth and enhancing
our profitability. The Group offers remuneration packages including
salaries, bonuses and retirement benefits with reference to the
performance and working experience of individual employees, and
the prevailing market rates. As at 31 December 2023, the Group had
177 (2022: 202) full-time employees. The total amount of employee
costs of the Group (including equity-settled share-based payment
expense and directors’ remuneration) for the year was approximately
US$9,861,000 (2022: approximately US$9,957,000).

The Company also adopted a share option scheme approved on 21
June 2016 for the purpose of, among other things, recognition of
employees’ contribution to the Group’s continued growth. During
the year, the Company issued share options on 11 December 2023.
Details have been set out in the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” elsewhere in this annual report.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration
Committee having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) for all qualified employees in Hong Kong. Contributions
from employers and employees are 5% each of the employee’s
relevant income. The maximum mandatory contribution per employee
is HK$1,500 per month. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of an
independent trustee. The expense arising from contributions to the
MPF Scheme of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 was
approximately US$235,000 (2022: approximately US$257,000).

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary in Malaysia are members
of the state-managed retirement benefit scheme, the Employees
Provident Fund (the “EPF Scheme”) operated by the Malaysian
government. The subsidiary is required to contribute a certain
percentage of payroll costs to the EPF Scheme. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to make
specified contributions. The retirement benefit scheme contributions
arising from the EPF Scheme charged to profit or loss for the year
ended 31 December 2023 were approximately US$51,000 (2022:
approximately US$44,000).

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary in Taiwan chose to
participate in a defined contribution scheme governed by the Labour
Pension Act of Taiwan. This subsidiary contributes 6% of the total
salaries of participating employees who have chosen to participate in
the defined contribution scheme, which are deposited into individual
pension accounts at the Bureau of Labour Insurance of Taiwan. The
expense arising from the defined contribution scheme for the year
ended 31 December 2023 was approximately US$54,000 (2022:
approximately US$48,000).

The employee of the Group’s subsidiary in Singapore participates
in the Central Provident Fund scheme (the “CPF”) organised by
the government of Singapore. This subsidiary and its employee
are required to contribute a certain percentage of the employee’s
payroll to the CPF. The contributions are charged to profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the CPF.
The subsidiary has no further obligations for the actual pension
payments or post-retirement benefits beyond its contributions. The
expense arising from contributions to the CPF for the year ended 31
December 2023 was approximately US$12,000 (2022: approximately
US$11,000).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD
AND FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENT

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no significant investment
held and no material future investment plan.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND

DISPOSALS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had no material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and associated companies.

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had nil capital commitment
including commitment in respect of acquisition of property, plant
and equipment contracted but not provided for in the consolidated
financial statements (2022: approximately US$145,000).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

The Group’s bank facilities amounting to approximately
US$14,989,000 (2022: approximately US$14,927,000), of which
approximately US$1,177,000 (2022: approximately US$6,471,000)
had been utilised as at the end of the reporting period, which are
secured by the pledge of a time deposit of the Group amounting to
approximately US$2,052,000 (2022: approximately US$2,029,000).

DECLARATION AND PAYMENT OF
DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved to declare a second interim dividend of
HK10.94 cents per share and a special dividend of HK1.42 cents per
share (together, the “Dividends”) for the year ended 31 December
2023. The Dividends will be paid on Thursday, 28 March 2024 to
shareholders on the register of members on Friday, 15 March 2024.

BEEmR DA

FEERREREAXARENRKR
*aEt &

2023412 H31H > AE B H =R
WEMERBLEFH -

EXNBREESE

B R 20234E12 H31H 1R 4E > A 48 [ 3 4
7 T B o A B T Wk A 2 R Y R i B i
EHIE -

AE

JA20234FE12 H31H » A< 48 B i B O 5T &9 (H
F A GE A B R A 0 R AR IE B
Y2~ R PRk 0 RIS £ % 3 T (2022
4 #7145,0005 7T °

EEERHF

A £ [ E 414,989,000 T (20224F 1 &)
14,927,000 J&) & 19 %£)1,177,0003 G
(20224 : 16,471,000 J0) 2 5 & % P
RS BOR O MR TTUAREREL
2,052,000 JC (20224 : %2,029,0003 JC)
) € B AF B AE HE A o

BREEIKKEIKS

WD & E IR £2023F12H31H 1E
AERE 2B TR S B 10.94 35 I K&
R RIS B L2 (B BT E D » 3%
% B 8 2024453 728 B (B2 #APY) ] 7 2024
AE3A1SH R 4 5 i 342 i B4 s B Uik
fif e

20238 HEREAERAR 21



Corporate Governance Report
TRER/KRE

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Plover Bay Technologies
Company Limited (the “Company”), together with its subsidiaries
(referred as the “Group” or “we” or “our” or “us”) is pleased to
present the Corporate Governance Report of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Board has committed to achieving high corporate governance
standards. The Board believes that high corporate governance
standards are essential in providing a framework for the Company
to safeguard the interests of shareholders of the Company
(“Shareholders”) and to enhance corporate value and accountability.
The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code”) as its own code of corporate governance, and is committed
to maintaining high standards of corporate governance as well
as transparency. The Company has complied with all applicable
provisions of the CG Code during the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of
the Company for the purpose of complying with the CG Code and
maintaining a high standard of corporate governance practices of the
Company.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES

TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix 10 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) as its own securities
dealing code to regulate all dealings by Directors of securities in the
Company and other matters covered by the Model Code. Specific
enquiry has been made of all the Directors and they have confirmed
that they have complied with the Model Code during the year ended
31 December 2023.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

Corporate Governance Report
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TRERY RHEEEE MEEg EREZ S G

The Company strives to attain and maintain high standards of
corporate governance best suited to the needs and interests of the
Group as it believes that effective corporate governance practices
is fundamental to enhancing shareholder value and safeguarding
interests of Shareholders and stakeholders. The Board sets
appropriate policies and implements corporate governance practices
appropriate to the conduct and growth of the Group’s businesses.

COMPANY CULTURE

The Company’s culture is moulded by our vision and values. They are
shaped by the Peplink community, which consists of our employees,
business partners, and customers. Our culture in turn shapes our
employees, our strategies, and dictate the way we operate, solve
problems and develop new technologies.

The Company’s culture is a reflection of our core values and sets
us apart from our competitors. Our culture ensures employees will
continue to contribute their passion towards their work and our
vision. It also helps attract and retain new recruits from different
backgrounds with similar values. In turn, it solidifies our brand
identity and drives us to continue to innovate. We are committed to
putting our core values into practice every day and creating a work
environment where our employees can thrive and meet their full
potential.
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Throughout 2023, the Company continued to strengthen the cultural
framework and exploit the advantages of its distinguishable culture
in its strategic planning process. Such a process assists the Company
in identifying and assessing the opportunities and challenges that the
Company might face, and to develop a planned course of action that
will make the best use of its unique culture.

In 2023, our cultural framework shaped the Company’s strategic
priorities: (i) product innovation; (ii) user base and ecosystem
expansion; (iii) supply chain management; and (iv) enhance
operational efficiency. In each of these, our culture and values
directly or indirectly influenced the thought process, planning and
the subsequent execution of those strategies.

Please visit our website (“Company > Our Business” section) to learn
more about the Company’s purpose, vision and values.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises seven members, consisting of four
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.
The function of the Board is to guide the management to ensure the
interests of the Shareholders are safeguarded.

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual report
were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Wing Hong Alex (Chairman)

Mr. Chau Kit Wai (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chong Ming Pui

Mr. Yeung Yu

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Dr. Yu Kin Tim

Mr. Ho Chi Lam

Mr. Wan Sze Chung

24 Plover Bay Technologies Limited 2023 Annual Report

REAB20234F > A2 F)AE W AR #6047 o
A R L SCIL HE S 8 48 A 4 45 AL
(1 P 3 o IS0 B L ) A B A % ] kAN
wF A 2> ) AT HE THT Bl PO A 2 A0 PR B 3 T
AR H B R At - W RTATEY 7 & e

1E20234F > BAM I SCALAE ZE B A AL &) T8
R ORI R () EE AR AR ()R
FEFIAERE R AR - () gl 3 1%
(V9 i i A R o AR B — i T 3
(19 ST A 5 (L 980 T i el ] S 3 T 0
LE G 1 R 5 A AR B AR A AT

WMk TEZHAEARARE - BRME
BB R - il 0 BT JAM A Al (T W] >
A SE BT D) -

Exg
WG HA 2R BALK . B
THEER =AW RTESR - EHFFH
Tk B % | GG PR T DA B R B R Y HE 4 4
3 PR B

ERH EAAECH W

HITES

Bl e 9t 2 ()

JE 1 48 58 2 (7 A8 %)
AW il S 2

5 B 5 2

BYFHTES
AR AR L
] 5 5 55 2R
. ST e



Biographical information of the Directors and relationship amongst
them, if any, are set out in the section headed “Profile of Directors
and Senior Management” of this annual report.

The Company has received from each of its independent
non-executive Directors the written confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company, based on
such confirmations, considers them to be independent.

The Board delegates the authority and responsibility for
implementing day-to-day operations, business strategies and
management of the Group’s businesses to the executive Directors,
senior management and certain specific responsibilities to the Board
committees.

When the Board delegates aspects of its management and
administration functions to the management, it has given clear
directions as to the powers of management, in particular, with
respect to the circumstances. While allowing management substantial
autonomy to run and develop the business, the Board plays a key
role in structuring and monitoring the reporting systems and internal
controls. The composition and functions of each Board committee
are described below. The final decision still rests with the Board
unless otherwise provide for in the terms of reference of relevant
committees.

The independent non-executive Directors bring a wide range of skills
and business experience to the Group. They also bring independent
judgment on the issues of strategy, performance and risk through
their contribution to the Board meetings and to the committees’
meetings.

The Board is responsible for the oversight of the management of
the Company’s businesses and affairs with the goal of maximising
long-term shareholder’s value, while balancing broader stakeholder
interests. The Board has the following main duties:

o determine all the corporate matters;

. be responsible for the management, direction and supervision of
the businesses of the Group; and

. be responsible to ensure the effectiveness on Group’s financial
reporting and compliance.

The composition of the Board is well-balanced with each Director
having sound industry knowledge, extensive corporate and strategic
planning experience and/or expertise relevant to the businesses of
the Group. All executive Directors, and independent non-executive
Directors bring a variety of experience and expertise to the Company.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND BOARD
PRACTICES

The Board holds regular meetings at appropriate intervals during a
year. The Board will also meet on other occasions when a board-level
decision on a particular matter is required. During the year ended 31
December 2023, the Board held 4 regular meetings. The attendance
records of the Directors to these regular board meetings are set out in
the table on page 31 of this annual report.

All minutes of the meetings, record in sufficient detail the matters
considered and decisions reached, are kept by the Company Secretary
and are open for inspection by the Directors at any time.

The meetings are structured to allow open discussion. All Directors
participate in discussing the strategy, operational and financial
performance and internal control of the Group.

The Company Secretary assists the Chairman to prepare the agenda
of the meeting and each Director may request to include any matters
in the agenda. At least 3 days’ notice is given to the Directors for
the regular meetings by the Company. All substantive agenda items
have comprehensive briefing papers, which are distributed by the
Company Secretary to the Directors at least 3 days before the Board
meetings so as to ensure that the Directors may receive accurate,
timely and clear information to make informed decisions regarding
the matters discussed in the meetings.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary who regularly updates the Board on governance and
regulatory matters. The Company Secretary is also responsible for
ensuring the procedures of the Board meetings are observed and
providing the Board opinions on matters in relation to the compliance
with the procedures of the Board meetings.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

OFFICER OF THE GROUP

The Chairman of the Group is Mr. Chan Wing Hong Alex and
the Chief Executive Officer of the Group is Mr. Chau Kit Wai.
The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are separate
and not performed by the same individual to ensure a balance of
power and authority, so that power is not concentrated in any one
individual. The Chairman of the Group is primarily responsible for
the management of the Board, whereas the Chief Executive Officer is
primarily responsible for the daily operations and management of the
Group.

The Chairman is responsible for leading the Board and ensuring the
Board work effectively, through which the Chairman will ensure that
good corporate governance practices and procedures are established
and followed, and that all Directors receive all relevant information
in a timely manner.

The Chairman will also encourage all Directors, including the
independent non-executive Directors, to actively participate in all
board meetings and the committee meetings.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
an appointment letter with the Company pursuant to which each of
them is appointed for service with the Company for a term of three
years. Their terms of appointment shall be subject to the rotational
retirement provision of the articles of association of the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

To assist the Board in the execution of its duties, the Board has
currently delegated specific functions to four Board committees.
They are the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee,
Nomination Committee and Risk Management Committee. As at the
date of this annual report, the compositions of each committee are as
follows:

Audit
Committee
B
£ZEg
Executive Directors: HITES:
Mr. Chan Wing Hong Alex R 7K B 56 A=
Mr. Chau Kit Wai JA AR S A
Mr. Yeung Yu 1 Hir e A
Independent non-executive Directors: BV FH TEE !
Dr. Yu Kin Tim RIERHIE L M
Mr. Ho Chi Lam AT 75 Fx 56 AR M
Mr. Wan Sze Chung i S5 R S A C
Notes: C Chairman of the relevant Board committees
M Member of the relevant Board committees

The written terms of reference of Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee and Risk Management
Committee are available on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website.

Audit Committee

We have established an Audit Committee pursuant to a resolution
of our Directors passed on 21 June 2016. Our Audit Committee
has written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the
Listing Rules and the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report (“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Audit Committee of our
Company are mainly to make recommendations to our Board on
the appointment and dismissal of the external auditor, review the
financial statements and information and provide advice in respect
of financial reporting and oversee the risk management and internal
control procedures of our Company. At present, the Audit Committee
consists of three members being all independent non-executive
Directors: Mr. Wan Sze Chung, who serves as chairman of the
committee, Dr. Yu Kin Tim and Mr. Ho Chi Lam. The external
auditor and the chief financial officer also attend meetings of Audit
Committee by invitation.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee
held two meetings to review the annual results of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2022, and to review the interim results of
the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2023. Subsequent to the
financial year and up to the date of this report, the Audit Committee
held another meeting to review the annual results of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2023. Other than to review financial
reporting, all meetings were also held to assess compliance and
internal control procedures.

The external auditors attended the meeting for the review of annual
results to discuss with the Audit Committee on issues arising from
the audit and financial reporting matters.

Remuneration Committee

We have established a Remuneration Committee pursuant to a
resolution of our Directors passed on 21 June 2016. Our Company
has written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25
of the Listing Rules and the CG Code. The primary functions
of the Remuneration Committee of our Company are to make
recommendation to the Board on the overall remuneration policy
and the structure relating to all Directors and senior management of
our Group, review performance based remuneration and ensure none
of our Directors determine their own remuneration. At present, the
Remuneration Committee consists of three members: one executive
Director, Mr. Chan Wing Hong Alex, who serves as chairman of the
committee, and two independent non-executive Directors, Dr. Yu Kin
Tim and Mr. Wan Sze Chung.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting to review and recommend the
remuneration packages of the Directors to the Board, assess the
performance of relevant Directors and other related matters.
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Nomination Committee

We have established a Nomination Committee pursuant to a
resolution of our Directors passed on 21 June 2016. Our Company
has written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
primary functions of the Nomination Committee of our Company
are to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge, experience and diversity) of our Board at least
annually and make recommendation to our Board on any proposed
changes to our Board to complement our Company’s corporate
strategy; identify individuals suitably qualified as potential board
members and select or make recommendations to our Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorships; to assess the
independence of our independent non-executive Directors; and make
recommendations to our Board on the appointment or reappointment
of Directors and succession planning of Directors, especially that
of our Chairman and our Chief Executive Officer. At present, the
Nomination Committee consists of three members: one executive
Director, Mr. Chan Wing Hong Alex, who serves as chairman of the
committee, and two independent non-executive Directors, Dr. Yu Kin
Tim and Mr. Wan Sze Chung.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration
paid to the members of the senior management by band for the year
ended 31 December 2023 is set out below:

REZE®

P F R 20164F6 H21 H B M I il & »
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o ANFIMAZEFNEERTZE D
BRG] E e R - BB R A A (R
EHRE ~ Fak - B & ZoutE) > I AT
] 2 i 5 A ) A 3 5R W T 45 3 e 1
HMEEEHmEReRIER  WEEHES
BEAR AT E H AL It Pk R
2N AT EE S TS A AT 2 R B I )
HEeRbEE B L IERITESRNE
M WMA B EFRTRERBTUL
O OLH S B AT B AR AT 5 S
PSR ) F R R o E AT AT
BEm =M EHAK > —ZAAITESE
BB 7k JBE S Ak (BB AT ) s HEEmi &5
B TE S > B AR I &R R
S o

R EEIRSFHIZBE. LS > B £ 20234
2H3IHIEFEE I TREAERAEZ
S P 2 A [ F 4> R

Number of
Remuneration bands person(s)
¥ AE
Nil to US$250,000 % £250,0003 7T 3
US$250,001 to US$550,000 250,001 7T £ 550,000 7T 1

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting to review the structure, size and
composition (including the skills, knowledge, experience and
diversity) of our Board and no recommendation to our Board on any
changes to our Board is proposed.

30 Plover Bay Technologies Limited 2023 Annual Report

B E2023F12A3HILFE - 4 ZEG
ERITT - REHRUSEEFG MY
KRR R AL (RS B fE o~ ek B A
Je ) H S M S #E S5 g 00 4F o] 2 ek A By 1)
HHGELEBEER -



Risk Management Committee

We have established a Risk Management Committee pursuant to
a resolution of our Directors passed on 29 February 2016. Our
Company has written terms of reference in compliance with the CG
Code. The primary functions of the Risk Management Committee
of our Company are to enhance our Company’s risk management
ability and improve corporate governance of our Company, as well
as to assess the latest sanctions-related risks our operations may be
exposed to. At present, the Risk Management Committee consists
of three members, being Mr. Chan Wing Hong Alex, who serves as
chairman of the committee, Mr. Chau Kit Wai and Mr. Yeung Yu. All
of them are executive Directors.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Risk Management
Committee held one meeting to review and assess the effectiveness of
risk management and internal control systems.

BOARD DIVERSITY

The Company is committed to equal opportunities in all aspects
of its business and does not discriminate on grounds of gender,
family status, disability, nationality, race, ethnicity, religious or
philosophical belief, age, sexual orientation, or any other factor.

The Company recognises and embraces diversity in the boardroom.
The Company believes that a diversity of perspective can benefit
the Company and diversity can be achieved by considering factors
such as gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
All Board appointments are therefore made based on merit, and
candidates are considered against various objective criteria, with due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Currently, all Board members are male. The Board has set down
its goals to appoint one female as Board member no later than 31
December 2024 as part of its effort to achieve diversity on the Board
level. The Nomination Committee will continue to monitor and
actively consider different aspects of diversity in the boardroom, and
recommend further actions or plan to the Board when necessary.
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INDEPENDENCE

All the Directors have full and timely access to the information of
the Company (including but not limited to financial reports, audit
results and other relevant data) as well as the advice and services of
the Company Secretary. So that Board members are equipped with
necessary professional advice in their decision-making process,
the Board may, in appropriate circumstances, seek independent
professional advice at the Company’s expenses to assist them. Board
members are also encouraged to seek inputs from other members,
employees and other stakeholders in appropriate circumstances
to ensure that different perspectives are taken into account in the
decision-making process. There are formal or informal channels in
place to ensure that independent views and inputs are available to the
Board.

ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the attendance records
of the Directors at Board meetings, Audit Committee meetings,
Remuneration Committee meetings, Nomination Committee

Byt
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meetings, Risk Management Committee meetings are as follows: ke T
Number of meetings attended
SMEERE
Risk
Audit Remuneration = Nomination —Management
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee
Name of Directors meetings meetings meetings meetings meetings
EZe ENRZEE FMzZERE REZEE mEER
Expns - Ef Lk 8% ZEEEE
Executive Directors HITEZ
Mr. Chan Wing Hong Alex B K B S R 4/4 — 11 11 11
Mr. Chau Kit Wai [l BB 4/4 — — — 11
Mr. Chong Ming Pui S B il 5 A 4/4 — — — —
Mr. Yeung Yu ¥ B 9 4/4 — — — /1
Independent non-executive BYEHTES
Directors
Dr. Yu Kin Tim AR L 4/4 212 11 i —
Mr. Ho Chi Lam il 5 A e 2 4/4 212 — — —
Mr. Wan Sze Chung i WA 5 A 4/4 22 11 11 —
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board, through Audit Committee, is responsible for performing
the corporate governance functions, which includes developing and
reviewing the Company’s policies, practices on corporate governance,
training and continuous professional development of Directors
and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements etc. During the
year, the Board has reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance.

DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND
DEVELOPMENT

During the year, all Directors had received sufficient and relevant
training and continuous professional development. In doing so, the
Directors have undertaken various forms of activities relevant to
the Company’s businesses, directors’ duties and responsibilities.
The Company held a training for all Directors to provide them with
knowledge on the topics of Director’s duties, Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, Securities and Futures Ordinance and anti-corruption
laws.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of financial statements which give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Group. In preparing the financial statements which
give a true and fair view, it is fundamental that the appropriate
accounting policies are selected and applied consistently. The
reporting responsibilities of the Company’s external auditor on the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group are set out
in the independent auditor’s report on pages 71 to 77 of this annual
report. The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board has overall responsibilities for maintaining sound
and effective risk management and internal control systems and
conducting reviews regularly to safeguard Shareholders’ investment
and the Group’s assets.

In recent years, there has been increasing recognition of the
importance of considering ESG factors in risk management.
ESG-related risks can have significant impacts on a company’s
financial performance, reputation, and ability to operate. Our risk
management and internal control processes therefore take into
account potential impacts of environmental, social, and governance
factors on the Group’s operations, reputation, and financial
performance.

Our systems of risk management and internal control include a
defined management structure with appropriate limits of authority.
They are designed to safeguard its assets against unauthorised use
or disposition, ensure the maintenance of proper accounting records
for the provision of reliable financial information for internal use or
for publication, and to provide reasonable assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The systems also aim to ensure compliance
with relevant laws and regulations, and to manage — rather than
eliminate — risks of failure in the Group’s operational systems and
in the achievement of the Group’s business objectives. The Group has
a dedicated internal audit function which reviews the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems from time to
time to ensure that they meet with the dynamic and ever-changing
business environment.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Wang Yu was appointed as the Company Secretary of the
Company on 28 May 2021. During the year, the Company Secretary
undertook over 15 hours of professional training to update her skills
and knowledge.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board of Directors of the Company has approved and adopted a
dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) effective from 28 February
2019. The Company endeavours to maintain sufficient working
capital to develop and operate the businesses of the Group and to
provide stable and sustainable returns to the shareholders of the
Company (“Shareholders”). During the year ended 31 December
2023, there has been no change to the Dividend Policy.

In determining the dividend for distribution to Shareholders, the
Board will measure the capital needs in future years based on the
future capital budget plan of the Company and consider factors such
as profitability and financial structure and liquidity of the Company
comprehensively.

The declaration and payment of dividend by the Company is subject
to the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the Company’s
Articles of Association and any other applicable laws, regulations.
The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves
the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend, modify
and/or cancel the Dividend Policy at any time. The Dividend Policy
shall in no way constitute a legally binding commitment by the Group
in respect of its future dividend and in no way obligate the Group to
declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Ernst & Young is the external independent auditor of the Company.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the total fees paid/payable,
excluding disbursements, in respect of audit and non-audit services
provided by the Group’s external auditors are approximately as
below:
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AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 was audited by Ernst & Young.

There has been no change of auditors for the preceding 3 years.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association of the Company
(the “Articles”), one or more Shareholders holding not less than 5%
of the Company’s paid up capital having the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company at the date of deposit of the requisition,
can, by depositing a written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary, require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by
the Board for the transaction of any businesses specified in such
requisition and put forward proposals; and such meeting shall be held
within two months after the deposit of such requisition.

Unless notice in writing of the intention to propose that person for
election as a Director by any Shareholder(s) and notice in writing by
that person of his willingness to be elected' have been lodged to the
Board or the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of
businesses? at least 7 days before the date of the general meeting, no
person, other than a retiring Director, shall be eligible for election to
the office of Director at any general meeting except as recommended
by the Board for election.

Any Shareholder(s) of the Company who wish to raise an enquiry
concerning the Company to the Board may deliver the enquiry
in written form to the Company’s principal place of businesses
mentioned above (or at any address notified by the Company from
time to time) and for the attention of the Chairman of the Board or
the Company Secretary. Upon receipt of the enquiry, the Company
would reply as soon as possible.

INVESTOR RELATIONSHIPS AND
COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company values communication with its Shareholders and
investors. There are a number of formal communication channels
which the Company uses to report and account to Shareholders and
investors for the performance of the Company. These include (i) the
publication of interim and annual reports; (ii) the annual general
meeting or extraordinary general meetings, which provide a forum
for Shareholders to raise comments and exchanging views with
the Board; (iii) updates of key information of the Group that are
made available to Shareholders and investors through the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company; (iv) the Company’s
website providing dedicated contact details to facilitate direct
communications between the Company and its Shareholders and
investors; and (v) the Company’s share registrars in Hong Kong,
which serve Shareholders in respect of all share registration matters.
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F 7 7 i JUHE 75 B 38 AR 79398 BE W T3 K ESHEBE

36 Plover Bay Technologies Limited 2023 Annual Report



The Company aims to provide its Shareholders and investors with
high standards of disclosure and financial transparency. The Board
is committed to providing clear, detailed and timely information
that concerns the Group to Shareholders and on a regular basis.
This is achieved through our interim and annual reports, investor
presentations as well as circulars, notices and other announcements.

Apart from formal communication channels mentioned-above,
the Company also publishes press releases and newsletters which
Shareholders can subscribe to for the Company’s latest updates. To
facilitate investors’ understanding of our business, the Company
organises roadshows and site visits to our offices and showroom
for investors, and invites investors to trade shows which the
Company participates in. The Company is also eager to maintain
dialogues with the investor community. In this regard, the Company
participated in a number of investment forums and engaged in
numerous exchanges with business analysts and fund management
companies through various means.

The Board regularly reviews our existing channels of communication
with Shareholders and investors to make sure that they remain
effective and provides recommendations for improvements when
needed. The Board considers our current practices were all
well-implemented throughout the year and achieved satisfactory
results.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Upon the Shareholders’ approval by way of a special resolution
at the 2022 Annual General Meeting (held on 22 April 2022), the
Company has adopted the Amended and Restated Memorandum
and the Amended and Restated Articles of Association. Details
of the changes made in both of the documents can be found in
the Shareholders’ Circular dated 17 March 2022. An up-to-date
consolidated version of the Company’s Memorandum and Articles
of Association has been posted on both the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

EENGREEEBE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR

MANAGERS

Mr. Chan Wing Hong Alex (FR7K B) (“Mr. Chan”), aged 56, is
our executive Director and Chairman, and the founder of our Group.
Mr. Chan was appointed as Director on 5 May 2015 and designated
as executive Director and Chairman of the Board on 27 November
2015. Mr. Chan has over 30 years of experience in electronic
engineering and information technology industry. He is responsible
for formulating overall strategies, planning and business development
of our Group.

Mr. Chan received a Higher Certificate in Electronic Engineering
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently known as The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University) in November 1988, and obtained an
Executive Master of Business Administration degree at The Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology in May 2004.

Mr. Chau Kit Wai ( J8 % 2 ) (“Mr. Chau”), aged 49, is our
executive Director, Chief Executive Officer and General Manager,
who joined our Group in October 2007. Mr. Chau was appointed as
Director on 27 November 2015 and designated as executive Director
on 27 November 2015. Since 16 March 2015, Mr. Chau has been a
Director of Pismo Research (Malaysia) SDN. BHD.. Mr. Chau has
over 20 years of experience in sales and marketing in information
technology industry. Mr. Chau joined our Group in October 2007
as a manager of product management and marketing, and was then
promoted to general manager in April 2008. He is responsible for
product development, and managing and implementing sales and
marketing strategies of our Group.

Mr. Chau graduated with a Bachelor of Science degree from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 1996, and obtained
a master degree in Business Administration at The Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology in November 2006.

Mr. Chong Ming Pui (3EBAiii) (“Mr. Chong”), aged 46, is our
executive Director and Director of Hardware Engineering. Mr.
Chong was appointed as executive Director on 27 November 2015.
Mr. Chong has over 15 years experience in hardware products
developments. He is responsible for overall management of hardware
development and purchasing and production of our Group. In January
2007, Mr. Chong joined our Group as a Product Development
Manager and then was promoted to Director of Hardware
Engineering in February 2011.

Mr. Chong graduated with a Bachelor of Engineering degree in
Electrical Energy Systems Engineering in November 2000 and
obtained a master of Science Degree in Engineering (Communication
Engineering) in December 2004 from the University of Hong Kong.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Yeung Yu (5 Hi) (“Mr. Yeung”), aged 48, is our executive
Director and Director of Software Engineering. Mr. Yeung was
appointed as executive Director on 27 November 2015. Mr. Yeung
has over 20 years experience in software development industry. He
is responsible for overall management of software development and
quality assurance of our Group. In January 2007, Mr. Yeung joined
our Group as a lead engineer of product development department and
then was promoted to Director of Software Engineering in February
2011.

Mr. Yeung graduated with a Bachelor of Science degree in Electrical
and Computer Engineering from the Ohio State University in March
2000.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE

DIRECTORS

Dr. Yu Kin Tim (& i) (“Dr. Yu”), aged 66, was appointed as
our independent non-executive Director on 21 June 2016. Dr. Yu is
currently a director of Brighton Energy Hong Kong Ltd, a company
that operates manufacturing facility for casting, forging, machining,
fabricating and finishing the large steel components required for
nuclear and conventional power generation, for petrochemical and
coal liquefaction pressure vessels, and for other heavy industry uses.
From May 2004 to October 2006, Dr. Yu became the managing
director for North Asia of Allied Telesyn Hong Kong Limited,
a provider of secure IP and Ethernet access solutions, and from
November 2006 to May 2008 he served as the managing director
of Blue Coat Systems HK Limited, a company provides services
of business applications, network infrastructure and information
technology solutions. He subsequently worked as a senior manager,
channel and alliance in SAP Hong Kong Co. Limited, an enterprise
application software provider with its headquarters in Germany, from
July 2008 to May 2009. From June 2009 to January 2010 and from
February 2010 to December 2014, Dr. Yu was general manager of
engineering service group and the president of Brighton Equipment
Corporation Limited, respectively, a company that provides pre-sale
support, installation and after-sale support.

Dr. Yu received a higher diploma from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
(currently known as The Hong Kong Polytechnic University)
in November 1981. He then obtained a Master of Business
Administration degree and a doctorate degree in Business
Administration from The University of South Australia in December
1997 and December 2001, respectively.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management
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Mr. Ho Chi Lam ({1 7% §) (“Mr. Ho”), aged 65, was appointed as
our independent non-executive Director on 21 June 2016. Mr. Ho was
employed by Cable & Wireless HKT Limited, a company listed on
the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) (stock code: 00008) (which was acquired by and
merged to Pacific Century Cyberworks in 2000 and was renamed to
PCCW-HKT Limited), a provider of telecommunications services
in Hong Kong, from August 1980 to February 2000, and his last
position was group manager, corporate planning and development
department. He then joined SUNeVision Holdings Limited, a
company originally listed on the growth enterprise market of the
Stock Exchange which was subsequently transferred to the main
board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 01686) on 22 January 2018,
and provides services such as carrier-neutral data centre services,
installation and maintenance of satellite distribution network,
fibre-optic cable, networking and security surveillance systems, and
consultancy service for wireless and broadband network projects, as a
chief technology officer during its initial public offering in 2000 and
appointed as an executive director in June 2000, and resigned from
the same position in February 2001. Mr. Ho joined The Hong Kong
and China Gas Company Limited, a company listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 00003), an energy supplier
in Hong Kong, as a strategic programme manager of information
technology department from August 2002 to October 2003. He later
joined United Luminous International (Holdings) Limited, a company
designs and manufactures sealed LED which are used for full colour
video screens, information signs, traffic signals, automotive lighting,
LED Backlights for LCD TV and specialty lighting, as a director
of operation from June 2007 to February 2009. Mr. Ho has been a
general manager of The Institute of Network Coding of The Chinese
University of Hong Kong from April 2010 to March 2018.

Mr. Ho obtained a Higher Diploma in Electronic Engineering from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently known as The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University) in November 1978, a Bachelor of Science
degree in Engineering in November 1980 and Master of Science
degree in Engineering in November 1988 from The University of
Hong Kong, and also completed extramural studies on a diploma
course in Business Management from The Chinese University of
Hong Kong in January 1986. He was admitted as a member and has
become a fellow member of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers
since March 1986 and June 1996, respectively.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Wan Sze Chung (it B &) (“Mr. Wan”), aged 49, was appointed
as our independent non-executive Director on 21 June 2016. Mr. Wan is
currently a director in Jacob Walery Limited, a company specialising
in providing corporate consultancy and training, a position Mr. Wan
has held since 1 March 2007, and an independent non-executive
director of E.Bon Holdings Limited, a company listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 00599), since 27 September
2004 which is principally engaged in the supply of architectural
hardware, bathroom, kitchen collection and designer furniture in
Hong Kong. He also holds certain workshops at the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

Mr. Wan graduated with a Bachelor degree of Arts in Accountancy
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November 1997
and a Master of Business Administration degree from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong in December 2002. He then obtained a
Bachelor of Law from Tsinghua University in January 2006, a Master
of Education degree from University of Newcastle upon Tyne, in
July 2006, and a Graduate Diploma in Management Research from
University of South Australia in August 2008. Mr. Wan is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants since
April 2002 and April 2007, respectively. He is also a fellow of the
Hong Kong Institute of Directors and an associate member of the
Chartered Institute of Arbitrators since July 2012 and February 2003,
respectively.
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Report of the Directors

EETERE

The Board submits the Directors’ Report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an holding company. The principal activities of
its subsidiaries are the designing, development and marketing of
SD-WAN routers and provision of software licences and warranty
and support services. The principal activities of the subsidiaries
of the Company are set out in note 1 to the audited consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year is included in the
Chairman’s Statement on pages 4 to 7 and Management Discussion
and Analysis on pages 10 to 21 of this annual report. We monitor
core net profit, which is not a standard measure under Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, to provide additional information about
our business performance. Core net profit represents our profit for the
year attributable to owners of the Company before listing expenses
and equity-settled share-based payment expenses.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 76 of this annual report.

An interim dividend of HK7.01 cents (2022: HK5.90 cents) per
ordinary share was paid on 22 August 2023.

The Board has resolved to declare a second interim dividend of
HK10.94 cents per share and a special dividend of HK1.42 cents per
share for the year ended 31 December 2023, in the aggregate amount
of approximately US$17,456,000. The Dividends will be paid on 28
March 2024 to shareholders on the register of members on 15 March
2024.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities and
equity of the Group for each of the five years ended 31 December
2023 is set out on pages 8 to 9 of this annual report. This summary
does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company at 31 December 2023,
calculated under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised), of the Cayman Islands, amounted to
approximately US$24,620,000 (2022: US$24,813,000).
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share
options during the year are set out in notes 24 and 25 to the audited
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed
or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended
31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual report
were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Chan Wing Hong Alex (Chairman)
Mr. Chau Kit Wai

Mr. Chong Ming Pui

Mr. Yeung Yu

Independent non-executive Directors:
Dr. Yu Kin Tim

Mr. Ho Chi Lam

Mr. Wan Sze Chung

In accordance with articles 108 and 109 of the articles of
association of the Company, Mr. Yeung Yu and Mr. Chong Ming
Pui, being executive Directors and Dr. Yu Kin Tim as independent
non-executive Director, will retire and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considered
all of the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Company are set out on pages 38 to 41 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with any
member of the Group which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Company’s Board
of Directors with reference to directors’ duties, responsibilities and
performance and the results of the Group. In addition, the directors’
remuneration is reviewed by the Remuneration Committee annually.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save for transactions disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, no
transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation
to the Group’s businesses to which the Company or its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director or controlling shareholders of the
Company and the Director’s connected party had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the businesses of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

At 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)), as recorded in the register required
to be kept under to section 352 of the SFO, or as notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were
as follows:

Long positions in shares and underlying shares:
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%
Chan Wing Hong Alex Through controlled 756,000,000 — 68.7
corporation (note)
R 7K B 75 38 1 i 52 ) (B AT
Chau Kit Wai Beneficial owner 6,000,000 — 0.5
JE A B B a7 A A
Chong Ming Pui Beneficial owner 6,000,000 — 0.5
S B i B a7 A A
Yeung Yu Beneficial owner 6,000,000 — 0.5
B Hir B a7 A N
774,000,000 — 70.2
Note: Vi

The 756,000,000 shares of the Company are held by Namlong Development Limited, a

company beneficially owned by Mr. Chan Wing Hong Alex.

7 2 7]756,000,000 % i 3 i Namlong Development
Limited (B 7K B 5626 TT 48 #E A 19 A R 354 -
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Save as disclosed above, as of the date of this annual report, so far as
is known to any Director or chief executives of the Company, none of
the Directors or chief executives of the Company had any interest or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which were (i) required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO; or (ii) required to be recorded in the register
kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO; or (iii)
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code. Details of the Director’s interests in the share
options granted by the Company are set out below under the heading
“Share Option Scheme”.

ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme”
below, at no time during the year ended 31 December 2023 was
the Group a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors,
supervisors or chief executives of the Company, to acquire benefits
by means of acquisition of shares in, or debt securities (including
debentures) of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME B Rt 8

A share option scheme was conditionally adopted by the Company on i it H#E 5t | % 74 /4 &) jA 2016 F6 H21H A
21 June 2016, and became effective on the Listing Date (the “Share & FER AN - H i L7 H A A= %50 (B % B 51
Option Scheme”). Details of movements of the share options granted & ]) o A B# £ 2023F 12 H31HIEFE »
under the Share Option Scheme for the year ended 31 December 2023 $5 i I ¥ 51 31 52t 119 5 J0 B 2% ) 2 B 1
are as follows: I

Movement of share options during the year

AEERRESD
Exercise At At 31
Date of price per 1 January Lapsed/ December
grant share (HK$) Exercise period 2023 Granted Exercised  Forfeited cancelled 2023
B
e 20235 BRR/ R2023F
tidil=p - (% 7) Wt 1A1H ERi BT E EH:L¢ Z8#  12A31A
Director
s
Mr. Chan Wing Hong Alex ~ 20/7/2016 0.483  20/7/2017-19/7/2021 (1&2) — — — — — —
WK e e A
Mr. Chau Kit Wai 201712016 0.483  20/7/2017-19/7/2021 2) — — — — — —
LIS $itis
Mr. Chong Ming Pui 201712016 0.483  20/7/2017-19/7/2021 2 — — — — — —
AT 5
Mr. Yeung Yu 201712016 0.483  20/7/2017-19/7/2021 2) — — — — — —
B
Consultants 14/3/2018 1934 14/3/2019-13/3/2023 (3& 1) 2,000,000 — (600,000 — (1,400,000 —
B 14/912018 102 14/9/2019-13/9/2023 (4 &11) 1,125,000 — (505,000 — (620,000 —
10/5/2019 118 10/5/2021-9/5/2024 (5&I11) 52,000 — (48,000) — — 4,000
1716/2022 2,988 17/6/12024-16/6/2027 ) 800,000 — — (100,000 — 700,000
Employees 14/312018 1934 14/3/2019-13/3/2023 (3&12) 1,238,000 — (299,000)  (100,000)  (839,000) —
&8 14/9/2018 1.02  14/9/2019-13/9/2023 4 &12) 523,000 — (457,000 — (66,000) —
10/5/2019 118 10/5/2021-9/5/2024 (5&12) 1,033,000 —  (613,000) (150,000 — 270,000
31/12/2019 112 31/12/2021-30/12/2024 (6 & 12) 354,000 — (123,000 (28,000) — 203,000
14/12/2020 0922 14/12/2022-13/122025 (7 & 12) 904,000 —  (326,000)  (300,000) — 278,000
9/11/2021 297  9/11/2023-8/11/2026 ®) 2,900,000 — — (700,000 — 2,200,000
171612022 2,988 17/6/12024-16/6/2027 9) 6,000,000 — — (1,100,000 — 4,900,000
11/12/2023 199 11/12/2025-10/12/2028 (10) — 3,300,000 — — — 3,300,000
Total: 16,929,000 3,300,000 (2,971,000) (2,478,000) (2,925,000) 11,855,000
ft:
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Notes:

10.

48

Mr. Chan Wing Hong Alex is also the beneficial controlling shareholder of the
Company.

For all share options granted on 20 July 2016, the first 25% of the total options
can be exercised 1 year after the date of grant, and each 25% of the total options
will become exercisable in each subsequent year. The closing price of the share
immediately before the date on which the options were granted was HK$0.46
per share.

For the 13,500,000 share options granted on 14 March 2018, 25% of the
9,900,000 options can be exercised 1 year after the date of grant, and 25%
will become exercisable in each subsequent year. For the remaining 3,600,000
options, 50% can be exercised 2 years after the date of grant, and 25% will
become exercisable in each subsequent year. The closing price of the share
immediately before the date on which the options were granted was HK$1.90
per share.

For the 12,264,000 share options granted on 14 September 2018, 25% of
10,864,000 options can be exercised 1 year after the date of grant, and 25%
will become exercisable in each subsequent year. For the remaining 1,400,000
options, 50% can be exercised 2 years after the date of grant, and 25% will
become exercisable in each subsequent year. The closing price of the share
immediately before the date on which the options were granted was HK$0.93
per share.

For all share options granted on 10 May 2019, the first 50% of the total options
can be exercised 2 years after the date of grant, and a further 25% of the total
options will become exercisable in each subsequent year. The closing price of
the share immediately before the date on which the options were granted was
HKS$1.12 per share.

For all share options granted on 31 December 2019, the first 50% of the total
options can be exercised 2 years after the date of grant, and a further 25% of the
total options will become exercisable in each subsequent year. The closing price
of the share immediately before the date on which the options were granted was
HKS$1.10 per share.

For all share options granted on 14 December 2020, the first 50% of the total
options can be exercised 2 years after the date of grant, and a further 25% of the
total options will become exercisable in each subsequent year. The closing price
of the share immediately before the date on which the options were granted was
HK$0.92 per share.

For all share options granted on 9 November 2021, the first 50% of the total
options can be exercised 2 years after the date of grant, and a further 25% of the
total options will become exercisable in each subsequent year. The closing price
of the share immediately before the date on which the options were granted was
HK$2.77 per share.

For all share options granted on 17 June 2022, the first 50% of the total options
can be exercised 2 years after the date of grant, and a further 25% of the total
options will become exercisable in each subsequent year. The closing price of
the share immediately before the date on which the options were granted was
HK$2.96 per share.

For all share options granted on 11 December 2023, the first 50% of the total
options can be exercised 2 years after the date of grant, and a further 25% of the
total options will become exercisable in each subsequent year. The closing price
of the share immediately before the date on which the options were granted was
HK$2.00 per share.
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11. The weighted average closing share price immediately before the dates on
which the options were exercised by consultants was HK$2.51 per share.

12.  The weighted average closing share price immediately before the dates on
which the options were exercised by employees was HK$2.38 per share.

Further details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 25 to
the audited consolidated financial statements.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

Other than as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Directors’ and chief
executives’ interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares
and debentures” above, the Directors have not been notified by any
person (other than the Directors or chief executives of the Company)
who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares
which shall be disclosed to the Company pursuant to the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the
register required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

Mr. Chan Wing Hong Alex (the “Covenantor”) has confirmed with
the Company of his compliance with the terms of the Deed of
Non-Competition during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Our independent non-executive Directors have reviewed compliance
of the Deed of Non-Competition and were satisfied that the terms
had been duly complied with and enforced during the year ended 31
December 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, in so far as the Directors were aware, none
of the Directors or their respective associates had any interest in a
business that competed or was likely to compete with the business of
the Group.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s five largest
customers in aggregate accounted for approximately 53.5% of
the Group’s total revenue (2022: 53.9%) and the largest customer
accounted for approximately 17.1% of the Group’s total revenue
(2022: 19.3%).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s five largest
suppliers in aggregate accounted for approximately 61.6% of the
Group’s total purchase (2022: 61.9%) and the largest supplier
accounted for approximately 22.2% of the Group’s total purchase
(2022: 21.2%).

To the best of the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors,
their associates or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an
interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The significant related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2023 set out in note 30 to the
audited consolidated financial statements.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company had the
following connected transactions, certain details of which are
disclosed in compliance with the requirements of Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

On 7 January 2022, Pegatrack Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company as tenant, has entered into tenancy
agreements with Ultra Land Limited (“ULL”) and Ultra Prosper
Limited (“UPL”) as landlords for a term of one year and ten months
commencing from 1 March 2022 and expiring on 31 December 2023
for total rental amount of HK$382,680 and HK$349,089 respectively.
ULL and UPL became wholly owned by Mr. Chan Wing Hong Alex
(“Mr. Chan”), an executive Director and the beneficial controlling
shareholder of the Company upon completion of the sales and
purchase agreements between Protean Holdings Limited and Mr.
Chan on 24 February 2022. Please refer to the announcement dated
10 December 2021 of the Company for details.

On 12 April 2022, Pegatrack Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company as tenant, has entered into a new tenancy
agreement with Winning Castle Limited as landlord, which is
beneficially owned by Mr. Chan, an executive Director and the
beneficial controlling shareholder of the Company, for a term of
around one year and nine months commencing from 12 April 2022
and expiring on 31 December 2023 (both days inclusive) for total
rental amount of HK$2,876,880. Please refer to the announcement
dated 12 April 2022 of the Company for details.
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CONNECTED CONTINUING
TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has not entered
into any transactions which need to be disclosed as continuing
connected transactions pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules from the Listing
Date and up to the date of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 22 to 37 of
this annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, every Director for
the time being of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out
of assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or
sustained by him as a Director about the execution of the duties of his
office or otherwise in relation thereto, provided that such indemnity
shall not extend to any matter in respect of fraud or dishonesty which
may attach to the Director.

The Company has taken out and maintained appropriate Directors’
liability insurance coverage for the Directors.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”,
no equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year ended 31 December 2023.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There are no material subsequent events undertaken by the Company
or by the Group after 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this
annual report.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for the reappointment as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Chan Wing Hong Alex
Chairman

Hong Kong
29 February 2024
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

OVERVIEW

The Board of Directors of Plover Bay Technologies Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group” or “we”
is pleased to present this Environmental, Social and Governance
(“ESG”) Report. The ESG report elaborates on the various work
of the Group in fully implementing the principle of sustainable
development and its performance of environmental, social and
governance from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 (the “year”).
For information on our corporate governance, please refer to the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 22 to 37 of this annual
report.

ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Board perceives that sustainable growth is key to the Group’s
long-term success. Together with our employees, investors,
shareholders, customers, business partners, suppliers and contract
manufacturers, we hope to continue to enrich people’s lives by
providing supercharged connectivity in the global communications
market in a responsible manner. The Group considers ESG as part
of its principal duties and strives to embed ESG considerations
into daily operations and management. The Board holds the overall
responsibility on the ESG issues and oversees the relevant strategies,
direction and policies. The Board discusses and reviews the risks and
opportunities, performance, progress, goals and targets regularly to
monitor the ESG performance, related issues and potential risks.

The Group’s businesses and functional departments also help to
formulate relevant strategies in their respective areas and monitor
the effectiveness of the implementation in accordance with the
sustainable development strategies and objectives suggested by
the Board. Meetings are also arranged regularly to evaluate the
effectiveness of current policies and procedures and develop
appropriate solutions to improve the overall performance of ESG
policies.

SCOPE OF ESG REPORT

This ESG report presents the Group’s sustainability approach and the
performance in the environmental, social and governance aspects of
its businesses, covering its activities which are considered as material
by the Group from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023.

Unless otherwise specified, this report covers the Group’s principal
operation in Hong Kong only.
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REPORTING GUIDELINES

This ESG report is prepared in accordance with the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide” (“ESG Reporting Guide”)
as set out in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange.
This report also follows the four reporting principles listed in the
HKEX ESG Reporting Guide, including materiality, quantitative,
balance and consistency for report disclosure.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group values the views of our stakeholders, including not
only employees, management and Directors, but also investors,
shareholders, customers, business partners, suppliers, contract
manufacturers and communities. We communicate with our
stakeholders on an ongoing basis through communication channels
such as online community forum, interim and annual reports,
surveys, regular dialogue and meetings.

The table below sets out our main communication channels with
these stakeholders:

Stakeholder
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Communication Channel

Employees
& 8

Investors and shareholders

Daily communication and performance appraisal

H Wl M R BLAT A

Interviews, meetings, annual general meeting, earnings reports,

announcements and company website
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Customers and business partners
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Social media, online community forum, company website, regular

meetings, email and phone communications
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Suppliers and contract manufacturers
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Regular meetings, performance evaluation and site visits
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Sponsorships, donations and employee participation
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MATERIALITY ANALYSIS

In 2017, we commissioned an independent third-party consultant to
assist the Group in conducting a materiality analysis in a fair and
equitable way. Our materiality assessment was implemented with
three main phases. We started by identifying each of the material
issues in respect of environment, society and governance that might
affect our businesses or stakeholders. Then, through a questionnaire
carried out by the consultant, views and expectations of stakeholders
on the Group’s disclosure of ESG issues were understood, and
potential material issues were identified and prioritised accordingly.
Upon reviewing the result of the survey, the Group identified five
most material ESG issues and disclosed relevant information in the
corresponding sections.

The data collected from the materiality assessment formed the
basis for the Group to map out long-term strategies for sustainable
development. The Group continues to assess the relevance of the
ESG framework by frequently communicating with its stakeholders
through the means outlined above. During 2023, we had an internal
review to revisit the relevance of these material issues identified, and
we determined that the key material aspects identified in 2017 are
still highly relevant to our ESG framework in the year of 2023.

Material Issue Corresponding Section
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ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group is committed to
protecting natural resources and the global environment. We comply
with laws and regulations related to environmental protection and our
commitment to emission reduction, energy and resource conservation
encompasses every aspect of our operations. In light of our business
nature, the Group’s operations do not generate massive air, water
or land pollution, nor do they raise any significant environmental
concerns.

During the year, the Group continued to make improvements in
resource intensity in Energy Conservation, Water Management, Use
of Packaging Materials, Waste Management, Climate Change and
Green Operations.

Energy Conservation

Energy consumed during the Group’s office and warehouse
operations is electricity. The Group recognises the importance of
maintaining environmental sustainability in its daily operations.
As part of the Group’s initiatives to reduce energy consumption,
we set up a programme to automatically switch off lights and air
conditioners in the conference rooms after office hours and divide
the office area into different zones using independent lighting
switches. Meanwhile, a series of measures are taken to enhance
energy efficiency, such as encouraging employees to dress in casual
attire in the office, adopting energy-efficient equipment and regular
cleaning for light fixtures and air conditioners. During the year, the
Group’s energy consumption totaled 419 MWh, which was 0.09 MWh
for each square metre of the floor area on average. Energy use is not
a material issue in relation to the Group’s businesses, therefore no
energy use efficiency targets are in place during the reporting year.

Water Management

Water is a precious natural resource. Everyone shares the universal
responsibility to promote sustainable use of water resources on the
Earth. Our business operations generate mainly domestic sewage.
During the year, there was no issue in sourcing water in the Group’s
operations. This year, total water consumption of the Group was 488
cubic meters, which was 0.11 cubic metres for each square metre of
the floor area on average. We encourage employees to conserve the
use of water resources. Water consumption is not a material issue
in relation to the Group’s businesses, therefore no water efficiency
targets are in place during the reporting year.
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ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Use of Packaging Material

The Group is committed to reduce the use of packaging material
to minimise the impact on environment and natural resources. We
reused packaging materials for products after repair or replacement
products. During the year, packaging materials used by the Group
were mainly cardboard paper and plastic, and the usage amounts
were 36,579 kg and 3,349 kg respectively. The weight of packaging
material used per thousand US dollars of revenue was 0.42 kg.
During the year, a total of 2,600 kg of cardboard paper was recycled.

Waste Management

Since the Group’s businesses do not involve manufacturing activities,
solid waste is mainly generated in daily office and warehouse
operations without generation of hazardous waste. We have adopted
the “3Rs” principle, “Reduce, Reuse and Recycle”, as our waste
management strategy. We implement the policy of double-sided
printing and copying, and disseminating information by electronic
means whenever possible to reduce paper consumption. To further
reduce our paper consumption, Office Automation (“OA”) system is
applied to substitute the traditional paper-based office administration
system. We also reduce the use of paper by distributing newsletters
electronically through our online community forum, emails, and
regular updates on our website rather than using paper marketing
materials. Our employees are encouraged to use reusable products
instead of non-refillable stationeries and office supplies. The waste
paper and waste iron casing are recycled and transferred to qualified
recycling companies. We also carry out stock checking regularly to
prevent overstock.

After the implementation of the above measures, non-hazardous
waste generated (including general waste, metal and paper) in the
year amounted to 12.9 tonnes in total, which is 0.14 kg per thousand
US dollars of revenue. The following table shows the non-hazardous
waste generated by the Group during the year ended 31 December
2023:
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ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT (continuea)

Non-hazardous Waste generated by the Group during the
year

REEE
AEBARFEAMEEZEEEY

Non-hazardous Waste Generated (tonne)

FFTEEZESEY(QH)

Total Amount Sent Recycled

Amount to Landfill Amount

Waste type % ¥ 38 7 HE XZHEEE EE-

General waste —BEY 59 59 —

Metal & & 3.2 — 3.2

Paper I 3.8 — 3.8
Sum of Non-hazardous Waste B A 5% ) A

Generated 12.9 59 7.0

Waste management is not considered as material in relation to the
Group’s businesses, therefore no reduction targets are in place during
the reporting year.

Climate Change

Climate change has been a worldwide growing issue in recent
years. Climate change poses potential physical and transition risks
to the Group’s businesses. Extreme weather conditions such as
rainstorms, floods and typhoons may affect our business operations
while transition risk may result from the change in environmental-
related regulations. We consulted the “Code of Practice in Times
of Typhoons and Rainstorms” published by the Labour Department
of the HKSAR Government to make special work arrangements to
protect our employees in case of extreme weather conditions. As for
the potential transition risk, the Group continues to monitor climate-
related risks regularly and implement relevant measures to minimise
the potential impact of climate change. Currently, it is expected that
potential extreme weather conditions and change in environmental-
related regulations do not directly impose material threat to the
Group’s operations.

As the Group does not own any manufacturing sites, we work closely

with our contract manufacturers and raw material suppliers to ensure
that they are also environmentally-conscious and sustainable.
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ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Green Operations

Emissions of greenhouse gases (“GHG”) by the Group are mainly
contributed by the consumption of electricity and outsourced logistics
activities. Apart from the many initiatives mentioned in “Energy
Conservation” above, we employ multiple ways to reduce GHG
emission. In terms of transportation, phone and virtual conferences
are held where possible to minimise overseas business travel while
direct flights are chosen to reduce carbon emission caused by any
inevitable business travel. We have also chosen logistics companies
with proven track records on sustainable development to reduce our
GHG emission.

During the year, the GHG emission for the operation was 500 tons,
while 18 tons GHG emission was avoided by recycling of paper.
Thus, the net GHG emission in total was 482 tons, which means
average GHG emission from each square metre of total floor area was
0.10 ton. GHG emissions are not considered as material in relation
to the Group’s businesses, therefore no reduction targets are in place
during the reporting year.

ESTABLISHMENT OF AN EXCELLENT
TEAM

The Group believes that employees are our valuable asset. The
Group firmly upholds the principle of treating each employee fairly
and consistently in all matters and enforces its employment policies
in accordance with the regulations of the Employment Ordinance.
During the year, we continued to strictly comply with laws and
regulations relating to employment and occupational health and
safety. To attract and retain the best talent, we offer a comprehensive
range of benefits, training and development opportunities, as well as
a conducive and engaging working environment free of safety and
health hazards.

Employment

Effective recruitment process is one of the critical factors of
successful talent management.

The Group does not tolerate any use of child or forced labour. Our
recruitment process consists of age and identity verification to avoid
child labour. Prior to commencement of employment, employees are
provided with key information, such as job duties and working hours
of the position concerned, and the employment conditions are in
line with the terms in the employment contract to prevent any forced
labour.
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ESTABLISHMENT OF AN EXCELLENT
TEAM (Continued)

Employment (continued)

As an equal opportunity employer, we are committed to providing
employees with a discrimination-free workplace. Our human
resources policies adhere to the principle of fairness. We hire
employees from diverse backgrounds, regardless of their disability,
gender, family status and race.

As at 31 December 2023, the total number of employees of the Group
is 177.

Gender diversity

The Group operates in the information and communications
technology industry which traditionally had a high concentration of
male employees in the talent pool. According to statistics provided
by the HKSAR Census and Statistics Department, the female ratio in
the industry (defined as the percentage of female employees within
the total number of employees) was 31% in 2023. As at 31 December
2023, the Group’s overall female ratio and the female ratio among
employees located in Hong Kong was 35% and 36% respectively.

The Group has taken and continues to take steps to promote gender
diversity at all levels. These include creating a female-friendly
environment and culture at the workplace, zero-tolerance policy
towards harassment and discrimination, and embracing family-
friendly policies (e.g. flexible working hours) to allow caregivers with
greater flexibility. The Group will continue to increase the female
ratio in our workforce, and provide equal opportunities for career
development and advancement.

Employee Number of the Group (As at 31 December 2023)

RABFE B
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fEB- 5 et RMECHE R B4t
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SR H > s -~ MR - REARD
B Fii i o

2023412 A31H » AL ER B A8 A177
j\ o

% 5 % Tk

AL E G Ko AR B AT
EREARNAE P BHR B S EED - R
T W o B A T I [ I FT 5 R 1O 4R At 0 g
20234 F AT L HE L] (8 26 5 L MEAR BAS
fié BB H ) £531% - # £20234F12
H31H > 2% 48 [ 5 8 Lo L ) e s R B
B 2 L AR 43 Bl F535% F136% ©

A 4 [ A NI A A PR DU it A A% {1 T
T A A 1R 3 22 el o AL 45 A TAR 35 B
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AEBEEE A (R2023F12A318)

Number % of Total
AE HHEAEEIL
By Gender &= 1% Bl
Male 2R3 115 65%
Female ok 62 35%
Total et 177 100 %
By Age BEHR
Below or equal to 30 300 AT 46 26%
31 to 40 31 E 4058 76 43%
41 to 50 41 E 508 39 22%
Over 50 505% Lk 16 9%
Total et 177 100%
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ESTABLISHMENT OF AN EXCELLENT RAUBFHE R
TEAM (Continued)
Gender diversity (Continued) 3= (AT
By Gender and Geographic Region BB R i E
Male Female Female Ratio
B z i Z Bl
Hong Kong s 68 39 36%
Others H At 47 23 33%
Total et 115 62 35%
Employee Turnover Rate of the Group rEBZEEGEE
% of Total
HEABES L
By Gender & 14 5l
Male B 39%
Female pegica 31%
By Age RER
Below or equal to 30 30% 2 A T 51%
30 to 40 31 E 405 32%
41 to 50 41 %505 26%
Over 50 505% LA L 35%
By Geographic Region Zih &
Hong Kong s 51%
Others oAt 10%
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ESTABLISHMENT OF AN EXCELLENT
TEAM (Continued)

Employee Benefits

The Group recognises the importance of each employee and values
their benefits. Employees’ remuneration package is reviewed at least
annually with reference to the comparable market level, employees’
performance and our financial performance to ensure retention and
attraction of high calibre employees. Apart from basic salary, we
also offer guaranteed and/or performance bonus and share options.
Our share option scheme is open to all of our eligible employees. We
believe that such a share option scheme would keep our employees
motivated and encourage them to grow together with the Group in the
long run.

As a family-friendly employer, we have implemented flexible
working hours since 2010 to accommodate a better balance between
family obligations and work duties of our employees. Since 2020, we
further extend the flexible working hours in response to COVID-19.
Our employees also enjoy different types of leaves, such as annual
leave, maternity leave, paternity leave and special paid leave.
Employee compensation insurance is provided according to the law,
while other entitlements including medical insurance and travel
insurance are also provided. Upon receipt of a letter of resignation,
an exit interview would be arranged to understand the reason for
leaving and to improve the Group’s operations.

To retain our existing talent pool, we provide some of our qualified
employees the flexibility to keep their employment with the Group if
they are relocating. Our flexible working culture ensures that these
employees would stay well-connected virtually with their teams.

Occupational Health and Safety

Work safety is the cornerstone of the sustainable development of the
Group. We seek to create a pleasant and comfortable workplace for
our employees by carrying out preventive and corrective measures.
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ESTABLISHMENT OF AN EXCELLENT
TEAM (Continued)

Occupational Health and Safety (continued)

We provide employees with news and tips regarding occupational
health and safety to raise their awareness on health and safety,
and maintain office equipment regularly. We also procure tools in
response to employees’ feedback to ensure employees can safely
complete their duties. Employees are encouraged to report accidents,
injuries and unsafe equipment or practices to the management so
that we can follow-up and improve promptly. Emergency exits are
well-maintained to ensure accessibility without barriers. Fire drills
are conducted annually to increase the risk awareness of all office
and warehouse employees by familiarising themselves with the
fire escape routes and the use of firefighting equipment. Also, our
employees who are involved in the work of hardware development
and assembly work in accordance with the code of conduct to avoid
accidents and injuries. Every year, the human resources team and the
compliance team will review the code of conduct to ensure that it is
updated and comply with the labour law.

Over the past 3 reporting years (i.e. up to 31 December 2023),
the number of work-related fatalities was zero, while the total
lost working days due to work injury was also zero. The Group is
committed to preventing any work-related injury to its employees,
and has complied with relevant laws and regulations to provide a safe
working environment and protecting employees from occupational
hazards.

In addition, we also provide our employees with adjustable seats,
footrests and footsteps. We install air purifiers in the workplace to
remove harmful particles like allergens, fine dust, and viruses and
strengthen air ventilation. We also regularly change water purifiers in
the office to maintain drinking water safety. Fresh fruits are provided
on a weekly basis to encourage our employees to have a healthy diet.

In the meantime, in order to provide more all-rounded health and
wellness protection to our employees, the coverage of medical
insurance policies has been broadened.

To facilitate work from home arrangements in case of pandemics,
the Group has a network infrastructure in place to support remote
work for all employees. In addition, the workplace was disinfected
regularly and more air purifiers were installed to improve air quality,
and new ventilation systems and automatic doors were installed in
washrooms to reduce the risk of virus transmission. We believe that
employees’ health, safety and well-being comes before work and we
will always seek to create a better working environment for them.
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ESTABLISHMENT OF AN EXCELLENT
TEAM (Continued)

Development and Training

The Group considers employees as the foundation of its achievements
and provides career advancement opportunities to help employees
in reaching their full potentials. In order to establish an excellent
team to accommodate the rapid development of the Group, our
employees are required to receive annual performance evaluations
which thoroughly assess the employees’ attributes, personal ability,
performance and growth at work. Annual appraisal serves not only as
a process to document the performance of our employees, but also a
precious opportunity to assist our employees in outlining their three-
to-five years’ career plans. We believe that two-way communication
is crucial to employee engagement that drives job satisfaction and
productivity and the annual appraisal is an additional platform to
facilitate communication between employees and management.
Our promotion is decided on a fair and open basis and any form
of discrimination is not tolerated. Competent employees will be
considered for internal promotion in recognition of their efforts and
contribution when there is a job vacancy.

To help new employees fit into our culture and get familiar with the
new working environment, on top of an introduction session that
covers topics such as the Group’s background, rules and policies,
we also designed and provided new employees with a half-year
orientation programme. The programme includes introductory
sessions of the Group’s culture and values, sharing sessions from the
Group’s management and experienced employees, and also interactive
sessions that encompass a vast range of personal development topics.
There are also occasional company-wide leisure activities to help new
employees to meet and exchange employees from different functions/
offices, and build up their engagement with the Group.

For appropriate positions, new employees also undergo job-
specific orientations that introduce them to relevant topics such as
professional ethics, basic business protocol, relevant professional
knowledge and skills, operational procedure and production safety
etc. We also encourage and support all employees taking training
courses and workshops that are relevant to their roles internally or at
external organisations to enrich their knowledge and perspective in
discharging their duties.
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ESTABLISHMENT OF AN EXCELLENT
TEAM (Continued)

Development and Training (continued)

Due to the nature of the technology industry, all employees must
regularly keep up to date with latest developments in the Group’s
products and technologies. The Group offers on-the-job training and
certification programmes, namely the Peplink Certified Engineer
(PCE) and Peplink Certified Sales Specialist (PCSS) programmes.
These programmes are designed to solidate knowledge of technical
and marketing aspects of the Group’s products and technological
advancement among employees and channel partners. Within the
Group, all employees engaged in engineering roles and sales and
marketing roles are required to be certified with the PCE and PCSS
respectively. Employees will continue to receive regular updates and
training about the Group’s latest technologies even after their passage
of the programmes.

Training Statistics of Hong Kong Employees
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[Employees receiving training

By Gender % 1 5l
Male B

Female o

By Employment Category ZEEEH
Management & g
Staff BT
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Percentage of
employees trained

ZillREBES

Average training
hours

T4 5 91

71% 7.7
85% 15.6
65% 10.8
78% 10.6

COMMITMENT TO SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS

The Group is committed to maintaining a mutually beneficial good
relationship with our customers and suppliers. To live up to this
commitment, we strive to improve every aspect of our operations to
create greater values for supply chain partners and customers.

Supply Chain Management

Sustainable supply chain is key to our continuous business
development and operations. We focus on stability in the supply
of materials and manage our supply chain in a socially and
environmentally responsible manner. Our major suppliers include
contract manufacturers and raw material suppliers. We interact with
our contract manufacturers and raw material suppliers on a regular
basis to communicate changes in demand and obtain supply chain
intelligence. Regular meetings and performance evaluation are
conducted to ensure local compliance, quality requirements and our
corporate social responsibility requirements are met.
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COMMITMENT TO SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

Supply Chain Management (Continued)

In order to evaluate the performance of potential contract
manufacturers, we visit their respective manufacturing facilities to
assure the production scale and manufacturing capabilities. We also
consider the ISO 14001 Environmental Management System and ISO
9001 Quality Management System Certification accreditations as a
primary factor. Before entering into cooperation with the contract
manufacturers, we order product samples to ensure the quality meets
our requirements. Such practice is being implemented to all contract
manufacturers. After initial engagement, our quality assurance team
continuously evaluates and monitors the performance of the Group’s
contract manufacturers under the supervision of the management.

In order to evaluate the performance of potential raw material
suppliers, we request from the potential suppliers samples of the raw
materials and development kits correspond to the raw materials and
perform quality control tests on the samples to prevent the use of
unqualified materials and to ensure its quality. Such practice is being
implemented to all raw material suppliers. A balanced judgement is
made after considering the suppliers’ reputation, performance, test
result, environmental and social factors. After supplier selection,
our quality assurance team continuously evaluates and monitors
the performance of the Group’s raw material suppliers under the
supervision of the management. We also take the green purchasing
principle into consideration. The usage of material is constantly
evaluated to avoid overstocking and squandering resources.

Number of Suppliers by Geographical Region
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COMMITMENT TO SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

Customer Focus

With the aim to assure the product safety and provide the best
quality products and services that meet and exceed our customers’
expectations, stringent systematic quality controls and assurance
processes are executed at every production stage, from procurement
of components to the post-sale software improvement.

With customers from Hong Kong and other parts of the world, we
strictly comply with the applicable regulations and laws related to
product health and safety, advertising and labelling in the designated
location, such as the Consumer Goods Safety Ordinance, Sale
of Goods Ordinance and Trade Marks Ordinance in Hong Kong
and the Food and Drug Administration’s Regulations and Federal
Communication Regulations in the U.S. and the Communications
and Multimedia (Technical Standards) Regulations 2000 in Malaysia.
Prior to mass production of our products, we develop sample
prototypes and perform quality control tests and functional tests to
ensure that the target specifications are met and the products comply
with the standards or regulations relating to product health and
safety. The golden sample which has passed the specified reliability
test and regulation compliance test would be transferred to our
contract manufacturers for mass production.

Concerning our product safety obligations, the suppliers responsible
for the safety concerned parts are required to be certified with
international safety approval. With product specifications, the test
cases are developed for the Group and the contract manufacturers
to test the hardware and software of our products. This is to ensure
the final hardware products and software version conform to the
product specifications. While our contract manufacturers test each
product and component manufactured, our quality assurance team
also performs tests for final products at random before shipping to
customers.

In order to strengthen customer communications, an online system
is established to collect customer opinion, and thereby, improve
customer satisfaction. Meanwhile, our customers can avail themselves
of various channels to file a complaint regarding our products and
services. Our customer and technical support teams would investigate
customer complaints and map out solutions to cater for customer
demands.
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COMMITMENT TO SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

Customer Focus (Continued)

For individual defective products, customers are allowed to return for
repair and replacement within warranty period. We strive to provide
accurate information on our marketing material and forbid any false,
misleading or inaccurate statement in any form of our marketing
activities. We have numerous moderators who moderate and review
reported problems in forum postings and assess the accuracy of
advice provided by members of our online community platform.
The Group will initiate a recall procedure for a particular batch of
products if any serious defects that could cause harm to customers
or produce legal issues for the Group are detected, given other
alternatives to rectify the defect are exhausted. Such recall procedure
involves risk assessment and issue recall communication (to all
distributors, resellers and other customers). The Group will prepare
and implement a recall action plan necessary for the particular
product. During the year, there were no product recalls due to safety
and health reasons, nor had the Group received any complaints
from customers that had any material adverse impact on the Group’s
brands, businesses and results of operations.

Data Confidentiality

We are fully aware of the importance of our duty in maintaining the
confidentiality of data from customers and business partners under
laws and regulations, such as the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
The Group spared no effort to protect the customer data.

To safeguard the confidentiality of customer data, every new
employee is required to enter into an employment contract which
strictly forbids the disclosure of confidential or proprietary
information outside the Group, either during or after employment,
without the Group’s authorisation. Access to confidential information
or documents is restricted and granted on a need-to-know basis.

At the software level, our developers ensure that the privacy
and personal data being collected, stored and transmitted by our
products are safeguarded. Our SD-WAN routers are supported by
our proprietary SpeedFusion technology, which provides secured
connections by using encryption to transmit confidential data in
a public WAN connection. If our customers have different branch
offices, our Balance series routers can keep the confidential
information transmitted securely across the public internet. Our
technology ensures a highly secured system to protect customers’
privacy. Besides security measures, we respect the choice of our
customers on the use of their information, if they do not want us to
use their information for marketing purposes. As at 31 December
2023, we were not aware of any data breach relating to the
confidentiality provision by our employees.
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COMMITMENT TO SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

Data Confidentiality (continued)

In addition, confidential information shared with our suppliers,
contract manufacturers, distributors, resellers and other customers
are protected by confidentiality agreements. If anyone violates the
terms of using our confidential information, we reserve the right to
take necessary legal action and terminate the agreement.

Intellectual Property Right

As an innovation-driven company with continuous development in
our proprietary technologies, we are devoted to protecting our own
intellectual property rights. Our patent team works closely alongside
our research and development team to develop and maintain our
patent portfolio, and conducts regular research and monitoring to
protect our intellectual properties against infringement. Intellectual
property rights associated with the technological achievements
developed by our employees during the course of their employment
belong to the Group. Over the years, we successfully obtained
numerous patents in various countries around the world.

The Group’s Code of Conduct provides detailed explanations
on how business units can legally and compliantly use the
intellectual property rights of other enterprises and individuals. Our
confidentiality agreements protect us from any infringement of our
intellectual property rights that we share with our suppliers, contract
manufacturers, distributors, resellers, other customers and contract
workers.

Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to observing and upholding high standards
of business integrity, honesty, fairness, impartiality and transparency
in all its business dealings at all times. The Group recognises that
fraud or bribery damages a company’s reputation and undermines
its relationship with its regulator and its clients, business partners
and competitors. The Group therefore strictly prohibits any form
of fraud or bribery, and requires strict compliance with all laws
and regulations relating to fraud or bribery. To this end, the Group
has established mechanisms under its Anti-corruption Policy and
Whistleblowing Policy to facilitate the prevention, deterrence,
detection, reporting and investigation of fraud, bribery or other
improprieties. Under the Whistleblowing Policy, our employees
are encouraged to report any suspected impropriety, misconduct or
malpractice through our confidential reporting mechanism.

The Board is accountable for the implementation of the Group’s
anti-corruption efforts and Whistleblowing Policy. These policies
are reviewed by the Board from time to time and revisions may be
commissioned to ensure that they will meet the up-to-date standards.
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COMMITMENT TO SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

Anti-corruption (continued)

Apart from the above, the Directors also attend training about
compliance of various rules and regulations, including anti-
corruption, every year. Training is also provided to employees from
time to time. As new employees sign their employment contracts
with the Group, they are asked to acknowledge and comply with the
Code of Conduct of the Group and rules and regulations including the
Anti-corruption Policy.

We keep a close tab on various expenses to deter corruption and
malpractice. Prior to the commencement of business relations with
suppliers and business partners, we conduct assessment on their
qualification, reputation and financial strength to guard ourselves
against the involvement of money-laundering activities or corruptive
practices. As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not receive any
complaint or report of non-compliance, nor any case of corruption or
bribery committed by our employees.

Community Investment

Apart from our pursuit of business development, the Group spared
no efforts in making commitment to the local community and
our industry. During the year, we donated routers to the Health
Ministry of Guyana to support their telemedicine program in rural
communities. In order to nourish an innovative environment and stay
ahead of the latest trends and developments in the industry, an online
community forum is established for everyone to seek information
and share knowledge about our industry. Any person may obtain
free membership of our online community forum. In addition to
the online community forum, our distributors are invited to attend
exhibitions and events in order to share our industry knowledge.
As an enterprise with strong social conscience, we will continue to
step up our philanthropic effort and drive employee involvement in
serving the community and constructing an innovative society.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

EY::

To the shareholders of Plover Bay Technologies Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with Iimited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Plover
Bay Technologies Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 78 to 175, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.
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Key audit matters (coninued)

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the

accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EANEFNMEEZRAREEANSE

Revenue from contracts with customers containing multiple performance obligations

BEFEHNUA(BEZRBEHNER)

During the year, the Group entered into certain contracts
with customers to sell its software-defined wide area
network routers and related services containing multiple
performance obligations. For these revenue contracts,
significant management judgements and estimates
are required to determine the appropriate accounting,
including the allocation of transaction prices among
performance obligations in the arrangements, especially
for products and services that were not sold separately.
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Our principal audit procedures relating to the Group's
revenue recognition for these revenue contracts
included, among others, the following:
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. we obtained an understanding of and assessed the
Group’s relevant processes and key controls, as
appropriate, over the Group’s revenue recognition,
including controls related to evaluating the
appropriate accounting for contracts containing
multiple performance obligations and the
allocation of transactions prices to performance
obligations; and
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. we examined a sample of relevant contracts entered
into during the year and evaluated management’s
judgements related to the method of allocating the
transaction prices to the performance obligations in
the arrangements, as well as the appropriateness of
the amounts of revenue recognised.

o FRAM AL RT LA AR B S F R RR AR Sl AT
il 8 B RE 51 2C B B A% 20 e 2 DB A AR Y
7 ¥ B P e RSO B R A 8 R R BT AR R B



Independent Auditor’s Report
B X BB R

Key audit matters (continued) BRESSEH®

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HREESASRE BEMNETNMEEBRETSE

Revenue from contracts with customers containing multiple performance obligations

BEFEHNUA(BEZRBEHNER)

For those contracts containing multiple promised goods
and services and when the stand-alone selling price
of one or more the promised goods or services is not
directly observable, the Group may use the residual
approach to estimate the stand-alone selling price of
a promised good or service, if it determines certain
requirements are met. Under this approach, the Group
may estimate the stand-alone selling price by reference to
the total transaction price less the sum of the observable
stand-alone selling prices of other goods or services
promised in the contract.
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The assessment of management’s evaluation of the
appropriate accounting for such revenue contracts is
significant to our audit because the total amount is
material to the consolidated financial statements and the
assessment involves significant judgements.
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The related disclosures about significant accounting
judgements and estimates are included in note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do
S0.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in

discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Yat Fai, Peter.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King’s Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

29 February 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GEEERAMEZEKER

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A318ILFE

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Notes US$°000 US$’000
M 5 FEx + £
REVENUE WA 5 94,259 86,757
Cost of sales and services B 8 e IR OBS B AR (43,346) (40,250)
Gross profit E F) 50,913 46,507
Other income and gains, net HoAMh i 25 K ) 45 > 3 (E 5 1,362 183
Selling and distribution expenses B B Ky 8 BR SZ 3,544) (3,100)
General and administrative expenses — % I AT BUBH 2 (7,021) (8,173)
Research and development, consultancy and B #§ ~ &% 5l & o Ath BH 57
other expenses (8,411) (8,792)
Finance costs 5 R A 7 (349) (244)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX Bt A1 %= R 6 32,950 26,381
Income tax expense JT 45 B BH 52 10 4,851) (3,722)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR BAREEAEMN
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF F R Al
THE PARENT 28,099 22,659

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ E#tZ2 MUz (FiE)

(LOSS)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that HEWMREHR>EL
may be reclassified to profit or loss in 8 4 1 A A
subsequent periods: Wt (s 48) -
Exchange differences on translation of o B A S B AR
foreign operations B 5, 7% %R 127 (141)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME & ATEEAELEER
FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLETO Z2HEWH &%

OWNERS OF THE PARENT 28,226 22,518
2023
20234
US cents
EXT
EARNINGS PER SHARE BAREBEERFERA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EAEREAER
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 12
Basic FAR 2.56 2.07
Diluted 0 2.55 2.06
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e AR R R

31 December 2023
M2023%F12831H

2023 2022
20234 20224F
US$°000 US$’000
FER T %t
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W~ R B 13 4,518 3,310
Intangible assets Y& 15 2,061 1,807
Prepayments and deposits T RIE B A% 4 18 419 266
Deferred tax assets I G Bl JA & 23 108 111
Total non-current assets kRBEEHATE 7,106 5,494
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories ey 16 16,938 32,333
Trade receivables 2 5 WE K IH 17 17,419 12,054
Prepayments, deposits and AT FOH - B K
other receivables A i BRI 18 4,966 2,634
Tax recoverable Al i ] B IE 49 88
Pledged deposit T 4K #7 A7 3K 19 2,052 2,029
Cash and cash equivalents e kB e%EEY 19 36,745 28,658
Total current assets RBEEHTE 78,169 77,796
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Trade payables, other payables and B 5 HEAS 3R IH ~ HoAth
accruals JRE AN K T B JE i 3k 1A 20 4,686 6,900
Lease liabilities i & B 1K 14 1,489 1,572
Contract liabilities G H A 21 17,638 15,114
Interest-bearing bank borrowings AR SR AT 1 3K 22 1,177 6,471
Tax payable JEE A o K 2,252 5,176
Total current liabilities AEBAEEHAE 27,242 35,233
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEERE 50,927 42,563
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHAERRBAEE
LIABILITIES 58,033 48,057
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

R BRI R

31 December 2023
A2023F12H831H

2023 2022
20234 20224F
US$°000 US$°000
FEx T %t
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERnBEME
Lease liabilities HE AR 14 1,808 673
Contract liabilities GHARK 21 5,623 3,745
Deferred tax liabilities R SE Bl TH A 23 378 348
Total non-current liabilities ERBEBEHREE 7,809 4,766
Net assets EEFE 50,224 43,291
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners of the parent N EV A O RE AL RE 4
Issued capital OB AT AR 24 1,418 1,414
Reserves ERid] 26 48,806 41,877
Total equity EEEE 50,224 43,291
Chan Wing Hong Alex Chau Kit Wai
R K BB AfiE
Director Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

RERERBER

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A318ILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRARBARSE

Share Share  Exchange
premium option  fluctuation ~ Retained Total

account reserve reserve profits equity
ki BRE EZk3®

EER 1 i RERA RR4E

US$000 US$000 US$°000 US$000 US$'000

T#n TEx T#n T#n TEx

[ssued

capital

B3

k&

Notes US$°000

i T#n

At 1 January 2022 JR202FIALH 1405

Profit for the year B -
Other comprehensive loss for the year: EREbAEES:

Exchange differences on translation of PR B AMEHE A A Y
foreign operations 5% —

0,137 N3 (31) 15,999 40,083
— — — 22,659 22,659

- - (141) - (141)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year R 2 F &/ (B4) 4% -

— — (141) 22,659 20518
1449 (263) — — 1,195

Issue of shares upon exercise of share options 17 {f i fE 4% % 17 e 24(a) 9
Bquity-settled share option arrangements DU &5 45 5 00 B OB 1 25 - - 266 - - 266
Transfer of share option reserve wpon the forfeiture 15 5t 18 8 2 i 2 3 1 4%

or expiry of share options BRMERERG - — (62) — 62 —
Second interim 2021 dividend WERE R HRE - - - — Sy (15D
2021 special dividend 2 F R B - - - - (989) (989)
Interim 2022 dividend 0 R - - - - (8269)  (8.269)
At 31 December 2022 120025 12131H 1,414 23,586* S14# (172)* 17,949% 43291
At 1 January 2003 B3R 44 386 514 ) Uy 4
Profit for the year B R A - - - - 28,099 28,099
Other comprehensive income for the year: LREN ESTe R

Exchange differences on translation of PR AM TR A A Y

foreign operations i ES - - - v - iV

Total comprehensive income for the year EREEEER - - - 17 28,099 28,226
Tssue of shares upon exercise of share options 17 B i BE % B 17 R fp 24(b) 4 605 (106) - - 503
Equity-settled share option arrangements DS & R 2 - - 253 - - 253
Transfer of share option reserve upon the forfeiture 1 5t 8 8 {2l 2 3 9 4%

or expiry of share options L T T B - - (146) - 146 -
Second interim 2022 dividend NREFZ WK E - - - - (12,190) (12,190)
Interim 2023 dividend WBEHHRE - - - - (9:859) (9,859)
At31 Decermber 2023 RN 418 191 s1s¢ @F W s
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of US$48,806,000  * WO MR BB RS A5 A BB O W R R

(2022: US$41,877,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

48,806,000 3 JG (20224 : 41,877,000 J6) & 45
& o
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GERERER

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A318ILFE

2023
20234

US$°000
FXx

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

REZHFBRERE

2022
20224
US$°000
TEt

Profit before tax TRl 32,950 26,381
Adjustments for: PR IEH -
Finance costs 1o 5 i A 7 349 244
Bank interest income $RATF B Uk 4 5 (946) (104)
Write-down of inventories O A7 & & ] 5 B (E
to net realisable value 6 498 105
Depreciation e 6 2,156 2,009
Impairment of trade receivables B2 5 JRE A R TR 6 — 11
Amortisation of intangible assets T & MR & 6 941 801
Loss on disposal of items HEWE - WE &
of property, plant and equipment " A H H 2 s 1B 6 — 1
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries B B B A\ 2 i g 6 — (57)
Equity-settled share option expense DIRE 2 &5 55 00 1 I RE B <2 25 253 266
36,201 29,657
Decrease/(increase) in inventories 8D 14,897 (13,816)
Increase in trade receivables G IR Wi TE 1 (5,365) 401)
Increase in prepayments, AT I > i I
deposits and other receivables Aty JRE Wi RCIE (2,485) (841)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables, & 5 FEA ZTE ~ HoAth B A 7 H K
other payables and accruals JE w2 IE S AN (D) (2,214) 1,376
Increase in contract liabilities EH A 4,402 4,358
Cash generated from operations wE A4 45,436 20,333
Hong Kong profits tax paid, net O & A5 B A (7,265) (2,538)
Overseas taxes paid, net O BE A B IH 15 AE (449) (223)
Net cash flows from operating RETHFMERTRETFH
activities 37,722 17,572
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZBHFESEESRE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received B i A 946 104
Purchase of items of property, plant and W& ¥ 3% ~ f 7 Mg THH
equipment (691) (765)
Additions to intangible assets WEELEE (1,188) (1,274)
Disposal of subsidiaries B A ] — 908
Increase in a pledged deposit [SELELIPeEEi i 23) (25)
Net cash flows used in investing RETBHFARERERE
activities (956) (1,052)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
SGERESRER

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A318ILFE

2023 2022
20235 20224F

US$°000 US$’000
FTXX T XU

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING R EZEBFREHEHRE

ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from exercise of share options 17 {# I A #E JiT 15 2Kk TH 503 1,195
Dividends paid R A S (22,049) (20,771)
New bank borrowings BT 3 SR AT K 13,437 21,521
Repayment of bank borrowings 38 BRAT M K (18,751) (19,680)
Interest paid EEN PSS (298) (185)
Principal portion of lease payments FHE A 3R 2 A 4 38 4y 27 (1,620) (1,404)
Interest portion of lease payments B A 3K 2 FLEE o 27 (51) (59)
Net cash flows used in financing METBHFRARERERHE

activities (28,829) (19,383)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN HEeRESZEZEYFEE

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  (jE 2*) 7,937 (2,863)
Cash and cash equivalents at FEB KRB EEEY

beginning of year 28,658 31,663
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, [ [ % 5 By 5 28 » {H %

net 150 (142)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS £ XBERRELZEY

AT END OF YEAR 36,745 28,658
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF ReRRSEEBYER DN

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances B4 T AR AT &5 B 19 36,745 28,658
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Notes to Financial Statements

PRSI B EE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION

Plover Bay Technologies Limited is a limited liability company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The address of the
registered office of the Company is Third Floor, Century
Yard, Cricket Square, P.O. Box 902, Grand Cayman KYI-
1103, Cayman Islands. The principal place of business of the
Company is located at Unit B, 5/F, Dragon Industrial Building,
93 King Lam Street, Lai Chi Kok, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group was involved in the following
principal activities:

. designing, development and marketing of software-
defined wide area network (“SD-WAN”) routers; and

. provision of software licences and warranty and support
services.

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:

Issued
ordinary
share capital

ERTEERA

Place of
incorporation
and business

RLREH B

2023
20238

Percentage of equity
attributable to
the Company

ARARERBEDL

2022
20204

RAREEHES

HEpEARAF SRS
RS B A R B AT A A o Ay Fl i
HF S5 J& () b fik £ Third Floor, Century
Yard, Cricket Square, P.O. Box 902,
Grand Cayman KYI1-1103, Cayman
Islands ° A2y 7] 3 548 26 i 25 it &
W JUBE 75 B A 38 AR 19398 BE A L2
KIESHEBE -

JRASAFEBE > AR S TG o R A B
g

o RN R E B e E
I8 48 ([SD-WAN ) i m #% 5 &

o R PEECE R L IR AE B S IR R
B o

Chy- PN
A L W 2 R R T

Principal activities

IRED

Protean Holdings Limited ~ British Virgin US$1 100 100 Investment holding
[slands/Hong Kong
ERBAER R B REHER
HE/ i
Pepwave Limited Hong Kong HKS$1 100 100 Designing, development and marketing of SD-WAN
routers and provision of software licences and
warranty and support services
&k 1T 100 100 k&t BERE JE BSD-WANH h 257 D R 52 fh i
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Notes to Financial Statements

BRI Pt

31 December 2023
2023%12H31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. REIREBEER w
INFORMATION (Continued)

Place of Issued Percentage of equity
incorporation ordinary attributable to
and business share capital the Company Principal activities

BRURERHE EBRIZERE FATEGERELL FEED
2023 2022
20235 20224

Peplink International Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000 100 100 Designing, development and marketing of SD-WAN
routers and provision of software licences and
warranty and support services

Ei 1,000 & 100 100 Bk~ 8 S8 #SD-WAN B iy 23 D J 02 11
AR A5 B S AR s
Pismo Labs Limited Hong Kong HK$! 100 100 Development of SD-WAN routers
Ei Lt B JE SD-WAN S fh 2§
Peplink Pepwave Limited Hong Kong HKS$! 100 100 Designing, development and marketing of SD-WAN

routers and provision of software licences and
warranty and support services

Ei 1 At~ B RS #SD-WANSE h 257 DL J 4R (it
A TSR 4B B S AR s

Pismo Labs Technology Hong Kong HKS$1 100 100 Intellectual property holding
Limited

HERRARAA Ei i HA R

Pismo Research (Malaysia) ~ Malaysia RM350,000 100 100 Development of SD-WAN routers
Sdn. Bhd.

RRWE 350,000 7 4 B JE SD-WAN B4 h 75

Pismo Technology Asia Hong Kong HKS$1 100 100 Investment holding
Limited

WEHSEHARAR B it fEHR

Peplink Pepwave Tech Taiwan NT$1,000,000 100 100 Development of SD-WAN routers
Limited

PR BB R 7 EL 1,000,000 B SD-WANJH h 2%
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Notes to Financial Statements

BRI Pt

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1.
INFORMATION (Continued)

Place of Issued Percentage of equity
incorporation ordinary attributable to
and business share capital the Company

RIREEHE CBRTEERE ALAERGEZEIM

2023 2022

APAIREBE R

Principal activities

IEED

2023F 20204

Peplink Pepwave UAB Lithuania EUR2,500 100 100
. 5 2,5008 ¢

Pismo Technologies Limited  Hong Kong HK$! 100 100
Eif L

Speedfusion Pte. Limited Singapore SGS1 100 100
s U e

Peplink Pepwave Pte. Singapore SG$1 100 100

Limited

s U e

Note:

RM — Malaysian ringgits

NT$ — New Taiwan dollars

EUR — Euro

SG$ — Singapore dollars

Except for Protean Holdings Limited, all of the above
subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group or are of particular importance to the Group. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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Designing, development and marketing of SD-WAN
routers and provision of software licences and
warranty and support services
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Investment holding

BB R

Designing, development and marketing of SD-WAN
routers and provision of software licences and
warranty and support services

sl B T 8 SD-WAN A £ b1 J 4% fitac
T B R A6 4 AR

Development of SD-WAN routers

B JE SD-WAN B 1 f8
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
(which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”)
and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention. These
financial statements are presented in United States dollars
(“US$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2023. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b)

rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(¢c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Notes to Financial Statements

BA SRR L

31 December 2023
2023%12H31H

BB R

RuEE

IS5 B B 3R T AR 4% ol o 0 e sl A
o3y (17 v € =t 2> 6 1) A 9 7 9
S 5 i ot o U (T 7 9 1 i o R UL D)
(B35 Bir A7 A 5 5 i 1)~ s
kR (s G et ) Kt B) J
A s 2 W) AR R B B B AR R o
HR PR JRE SR A K B o BRIE D A
WY - BEAEA S R R ASE T ([£00]) B
B> BT A WU B R R TR
j‘l: o

mEREZEE

WEHZEEMBEHRERATEARNA LHE
R A A (S [ A 42 | ) % 222023 4F
12H31H IR B B R - fHE A
] $ AR 0N A 9 ok 4 ) B B
(I HEE)  EAEEHE RS H
T8 S G2 %) AR TR 35 B8l T R S T A ] R
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LA P - LA
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EH L
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Notes to Financial Statements

BA RS HRAR L

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

BB K
fm RE X )

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (continuea)

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-
controlling interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and
recognises the fair value of any investment retained and any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs
for the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

HKFRS 17
B A e R ST 9%
Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2
v wE SR 19T R I
) B5 R BB 298 (BT A
Amendments to HKAS 8
v g wE R EER gk (B T A)
Amendments to HKAS 12

R G A

B 7 B 0 5

Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2023
2023%12H31H

2. B BEw
22 8 ERBEERE

7 B 1 © 7 A AF BE I B R KRB
F AR 87 6T M 8848 BT 7 o B B

HEH o

Insurance Contracts

Single Transaction

T G s 1258 (B 5T A)
Amendments to HKAS 12
T G s 1258 (B 5T A)

The nature and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs that
are applicable to the Group are described below:

(@ Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose
their material accounting policy information rather than
their significant accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2
Making Materiality Judgements provide non-mandatory
guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality to
accounting policy disclosures. The Group has disclosed
the material accounting policy information in note 2 to the
financial statements. The amendments did not have any
impact on the measurement, recognition or presentation of
any items in the Group’s financial statements.

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Definition of Accounting Estimates
& 7 14 Al 09 E 7

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a

B — X5 5 A 1Y B K BB 1 E A I
International Tax Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules

1 555 B 5 X — SEHE AR A

T A A T YR AT e AR AE R T A i
B B S o R U A MR R R

P

@

s EHE IR 5E (B AT AS)
RO HE K& ahBURE
BE I HL B RO o i
[e] 27 f B 5 R 0 A E R —
f % 08 > & SHEUR SR A LG
T ) € 5 W RS R
T R R A A RS R
A R B g > BN g B
EORHE R o Uk RS A
BI85 i SR 2 58 (I8 w7 AS) 1
R ) B A A A B el
& AR P B TR R A Y JF
o i VE 5 51 o A% 4R OO RS
P M sk 24 B TR B R ELR A
KL o B2 AE 7T A R 4R T 1B R
F WAL T IHH B 5 & AR
251 37 AT o] 5 2
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(b)

©

(d)

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in
accounting policies. Accounting estimates are defined as
monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject
to measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify
how entities use measurement techniques and inputs to
develop accounting estimates. Since the Group’s approach
and policy align with the amendments, the amendments
had no impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction narrow
the scope of the initial recognition exception in HKAS 12
so that it no longer applies to transactions that give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences, such
as leases and decommissioning obligations. Therefore,
entities are required to recognise a deferred tax asset
(provided that sufficient taxable profit is available)
and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences
arising from these transactions. The amendments did not
have any significant impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group upon initial application.

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform —
Pillar Two Model Rules introduce a mandatory temporary
exception from the recognition and disclosure of deferred
taxes arising from the implementation of the Pillar Two
model rules published by the Organisation for Economic
Co-operation and Development. The amendments also
introduce disclosure requirements for the affected
entities to help users of the financial statements better
understand the entities’ exposure to Pillar Two income
taxes, including the disclosure of current tax related to
Pillar Two income taxes separately in the periods when
Pillar Two legislation is effective and the disclosure
of known or reasonably estimable information of their
exposure to Pillar Two income taxes in periods in which
the legislation is enacted or substantively enacted but
not yet in effect. The Group has applied the amendments
retrospectively. Since the Group did not fall within the
scope of the Pillar Two model rules, the amendments did
not have any impact to the Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BA SRR L

31 December 2023
2023%12H31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. BEFBEw

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 23CHEMERMRERNEE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING Bt 7% 3R &5 2 A
STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following revised HKFRSs, that A S S A M S B A A T

DATR A8 A fEL 1 R A2 2010 S48 6T AR
o B o R o R AR T Y A% 4
REAE w1 A S SV 5 o v A o ey
i % 55 M JI) (g )

have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial
statements. The Group intends to apply these revised HKFRSs,
if applicable, when they become effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture’
A vk B i A TE A A 109 1B A N m] B A R 9 B
AU g R H 52898 (18 §1 A) L&’
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback’
T B i e R SR 16 % (B FT A B & 1 19 1 B A 1
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments”) "+
s g R E R SR (B 5T A A5 E 18 73 R 2% 0 B 2 TE DR B (120204 16 7T A )) 1+
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments”) "+
s g R E R SR (B 5T A Wi 47 22 it 19 FF Ui B) A e (/20224 45 57 K )) 14
Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements’
A v R QT L 7 il B
s B 5 o TR R 2R 7SR (I8 T A
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?
g FE R 2198 (B AT A) T EXI R i
! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 ! 20244 1 A 1H 8% 2 15 B 46 19 4F B2 1A
AR
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025 2 202541 H1H 8 2 4% BH 16 /Y 4F B2 10 1H]
A%
3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption 3 7% o Ve 7 T AR S H 9 0 B A] 3 g
4 As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022 Amendments, 4 H A 202048 5T R B 20224 R B 5T A 5 &
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements WS RS (A B IR E N TR — 15
— Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a N B # F G FE R Bl I AT 280K ) B
Repayment on Demand Clause was revised to align the corresponding B0 B EATAE B0 LR A R A
wording with no change in conclusion BE o ME &S O B
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coninued 2. EETHEEw

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to
be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets.
The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
resulting from a downstream transaction when the sale or
contribution of assets constitutes a business. For a transaction
involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss
resulting from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s
profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s
interest in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are
to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective
date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed
by the HKICPA. However, the amendments are available for
adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a
sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does
not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to
the right of use it retains. The amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall
be applied retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions
entered into after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16
(i.e., 1 January 2019). Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by
a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist
at the end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability
is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its
right to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify that a
liability can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that
only if a conversion option in a convertible liability is itself
accounted for as an equity instrument would the terms of a
liability not impact its classification. The 2022 Amendments
further clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising
from a loan arrangement, only those with which an entity must
comply on or before the reporting date affect the classification
of that liability as current or non-current. Additional disclosures
are required for non-current liabilities that are subject to the
entity complying with future covenants within 12 months
after the reporting period. The amendments shall be applied
retrospectively with early application permitted. An entity
that applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to apply
simultaneously the Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is
currently assessing the impact of the amendments and whether
existing loan agreements may require revision. Based on a
preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and require
additional disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure
requirements in the amendments are intended to assist
users of financial statements in understanding the effects
of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities,
cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. Earlier application
of the amendments is permitted. The amendments provide
certain transition reliefs regarding comparative information,
quantitative information as at the beginning of the annual
reporting period and interim disclosures. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coninued 2. EETHEEw

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess
whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency and
how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement
date when exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require
disclosures of information that enable users of financial
statements to understand the impact of a currency not being
exchangeable. Earlier application is permitted. When applying
the amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative
information. Any cumulative effect of initially applying the
amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained profits or to the cumulative amount
of translation differences accumulated in a separate component
of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for non-financial asset is required (other
than inventories and deferred tax assets), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the
higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and
its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of
the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters
building) is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit
if it can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or,
otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating units.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (consinued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset
other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of
that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i1)

has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Related parties (coninued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following

conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same

group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary

of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the

same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity

related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a

person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of

the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. When an
item of property, plant and equipment is classified as held for
sale or when it is part of a disposal group classified as held for
sale, it is not depreciated and is accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 5, as further explained in the accounting policy
for “Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale”. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition
criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings

BT

Furniture and fixtures
A K

Computer equipment
I 1

Office equipment
25 e Al

Machine and equipment

AR S B A

20%

3315%

3315%

3315%
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from
its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with
finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic
life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication
that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with
a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year
end.

Patents, licences and trademarks

Patents, licences and trademarks are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives of 1 to 20 years.

Research and development expenditure
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will
generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources
to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the
expenditure during the development. Product development
expenditure which does not meet these criteria is expensed
when incurred.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

(@) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the
amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the lease terms.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

)

©

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments to
be made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.
The lease payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by
the Group and payments of penalties for termination of a
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate the lease. The variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as
an expense in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit
in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and Ileases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases of office
equipment and laptop computers that are considered to
be of low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in
the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit
or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows
will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling
the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a business model
with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified and
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are
held within a business model with the objective of both holding
to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business models
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (coninued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date,
that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets at amortised
cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows

from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a
third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (Continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that
the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written
off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition
and for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

104 piover Bay Technologies Limited 2023 Annual Report

2.4

BB K
EXREFHHEw

cREERE®

— & )

N H ) AR A SR A 4 R T E
1 15 B R B 2 & B W0 I RR R K I
P o IMEHRZ R R > AL E LR
W H W AR TR E A A R B
KW MR e m TEELEW
A By o % R TR R A R s B
B AR B %% 71 A] AR A B R SRR
b B R E K AT B T E R o

ALEHEE R > G H A FGEHH
S gl EEARLAE A o SR AE T
TEULT > A wh S A 4R B 5 A B9 AT
AT 384 45 22 PRI > A 45 1 R AT 7 S
B R B R AR 4 TR K AT RE 2 B
W TR A R A A < R NN B A
FE RN 2 4 o i 46 3K 5 2L TE 0 i [m]
A B R > P R E

e B B AR BB A O AR R
Je 75 15 AR B oy FE R B EE R
o Bl 1R A0 25 I B > 1 B2 ) BB WA IH
o N SCRE At B il AL 3% R A -

55— BB — 5 B R B B W R R AR
SIf K R 38 0 4 4 Rl T
B ol 48 5 10
1248 A 7 815 B s 8

&R

5 R B — 5 B R B A ) U R AR
IR 484 A ELSIE JF o B
B (R B R M
Y 15, 485 A % S R A2 1
VERER S RS VDE i
=B — R HRCE R E h BUE R
80 (EL A9 < L 7 (1EL7E B
BB A A 2 RIS
W) > o R R A
i 4 3 T 4 B e 4R Y

&R



2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as loans and borrowings or payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities

at amortised cost (trade and other payables, and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-
bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated
at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest
rate amortisation is included in profit or loss.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis and,
in the case of finished goods, comprises direct materials,
direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly
liquid deposits with a maturity of generally within three months
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the
purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
and short-term deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries/jurisdictions in which the Group
operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BA RS HRAR L

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the
end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity
or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets
are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BA RS HRAR L

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it
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the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is AR EBR -

subsequently resolved.

(a) Sale of routers and software licences
Revenue from the sale of routers and stand-alone software
licences is recognised at the point in time when control
of the asset is transferred to the customer, generally on
delivery of the routers and software.
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(b)  Provision of licence services (b)  FE A FF AT IR B
Revenue from the provision of licence services is P AL TR AT R BS 2 e AT R A
recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-line WD H B EHER - HAKFH
basis because the customer simultaneously receives and IRF 2 Wi B2 3 FE A 4R 18 BT 2 1 1Y
consumes the benefits provided by the Group. ] 4 o

(¢)  Provision of warranty and support services
Revenue from the provision of warranty and support
services is recognised over the scheduled period on a
straight-line basis because the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or
a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before
the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or
services to the customer).
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories,
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs
incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are capitalised as
an asset if all of the following criteria are met:

(@) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that

will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)

performance obligations in the future.

() The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to
profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the
transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which the
asset relates. Other contract costs are expensed as incurred.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme. Employees of the
Group (including directors of the entities comprising the Group)
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services in exchange for equity
instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees (and
others providing similar services) is measured by reference to
the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair
value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model, further details of which are given in note 25 to the
financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent
to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a
period represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BA RS HRAR L

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Share-based payments (coninued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair
value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing
of an award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification, that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or
is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date
of modification. Where an equity-settled award is cancelled,
it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and
any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately.

This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is
granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Other employee benefits

Paid leave carried forward

The Group provides paid annual leave to its employees under
their employment contracts on a calendar year basis. Under
certain circumstances, such leave which remains untaken as
at the end of each reporting period is permitted to be carried
forward and utilised by the respective employees in the
following year. An accrual is made at the end of each reporting
period for the expected future cost of such paid leave earned
during the year by the employees and carried forward.

Retirement benefit schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to participate
in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme, except for the Group’s employer voluntary
contributions, which are refunded to the Group when the
employee leaves employment prior to the contributions vesting
fully, in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary in Malaysia are
members of the state-managed retirement benefit scheme, the
Employees Provident Fund (the “EPF Scheme”) operated by the
Malaysian government. The subsidiary is required to contribute
a certain percentage of payroll costs to the EPF Scheme. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefit scheme is to make specified contributions.

The employees of the Group's subsidiary in Taiwan chose to
participate in a defined contribution scheme governed by the
Labour Pension Act of Taiwan. This subsidiary contributes
at 6% of the total salaries of participating employees who
have chosen to participate in the defined contribution scheme,
deposited into individual pension accounts at the Bureau of
Labour Insurance of Taiwan.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BA RS HRAR L

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that the
Group incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds, and
they are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

Dividends

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grants the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as
a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in United States
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If
there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of
the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
are currencies other than the United States dollar. As at
the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of
these entities are translated into United States dollars at the
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period
and their statements of profit or loss are translated into United
States dollars at the exchange rates that approximate to those
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve.
On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount
in the reserve relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of the overseas subsidiaries are translated into
United States dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of
the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of the overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into
United States dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year.
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31 December 2023
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgement, apart from
those involving estimations, which has the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Revenue from contracts with customers containing
multiple performance obligations

The Group has entered into certain contracts with customers
to sell its SD-WAN routers and related services containing
multiple performance obligations. For these revenue contracts,
significant management judgements and estimates are required
to determine the appropriate accounting, including the
allocation of transaction prices among performance obligations
in the arrangements, especially for products and services that
are not sold separately.

For those contracts containing multiple promised goods
and services and when the stand-alone selling price of one
or more of the promised goods or services is not directly
observable, the Group may use the residual approach to
estimate the stand-alone selling price of a promised good or
service, if it determines certain requirements are met. Under
this approach, the Group may estimate the stand-alone selling
price by reference to the total transaction price less the sum
of the observable stand-alone selling prices of other goods or
services promised in the contract. The Group applies significant
judgements to determine the appropriateness of such approach
given the specific circumstances, based on, inter alia, the
availability of information and historical transaction/pricing
history and practices.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continuea)

Judgements (Continued)

Classification of warranty and support services

The Group applied judgement on revenue recognition of
warranty and support services. The Group has determined,
based on the terms and arrangements of the services, whether
the warranty and support services provided are service-type
or assurance-type warranty. The revenue from the provision
of warranty and support services was derived from (i) the
embedded warranty provided with the sale of SD-WAN routers
and (ii) the extended service-type warranty. For embedded
warranty, it provides customer services such as after-sales
services and updates, which is beyond fixing existing defects
in the products and thus, embedded warranty represents a
separate performance obligation and is considered as a service-
type warranty. For other extended service-type warranty, it
is sold separately and represented a separate performance
obligation. The Group concluded that revenue from warranty
and support services is to be recognised over time because they
represented a separate performance obligation and the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by
the Group.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e.,
gross domestic product) are expected to deteriorate over the
next year which can lead to an increased number of defaults, the
historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date, the
historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the
forward-looking estimates are analysed.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continuea)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
(Continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about
the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in note
17 to the financial statements.

Net realisable value of inventories

The Group performs regular review of the carrying amounts of
inventories with reference to detailed analyses of the Group’s
inventories and management experience and judgements. Based
on this review, write-down of inventories will be made when the
carrying amounts of inventories decline below their estimated
net realisable values. Due to changes in technological, market
and economic environment, the actual saleability of goods
might be different from estimation and profit or loss could be
affected by the differences in this estimation.

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit
in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing
rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate
of interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary
to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset
in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects
what the Group “would have to pay”, which requires estimation
when no observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries
that do not enter into financing transactions) or when it needs
to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease
(for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional
currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs
(such as market interest rates) when available and is required to
make certain entity-specific estimates.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and services and has reportable
operating segments as follows:

(a) the sale of SD-WAN routers segment that primarily
engages in sale of wired and wireless routers, also known
as Fixed First Connectivity and Mobile First Connectivity,
respectively; and

(b) software licences and warranty and support services
segment that primarily engages in the provision of
software licences and warranty and support services.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit,
which is a measure of adjusted profit before tax. The adjusted
profit before tax is measured consistently with the Group’s
profit before tax except that other income and gains, net,
selling and distribution expenses, unallocated general and
administrative expenses, and finance costs are excluded from
such measurement.

There were no material intersegment sales and transfers during
the current and prior years.

4.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. &B& 5 HE ¥

(Continued)

(@) Operating segments (a) RR&EDI

Sale of SD-WAN routers
HESD-WANE A

Fixed First Connectivity ~ Mobile First Connectivity Software licences
(formerly Wired (formerly Wireless and warranty

SD-WAN routers) SD-WAN routers) and support services
BERfBrER BIARARESR BEHTR

(HBERSD-WANRHE) (HRELSD-WANRHE)  REEXERE

223 2022 2023 2022 023 2022 223 2022
BE 2ANE BE ANE  ABE ANE UBE ANF
US$'000  USS000  USS000  USS000  USS000  USS000  US$000  USS000
Tinr  T#En Tin T#r FExr  TEx  FTEm TEx

Segment revenue: (note $) APUA: (HiEs)
Sales to external customers HNREFHE 1389 B0 W33 46T 02 55 W 86T
Segment results pEiES 4459 LSS 148 2518 0898 1SR 36915
Reconciliation: Bl .
Other income and gains, net s Rflg - FE 1,362 183
Selling and distribution expenses ~ HER A % 3544 (100
Unallocated general and administrative %7 — 18t &

expenses fTBm% 608)  (137)
Finance costs BB A (349) (M44)
Profit before tax fnafl 32,950 26,381
Information of assets, liabilities and capital expenditure of AE2HaHmEE - AK
reportable segments is not provided to the chief operating Y- R < i
decision makers for their review. Therefore, no analysis of FEKBERREEUREFE -
the Group’s assets, liabilities and capital expenditure by U - A 2 51 4% mT 2 g B
reportable segments is presented. Bz AEmMERE - AERE

A BH ST HY 3 # o

Sale of SD-WAN routers
BESD-WANB S
Fixed First Connectivity ~ Mobile First Connectivity Software licences
(formerly Wired (formerly Wireless and warranty

SD-WAN routers) SD-WAN routers) and support services
EERAELER BIRRERER RRHTR

(HBERSD-WANEMRE) (HBEBSDWANERE) REEXERE
13 y[1)) 13 Y1) 2003 p)) 13 y[1))
ABE A0E W3E WE UNE NE ABE AnE
USS'000  USS000  US§'000  USS'000  USS'000  USS000  US§'000  USS000
Tin  f¥xn Tin f¥x TFEin  fEx  TErn  Tix

Other segment information: HtApEs:
Amortisation of intangible assets B HENEE 13 145 637 434 149 In 941 801
Write-down of inventories to net tera- el ik

realisable value 114 JA 384 80 - - 498 105
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. &5 RER »

(Continued)

(b) Geographical information (b) biF & B
(i) Revenue from external customers i) KEIBEFHKA

(ii)

2023 2022

20234 20224F
US$°000 US$’000
TEx x5t
North America =g 54,386 52,017
EMEA TR~ o SRR IR
(Europe, Middle East and Africa) 27,536 21,736
Asia LR 9,976 11,121
Others H At 2,361 1,883
94,259 86,757
The revenue information above is based on the DL bl A BN R P
locations of the customers. i BAEH -
Non-current assets (i) F¥REBEE
2023 2022
20234 20224F
US$°000 US$’000
TEx +E
Hong Kong B 5,840 4,212
Others H At 798 1,088
6,638 5,300
The non-current asset information above is based DA b JE i R R R
on the locations of the assets and excludes financial [ R E Y N
assets and deferred tax assets. Y NIRRT A E o
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.

(Continued)

(¢) Information about a major customer
For the year ended 31 December 2023, total revenue of
approximately US$16,087,000 (2022: US$16,743,000) was
derived from transactions with a single customer reporting
in the sale of SD-WAN routers segment and software
licences and warranty and support services segment.

S. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND S.
GAINS, NET

An analysis of revenue is as follows:

ReEFEER @

© —BREXEEFMESR
W E20234F12H31H IEFEFE > ik
A B8 %116,087,0003% JT (2022
F 116,743,000 J0) R B Bl — 2
B —% 5 7 8 55 SD-WAN B% 1 #%
43 HB DA B Wk A4 FF AT R AR AE B S
"B W s L g e

WA Bl s KA & - F

{8
WA Z 53 B0 F -

2023 2022
2023%F 20224F

US$°000 US$°000
TXR TR

Revenue from contracts with EP A& A
customers

94,259 86,757
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND
GAINS, NET (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
Disaggregated revenue information
For the year ended 31 December 2023

)
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5. WA - Hthrzm R Flss - &
B )
EFEHEA
(i) DEUAEZH

B E2023F12A31B8 L FE

Software

Sale of licences and

SD-WAN warranty and
routers support services
BHFAR
4 £SD-WAN RIE R
B% H 3% XERK CEi
US$°000 US$°000 US$°000
FxR FTER Txn
Types of goods or services BmEREER
Sale of SD-WAN routers §1 €5 SD-WAN i iy 7%
— Fixed First Connectivity — [ A A 1 S
(formerly Wired SD- (i # A 48 SD-
WAN routers) WAN # i %) 14,589 — 14,589
— Mobile First Connectivity — R A A S
(formerly Wireless SD- (Hif 76 & 48 SD-
WAN routers) WAN % H #%) 49,393 — 49,393
Provision of warranty and B it DR £ B ST 4 R
support services — 23,765 23,765
Sale of software and BB R R R AT B A
licence fee income — 6,512 6,512
Total revenue from contracts KEEFHE#HZ
with customers N F 63,982 30,277 94,259
Geographical markets i & ™ %
North America JeEM 35,995 18,391 54,386
EMEA B~ s A IR
(Europe, Middle East and
Africa) 20,337 7,199 27,536
Asia CEM 6,000 3,976 9,976
Others oA 1,650 711 2,361
Total revenue from contracts RHEFGHZ
with customers ON::¥ | 63,982 30,277 94,259
Timing of revenue recognition U A & 5% B i
Goods transferred at a point 7 A IR ] 26 RS 2
in time & i 63,982 1,597 65,579
Services transferred over time B IRF [ 1 5% 2 IR % — 28,680 28,680
Total revenue from contracts KAKEF&#HZIA
with customers M 63,982 30,277 94,259
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5. WA - Htrsm R Fls @ &
B )
BEFEEHWAmw
(i) DEUAEZR @)

B Z2022F128318 It FE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND
GAINS, NET (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)
For the yvear ended 31 December 2022

Software
Sale of licences and
SD-WAN warranty and
Segments routers  support services Total
R R AT R
5 SD-WAN {1 B
7 & B H A5 X MR Gt
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
T%7T T £ Tt
Types of goods or services [EEREY ki
Sale of SD-WAN routers 5 % SD-WAN I i #%
— Fixed First Connectivity — [ 7 A A R S T
(formerly Wired (T 7% /% A % SD-
SD-WAN routers) WAN % i #%) 14,430 — 14,430
— Mobile First Connectivity — R A A 1 S
(formerly Wireless (HiT 4% /£ & 4 SD-
SD-WAN routers) WAN % i %) 46,773 — 46,773
Provision of warranty and B it DR £ B S 9% MR S
support services — 21,107 21,107
Sale of software and B B R T A
licence fee income — 4,447 4,447
Total revenue from contracts REEFEHZ
with customers PN K 61,203 25,554 86,757
Geographical markets & 5
North America db 3 36,316 15,701 52,017
EMEA BRCH e s A IR
(Europe, Middle East and
Africa) 15,857 5,879 21,736
Asia GRS 7,815 3,306 11,121
Others HAth 1,215 668 1,883
Total revenue from contracts KAKFG#HZ
with customers N X 61,203 25,554 86,757
Timing of revenue recognition U A & 53 B i
Goods transferred at a point in % 3t { IRF ] 2 % 5% 2
time B 61,203 1,801 63,004
Services transferred over time & IRF [H] # £% 2 I H — 23,753 23,753
Total revenue from contracts RKAKEFG#HZ
with customers N K 61,203 25,554 86,757
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S. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND

GAINS, NET (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the
reporting period:

Notes to Financial Statements

BRI Pt

31 December 2023
2023%12H31H

5. WA - Hblsm R A& - 3
B )
BEFEAEHWA @
(i) BEYRAEZF
T RN A A T R SR
e A& HEE A A
BRI A

2023 2022
20235 20224F

US$°000 US$’000
FXx T X0

Revenue recognised that was FEA R W G &) B

included in contract liabilities at Y e w8 IR A
the beginning of the reporting

period:
Provision of warranty and It OR A8 B S 4% IR B
support services 12,125 10,023
Sale of software and B B R RE T A
licence fee income 2,989 1,658
15,114 11,681

(ii) Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale of SD-WAN routers and software

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of
the routers and software and payment is generally due
within 60 days from delivery.

(i) BHEF
H AL E B A E AT W E R
i

£ BESD-WAN % Hy #5 J # F
JB &9 AT i 5 A B R g SOk 1
IRp 32 B A B — i 20 A A 4R
60 H A & £F o
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. WA Hitrzm BRIz - F
GAINS, NET (coniniea) 1B

BEEESHWA )
(i) BHEF @)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(ii) Performance obligations (Continued)

Warranty and support services

The revenue from the provision of warranty and support
services was derived from (i) the embedded service-type
warranty provided with the sale of SD-WAN routers; and
(ii) the extended service-type warranty. For embedded
service-type warranty, it provides customer services
such as after-sales services and updates, which is beyond
fixing existing defects in the products and thus, embedded
service-type warranty represents a separate performance
obligation and is considered as a service-type warranty.
For other extended service-type warranty, it is sold
separately and represented a separate performance
obligation. The performance obligation is satisfied over
time as services are rendered and payment in advance is
normally required.

Licence services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment in advance is normally
required.

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or
partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December are as follows:

Amounts expected to be recognised  TH 7T #fE 58 & Ir A 1Y

R A5 5 57 IR T

P2 A LR A& B S B2 IR B 1 i A TR
H : (i) bE SD-WAN I H #5855 4%
A B A IR B IR AE 5 R Gii) 2
MBS AR AE - BN A i IR B
ARG > L8R M58 B 1R IR
WMERFFTFRYE > BHEEE
195 T BLA BT 0 AR > R
N IR B AR o — TH B
KIEAE - W BRERBIRE -
3 H A SE R iR B BAR S K
HEBE WEAEE —HE
K BAT o JB & FEAT BE 4 A B
N > HOWH 75 B AT SR o

i iR 75
J& #7 B5AT BB 4R £t M 5 2 A - B
W AT AROH -

RI2A31H 4 £ 8 B & 54T
(o 28 B BB 4 R 22 ) 1938 5
fEA% 5T

2023 2022
20235 20224F

US$°000 US$°000
FXx T X5

as revenue: Xl

Within one year — N 17,638 15,114

After one year — 15 5,623 3,745
23,261 18,859
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. WA HttlzmRRzm - F
GAINS, NET (Conrinued) {8 a0
Revenue from contracts with customers (conrinued) EFEHBA
(ii) Performance obligations (Continued) (i) BAIE F)
Licence services (Continued) #F AR B (1)
The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the o3 BC 2 8RN TE I R — 4F 1% Tl
remaining performance obligations which are expected to PR A AT W 3 o 18
be recognised as revenue after one year relate to licence & <& W K T RS B R 1B K
services and warranty and support services, of which the SRR o v IRES R A R
performance obligations are to be satisfied within seven A1 7 B4R N2 A o
years.
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
US$°000 US$’000
TERx T %t
Other income and gains, net Hinh sz kA& FE
Foreign exchange gains, net AP # - 13 H 306 —
Bank interest income SRAT R E I A 946 104
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries H B S R 2 i A — 57
Government subsidy* LR A R+ 96 —
Others HoAte 14 22
1,362 183
# The subsidy was granted under the Dedicated Fund on Branding, # il B 75 R A s R I AT B TR R
Upgrading and Domestic Sales by the Government of the Hong AN SRR P T S
Kong Special Administrative Region. There were no unfulfilled 1 T R 61 T 45 1 SOTE R 4 R -
conditions or contingencies, relating to the government subsidy. gig@%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ HY R 2 AR

20238 HOEREARAT 127



Notes to Financial Statements

BRI Pt

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. Wi AlE R
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ 7 4 18 B A I R TS AN BR 7 (EA) BA
(crediting): & TE AR BT EE B
2023 2022
20235 20224F
US$°000 US$°000
TER TE7T
Cost of inventories sold B E B A 41,108 38,355
Cost of services provided B4R 13 IR B A AR 2,238 1,895
Depreciation & 7 5 asd 13 2,156 2,009
Amortisation of intangible L E e
assets ¢ 15 941 801
Auditors’ remuneration 1% BT T 218 210
Employee benefit expense i 548 I BA S OR 40 4 2
(excluding directors’ remuneration =¥ Ml 4 — Fff 518) ¢
— note 8) ¢
Wages, salaries and allowances TE ~ 5 & Kb 8,530 9,076
Equity-settled share-based DY RS-
payment expense B A7 A5 3 B 52 224 247
Retirement benefit scheme R AR R EE B L R (R
contributions (defined ML FETH) €
contribution schemes) ¢ 343 351
Less: Government subsidies T B ARG
— Hong Kong Special — T WA B R
Administrative (R ZERT# ]
Region Employment
Support Scheme f — (389)
Government subsidies Rl BG
— Hong Kong Special — B WA B R
Administrative (R RLE 8 5o
Region STEM
Internship Scheme f (14) 9)
Government subsidies UM A
— Lithuania ¢ — . %Ee (383) (465)
8,700 8,811
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payments {7 - Bl ] i) A 45 45 55

for consultants Z B A K
Loss on disposal of items of B E - B K
property, plant and equipment a A JE H 2 s 1E
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 8 W 2 R 2 i
Research and development expenses Wf #§ ] 32
Consultancy and other expenses k) B A B 52
Impairment of financial assets: & B
Impairment of trade receivables, B 5y I i K SR A

net ﬁ* %ﬁ

Write-down of inventories to net

i A7 A B (E

realisable value

Foreign exchange differences, net

A HEE BEE < 22 30 > 3

Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2023
2023%12H31H

BAnE R )
2023 2022
20235 20224
US$°000 US$°000
TEx T %0
29 19
— 1
— 57
5,348 6,387
3,063 2,405
— 11
498 105
(306) 1,657

(@)

(b)

(©)]

(d

(e)

Depreciation for the year of US$290,000 (2022: US$285,000) is included
in “Cost of sales and services” on the face of the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

The total amount of depreciation includes the depreciation of right-of-
use assets of US$1,592,000 (2022: US$1,444,000).

Amortisation of intangible assets for the year of US$941,000 (2022:
US$801,000) is included in “General and administrative expenses”
on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Employee benefit expense of US$5,547,000 (2022: US$5,675.000) is
included in “Research and development, consultancy and other expenses”
on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as the
employer to reduce the existing level of contributions. At 31 December
2023, the Group had no forfeited contributions available to reduce its
contributions to pension schemes in future years (2022: Nil).

(a)

(b)

©

(d

(e)

A AEFE P #290,0003% I (20224F ¢
285,0003% J6) 7HA &5 A 18 6 K Ho A 2 T
Wi i 2 B R 2 T8 5 T IRHs A o o

T B A O 5 G B A T 51,592,000
6 JC (20224F 1 1,444,00054 7€) »

A% A JE i 6 46 T8 7 941,000 3% JC (2022
£ :0801,0003 J0) 2 B UG K & A
1 i B HoAMh A i g8 R AR 2 [— M K
ATBBH S -

& B 4 F B 35,547,000 JT (20224F :
5,675,00035 J0) Z & F B B IE £ 4 A 1R
it S LAt A T i £ K R 2 [0 - w
Al S A B e

A B AR A R > I AT ] YR 4R
AR I D BUA R FKOKT  i820234FE12
A31H » A SEEE A AT s T i
I A AT B D R K 4w E A £ R (2022
A ) o
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31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Continued)

®)

(2)

The subsidies were granted under the STEM Internship Scheme (2022:
Employment Support Scheme and STEM Internship Scheme) of the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. There are
no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to the subsidies.

During the year, the Company's subsidiary located in Lithuania
received subsidies (“Subsidies”) of approximately US$419,000 (2022:
US$490,000) from the Government of Lithuania for several research and
development projects. Subsidies of approximately US$366,000 (2022:
US$444,000) were granted by the Government of Lithuania and are
presented as a reduction in “Research and development, consultancy and
other expenses” on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income. Subsidies of approximately US$53,000
(2022: US$46,000) are presented as a reduction in “General and
administrative expenses” on the face of the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income. There are no unfulfilled
conditions or contingencies relating to these Subsidies.

7. FINANCE COSTS

6. BATER 4

()

(2)

5% 55l R A s R AT OB I AT AR R
A RHED 8 51 #1J(20224F « TR wh 2651 #1 )
Je AR B w8 D) gk - M 4R AT BE 3%
2 A I R B B (B S TE o

HEIR > AN W AE ST B 5 1) B 2 FAE ST
V) % B RF 48 15 £9419,000 3% T (20224F ¢
490,0003% Jt) 19 4 A5 ([5% %5 wRGD) > A
A2 E W R EHE - 3% % Ml £9366,000
2 JT (20224F : 444,00035 JT) | 37 ) 58 BT
O EE TR > S AE A A TR g B At A T i £
FI R 2 THF 8 ~ i S FoAb B 3 | 2
B Ry K o 5% 5 Rk £953,000 3 IC (2022
AF 46,0003 J0) TE 45 A a8 B HAth 2 i
Wi 38 R 2 [— M AT BB S 2 5
FIUER o MR R AT I 5% S Al A 1 SR T A

WA -

7. BRI A

2023
20235

2022
20224F
US$°000
Tt

US$°000
FXn

Interest on bank borrowings AT B A E 298 185
Interest on lease liabilities & B 65 R R 51 59
349 244
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BRI Pt

31 December 2023
2023%12H31H

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EEM£

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to i IR W5 22 5 B A IR A W 78 2R
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock CEMABRTCET R DD - (FHBA
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), A 1) 25383(1)(a) ~ (b) ~ (c) K& (f) il
section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies DL R CF s o ) (4% % & 3 P 4 R}
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Hong Kong Companies (Disclosure BB 5200 - A 4F T o8 S 6 P Bx
of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as T

follows:

2023 2022
2023F 20224F
US$°000 US$’000
FTEx T %t
Fees: M4
Executive directors HMATEH — —
Independent non-executive WL IE AT E S
directors 45 45
45 45
Other emoluments: Al T 4
Salaries and allowances B4 Mok 1,153 1,150
Retirement benefit scheme B AR A FE & A 3
contributions (7 HE 3T &)
(defined contribution schemes) 8 8
1,161 1,158
1,206 1,203
(a) Independent non-executive directors @) BIYFHITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors A BE ST 8 ST IR AT W
during the year were as follows: MIG T

2023 2022
20235 20224F

US$°000 US$°000
FTXT T X

Independent non-executive directors: 8 37 JF B AT & -

Yu Kin Tim KR 15 15
Ho Chi Lam ] 7 F% 15 15
Wan Sze Chung i 5 15 15

45 45
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BRI Pt

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (coninued) 8. EEME

(a) Independent non-executive directors (Conrinued) (@ BILFBITESEw
Save as disclosed above, there were no other emoluments [ N I\ NE 2 93 |
payable to the independent non-executive directors during e H A AT TR L AT E
the year (2022: Nil). () 357 B (20224F « %) -

(b) Executive directors (b) HITESE
Other emoluments paid to executive directors during the A AF B 1) FUAT S SO Y H A
year are as follows: B an

Equity-settled Retirement

share-based benefit
Salaries and payment scheme Total
allowances expense contributions remuneration

i

&HZEH BAREA
FERER N B3 st B MeaE
US$°000 US$°000 US$°000 US$°000
TX5 FE TX7 TX%

2023 20234F
Executive directors: WiTEH:
Mr. Chan BRIE £ 502 - 2 504
Chau Kit Wai J B4 217 — 2 219
Yeung Yu 2R 217 — 2 219
Chong Ming Pui 3 B i 217 — 2 219
1,153 — 8 1,161
2022 20224F
Executive directors: WiTEF:
Mr. Chan B 502 — 2 504
Chau Kit Wai Ji 4 216 — 2 218
Yeung Yu 1 i 216 — 2 218
Chong Ming Pui HE B 3 216 — 2 218
1,150 — 8 1,158
There was no arrangement under which a director waived or A% AR BE I I HE S 5 B RO AE
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2022: Nil). o] P <2 A9 % PE (20224F : 4 o
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FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9.

The five highest paid employees during the year included four
directors (2022: four directors), details of whose remuneration
are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the
year of the remaining one (2022: one) highest paid employee
who is not a director of the Company are as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements

BRI Pt

31 December 2023
2023%12H31H

INEESEHEES
AAEE R4 e B R B AR U 4 E
(20224 - U #E F) > HEZH M
FEIE EN LSO EES o R — 44 (2022
A — )N IR AR R B
B B 2 3 B 6% @ F

2023 2022

2023%F 20224F

US$°000 US$’000

FTEx T %t

Salaries and allowances Bra MOE AL 217 216
Equity-settled share-based payment — PAHE % %5 53 2 I A5 3K B =

expense — 8

Retirement benefit scheme AR AR A FE AR 3
contributions 2 2
219 226

The remuneration of the non-director highest paid employee fell
within the following band is as follows:

2 S i i 3B R L A B T L A T

Number of employee

ESE#E

2023
20234

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000  1,500,001#5 5T 422,000,000 % 7T

In prior years, share options were granted to non-director
highest paid employees in respect of their services to the
Group, further details of which are included in the disclosures
in note 25 to the financial statements. The fair value of such
options, which has been recognised in profit or loss over the
vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant and the
amount included in the financial statements for the current year
is included in the above non-director highest paid employees’
remuneration disclosures.

TR AR AR > JF R R B R )
A A B e A A 5 T A A B RE > A
B W 1 O S B R B R 252 B
R o % S W BORE 2 A SO AE (R SR
& 39 1 AE 18 4 W AR Y R 0
SE > HLRHAAS 4R 5 I B i 3R 9 2 B
A Bt JF 58 S d R B B B 4
BmERH -
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31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

10. INCOME TAX 10. FREH
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% W A5 BT AR R AR AR A U E A
(2022: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in AR FTRE SR B F 2 16.5% (20224F
Hong Kong during the year, except for one subsidiary of the 16.5%) A » e A< 45 1 6 — [A) B &
Group which is a qualifying entity under the two-tiered profits AV BR AN o 5% R A S T AR A
tax rates regime. The first US$256,000 (2022: US$256,000) of BRI EERE ZWE AR
assessable profits of this subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% (2022: JE SR B i A 1 256,000 JT (2022
8.25%) and the remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5% 4 1 256,0003 TT) 1%8.25% (20224 :
(2022: 16.5%). Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have 8.25%) X B FHH > B T M BB G A
been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries/ F216.5% (20224F : 16.5%) 51 5 - H Ath
jurisdictions in which the Group operates. JRE R Vi ) B B K O 4 A AR B RS
B e B KR ik A T BLAT Bl R
FHEE o
2023
2023%F
US$°000
TER
Current — Hong Kong BAT — /U
Charge for the year A AR FE B R S 4,680 3,447
Overprovision in prior years DA 4F 5 R R 1 A 112) (140)
Current — Elsewhere BUAT — HoAth 3t 5
Charge for the year A AR BE Bl R S 240 299
Under/(over)provision DIFAE AL
in prior years (3 15 4 1 11
Deferred (note 23) I S (B 5E23) 32 127
Total tax charge for the year A BE B R S R R 4,851 3,722
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10. INCOME TAX (Continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before
tax at the statutory profits tax rate for Hong Kong in which
the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries operate/
are domiciled to the tax charge at the effective tax rate is as

follows:

Notes to Financial Statements

10. FTi8 Bl
HE I 452 7 W % 28 1 J R 3 4 i
B2 LR T M) 2 1 A 138
BL A G L2 L i ) 2 I D S B
2 BT 1B % it 2 B TEL D S 1 TR
T

BRI Pt

31 December 2023
2023%12H31H

2023 2022
20235 20224
US$°000 US$°000
Fxx T X T
Profit before tax i Al i A1) 32,950 26,381
Tax at the Hong Kong statutory tax % 7 i 1% & Bl #616.5% (2022
rate of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) 4 116.5%) "B 2 B 5,437 4,353
Adjustments in respect of current tax i #% 7 1 [A] & B Bl 3k
of previous periods (ks o1 151)
Income not subject to tax Uk 78 @R B 4 197) (146)
Expenses not deductible for tax AN AT AL B 5 33 322
Tax losses not recognised % T R A4 B JH e 15 26 30
Tax losses utilised from previous By A A Y B s 1R
periods (38) (25)
Effect of additional tax deduction Tl 5 % 1 0L A1 AE A B IE
enacted by tax authority A B 5 (346) (647)
Others HoAth 37 (14
Tax charge at the Group’s effective % 4% 4 [H F [ Bl R 51 5 2
tax rate Bl 3K 2 H 4,851 3,722
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31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

11.

12.

DIVIDENDS

11.

=)

2023
20235

2022
20224F
US$°000
T=J0

US$°000
FXx

Interim — HK?7.01 cents g S

(2022: HK5.90 cents) JBe7.0195 il (20224F -

per ordinary share 5.90¥ 1ilr) 9,859 8,269
Second interim — HK10.94 cents &5 "W % B —

(2022: HK8.69 cents) Hﬁ 58 % 10.94 75 Al

per ordinary share (20224F = 8.69 ¥ ill) (a) 15,450 12,205
Special dividend — HK1.42 TR — 49 i

cents (2022: Nil) per ordinary M 1.42# il (20224F :

share %) (b) 2,006 —

27,315 20,474

Notes:

(a) Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a second interim dividend
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2023 of HK10.94 cents
(2022: HKS8.69 cents) per ordinary share, in the aggregate amount of
approximately US$15,450,000 (2022: US$12,205,000), has been declared
by the Directors of the Company.

(b) Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Directors of the
Company declared a special dividend for the year ended 31 December
2023 of HK1.42 cents (2022: Nil) per ordinary share, in the aggregate
amount of approximately US$2,006,000 (2022: Nil).

EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amounts is
based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent, and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 1,099,159,540 (2022: 1,094,013,375) in issue
during the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amounts is
based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent. The weighted average number of ordinary
shares used in the calculation is the number of ordinary shares
in issue during the year, as used in the basic earnings per share
calculation, and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares assumed to have been issued at no consideration on the
deemed exercise or conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares into ordinary shares.
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Bt

(a)  JAMEWR Z A& > AN E H M4 IR
B AE2023F12H31IH IEFE 25 )
01 B S A A 10.94 5 il (20224 ¢
8.695 il > A 3L £915,450,000 3 G (2022
4F 112,205,0005 75 ©

(by AN EE SRS ROR 2% > B IR

B E20234E12 A31H 1F 4F B 45 Bl ik B 45

FU T B 1427 Il (20224F ¢ M) » A3k
2,006,000 JC (20224 : i) -

BRARAEEREEREAR
EERER

BREABMNESETTREDT L
A OB RE g RE A ON A4S AR
i A B AF A AT i 2 RE
8 #01,099,159,540 % (20224

1,094,013,375%) 51 & o

o T 4 9 A B Y AR R B m)
0 HEE i 5 AN A A A 3 AR o R
SR W BT BR D B A A R - 2 B S
AR AF R AT B A B BCR > R B R
SR B A g A B R B R AR T
Slf7 {1 5 4 B i R P 2 BoE A
4 90 Y A 2 BB S AT e
B 7 3 2 e > T AU B AT e
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BRI Pt

31 December 2023
2023%12H31H

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE R.BAAEEEZEEARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY HEREN
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

(Continued)

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are g J i A B 8 v s R 9 BR R DL B
based on: S

Earnings 27

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are g e A % A v 2 R U AR 5 B W)
based on profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity 70 B E AN B AL AR N i A A -

holders of the parent.

Shares B 17

Number of shares

& 4 8

2023
20234

Weighted average number of FA wt B IR A BRI Y
ordinary shares in issue during the 4 [ & %8 17 % 48
year used in the basic earnings per  Jil f °F- 33 %

share calculation 1,099,159,540 1,094,013,375
Effect of dilution — weighted i R 2 R F il

average number of ordinary TN HE S 2 B

shares:

Share options i i e 1,508,957 5,842,182

Number of shares used in the diluted F it 5l 55 &5 1 #5025 19
earnings per share calculation B 3 # B 1,100,668,497 1,099,855,557
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BRI Pt

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ¥ -BERRKRE

Furniture Machine Right-of-
and  Computer Office and  use assets
fixtures  equipment  equipment  equipment — buildings Total
ERELSE
BREREE SERHE BLOERE BEREH —g¥F &it
US$000  US$000  US$000  US$000  US$000  US$000
TEn TEn TEn TEn FER TEn
31 December 2023 2023F12A31R
At 1 January 2023: 202341 H1H :
Cost A 1,264 886 485 2275 3,601 8,511
Accumulated depreciation 2Rk 971) (718) (403) (1,704) (1,405) (5,201)
Net carrying amount M A £ 293 168 82 571 2,196 3,310
At 1 January 2023, net of accumulated 2202341 A1A »
depreciation IS SIS 293 168 82 511 2,196 3,310
Additions RE 409 b7 23 w7 - 091
Remeasurement on lease modifications & BT 2 Effi it & - - - - 2,649 2,649
Depreciation provided during the year FRFHEITE (145) 85) (44) (290) (1,592 (2,156)
Exchange realignment SRR 2 @ 1 2 3 %
At 31 December 2023, 2023121311 »
net of accumulated depreciation M 25T 559 103 60 520 3,276 4,518
At 31 December 2023: 20234124310 -
Cost A 1,689 914 506 2,520 3,778 9,407
Accumulated depreciation 2t # (1,130) (811) (446) (2,000) (502) (4,889)
Net carrying amount e T i (H 559 103 60 520 3,276 4,518
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BRI Pt

31 December 2023
2023%12H31H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ¥ -BEREZEw

(Continued)
Furniture Machine ~ Right-of-
and  Computer Office and  use assets
fixtures ~ equipment  equipment  equipment ildings Total
BRREER  EERH BAERE RRERE
US$°000 US$°000 ! US$’000 US$000
TEXT  TExX Tt T*x  TEx  T#x
31 December 2022 20225128318
At [ January 2022: 20221 A10 :
Cost A 1,099 811 468 1,857 2,635 6,370
Accumulated depreciation 2atinE (870) (645) (365) (1,422) (257) (3,559
Net carrying amount M 229 166 103 435 2,378 3311
At 1 January 2022, net of accumulated 4202251 A1H »
depreciation Mb 25t EE 229 166 103 433 2378 3311
Additions nE 184 126 34 421 1,246 2,011
Remeasurement on lease modifications L 515 3] 2 & ¥ 5 & — — — — 66 66
Depreciation provided during the year 4% A AR E (117) (116) 47 (285) (1,444) (2,009)
Exchange realignment IO R 3) ®) 8) — (50) (69)
At 31 December 2022, net of 120204124311
accumulated depreciation me Bt e 293 168 82 571 2,196 3,310
At 31 December 2022: 2022512311 :
Cost WA 1,264 886 485 2,275 3,601 8,511
Accumulated depreciation 2 E 971) (718) (403) (1,704) (1,405) (5,201)
Net carrying amount R T F 293 168 82 571 2,196 3,310
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BRI Pt

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

14. LEASE LIABILITIES

The Group as a lessee

The Group leases certain of its office properties and
warehouses used in its operations. Leases for these assets
generally have lease terms between two to ten years.

&),

Lease liabilities
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the
movements during the year are as follows:

4. HEEE
KEBABREA
A AL E A KSR RS TS
EYERTHE ZEEEMENH
51— i B T % AR

@ HEERRE
A S A AR AR AL B K
52 By 1A MR T 0 R

2023 2022
2023%F 20224F

US$°000 US$°000
FTXR T X

Carrying amount at 1 January LA TH By I 1w 2,245 2,382
New leases A E — 1,246
Remeasurement on lease HEBERT 2 ==
modifications 2,649 66
Accretion of interest recognised 4 [N 7 52 (9 I 5 14 Jin
during the year 51 59
Payments 57 3K 3K IH (1,671) (1,463)
Exchange realignment b, R 23 45)
Carrying amount at 31 December 12431 H 1) i fi {6 3,297 2,245
Analysed into: e DLF THH 4 4
Current portion BV &8 1,489 1,572
Non-current portion FF B HA 3 45 1,808 673
Repayable: ZEUIA DA A PR A R
Within one year —FE LI 1,489 1,572
In the second year o AR 1,394 222
In the third to fifth years, AR R AAE
inclusive (8L 4% B Wi 4F) 164 159
Beyond five years AAERL B 250 292
3,297 2,245

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in
note 33 to the financial statements.
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BRI Pt

31 December 2023
2023%12H31H

14. LEASE LIABILITIES (continuea 4. HEEEGE
The Group as a lessee (Conrinued) rEBARARAA@®
(b) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation (b) BFHEERE 2z N ERH Z BB
to leases are as follows: 3N
2023 2022
2023%F 20224F
US$°000 US$°000
FEx TE7T
Interest on lease liabilities HEABEMNE 51 59
Depreciation charge of right-of- i I & & #7 # #
use assets 1,592 1,444

Total amount recognised in profit 7 18 % (A ffE 58 19 48 4 %8

or loss 1,643 1,503
(¢) The total cash outflow for leases are disclosed in note © FHHAEWHSRBEHEWNE
27(c) to the financial statements. RE 4 7R A B R R B EE27(c) -
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31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

15. B EE

Licences Patents  Trademarks Total
B ¥ EE aF
US$°000 US$’000 US$°000 US$000
TEx T%7 T TEx
31 December 2023 2023F12A31H
Cost at 1 January 2023, 202341 HIH B A
net of accumulated amortisation fbx 25 5 1,399 395 13 1,807
Additions WE 1,042 123 23 1,188
Amortisation provided during the year 4 N 5142 £ (785) (151) ) (941)
Exchange realignment i 4 R 6 1 — 7
At 31 December 2023 A20234F 12 H31H 1,662 368 31 2,061
At 31 December 2023: 20234124318 ¢
Cost A 5,423 1,235 60 6,718
Accumulated amortisation PEE 3 (3,761) (867) (29) (4,657)
Net carrying amount J 0 (E 1,662 368 31 2,061
31 December 2022 2022F12A31H
At 1 January 2022: 20241 A1H
Cost A 3,259 952 29 4240
Accumulated amortisation P 3 (2,350) (535) (19) (2,904)
Net Carrying amount g TREA 909 417 10 1,336
Cost at 1 January 2022, 20221 A 1H LA >
net of accumulated amortisation bk 251 8 909 417 10 1,336
Additions WE 1,109 158 7 1,274
Amortisation provided during the year — 4F [ 51§ # 8 (618) (179) @) (801)
Exchange realignment I 4 R () (1 — @)
At 31 December 2022 2022412431 H 1,399 395 13 1,807
At 31 December 2022 and at #20224F12H31H &
1 January 2023: 20234F1A1H -
Cost A 4,365 1,109 36 5,510
Accumulated amortisation BEH 8 (2,966) (714) (23) (3,703)
Net carrying amount JIEgITRER e 1,399 395 13 1,807
During the year, additions of intangible assets of US$1,188,000 R BYNRBEEEERE
(2022: US$1,274,000) were acquired separately. 1,188,0003%  JT (20224F : 1,274,000
Jo) °
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17.
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BRI Pt

31 December 2023
2023%12H31H

INVENTORIES 16. 7 &
2023 2022
2023%F 20224F
US$°000 US$°000
FEx + £t
Raw materials and consumables JE A BE B FE 10,343 17,992
Finished goods A 6,595 14,341
16,938 32,333

TRADE RECEIVABLES

17. EZFEWRFIE

2023 2022
20235 20224F
US$°000 US$°000
FET + £
Trade receivables Z 5y BE I 3R E 17,442 12,078
Impairment RN (23) (24)
17,419 12,054

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit, except for new and individual customers, where payment
on demand or in advance is normally required. The overall
credit period for credit sales is generally within 60 days. The
Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and overdue balances are reviewed regularly by
senior management. The Group does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements over its trade receivables. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing.

AL EEFEE I N E SR
Gy WoEk o AR R BORO R S MO S
J5 3% BORAT R ST AL ROA o 5 B 8
BRREE SN B A60K - ALH
BT 3 R WAL S K T A £ B
AR R L o T A A B e A B
Sy A o A B2 R NI 0 i L B2 ) R SR
TE 9 A7 A o 15 9 8 At 38 3R 15 B 1
T o 52 5 E WS AR IH ) 5 JE S A o
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BRI Pt

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

17. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss
allowance, is as follows:

17. EZEWFIE
TR BB ) K A0 BR s IR I R > R
) K B RE IR R TE Y IR B o BT
L/{1

2023

20235

US$°000

FET
Within 1 month AR 11,108 9,344
1 to 2 months 1ZE 21 H 4,736 1,938
2 to 3 months 2F 38 H 848 483
Over 3 months B 30 A 727 289
17,419 12,054

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade

receivables are as follows:

B 5 JE SR T 1Y s 18 988 A 1 A2 ) 4
T

2023 2022

20235 20224F

US$°000 US$’000

FET TEu

At beginning of year i A ) 24 29

Impairment losses, net (note 6) W R - T 5Ee) — 11
Amount written off as uncollectible i 55 5 A 7 Ui 1] ) 3K T8 — (18)

Exchange realignment i, R a 2

At end of year AR 23 24

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due. The calculation
reflects reasonable and supportable information that is available
at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.
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17. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2023

Notes to Financial Statements

BRI Pt

31 December 2023
2023%12H31H

17. B 5 BRI a0
A 5 A S 7198
F 52 55 G K TEL A £ 6 LR 0

R2023%F12A31H

Past due
e
Credit- Less than 1to3 4 to 12
impaired Current 1 month months months
EERE e 2MER 1Z3MA 4Z12488
Expected credit loss rate FIE &l 1R 100% * * * * 0.2%
Gross carrying amount e T A
(US$°000) (T%7x) 23 13,981 2,617 776 45 17,442
Expected credit losses SER GRS d
(US$°000) (T%7x) 23 — —E — — 23
As at 31 December 2022 2022612 831H

Past due
Credit- Less than 1to3 4to 12
impaired Current 1 month months months
5 Bl (. B DA 1E=3EA 4E 1208 A
Expected credit loss rate EIGE R EEER 100% * * * * 0.2%
Gross carrying amount e T 48 (E
(US$°000) (F%7T) 24 10,638 1,102 296 18 12,078
Expected credit losses SER CREREY T
(US$000) (F %) 24 —xx —x —x —x 24
* The expected credit loss rates were less than 0.1%. * TEE B 18 R KR 0.1% ©
*E Based on management’s assessment, the expected credit losses were wE AR 45 A B Y R AY > TENAE B AT
minimal. ot o
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BRI Pt

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

18. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 18. B HRIE - & R HMEW

RECEIVABLES I
2023 2022
2023 20224
US$°000 US$°000
FTxR TET
Prepayments T4 3KIH 3,632 725
Deposits and other receivables i 4 Fo HoAth JRE i 3E 1,753 2,175
5,385 2,900
Less: Non-current portion Bl - I B HA AR A3 (419) (266)
Current portion B I s 4,966 2,634
The financial assets included in the above balances relate to G bl &R R 4B R
deposits and receivables for which there was no recent history A 0 A R0 Bk M I B R Y AR
of default and past due amounts. The loss allowance was JREWS R o A8 PR 1 2023 4F 52 2022
assessed by management to be minimal as at 31 December 2023 HE12 31 H 1Y s 48 188 48 5 0 B D o
and 2022.

19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 19. RERBEEEYREER

PLEDGED DEPOSIT (N
2023 2022
20234 20224F
Note US$°000 US$’000
Bt 5 FER T %7t
Cash and bank balances 4 MOSRAT &5 i 36,745 28,658
Time deposit E WA K 2,052 2,029
38,797 30,687
Less: Pledged time deposit for -l SR AT A S AT 31
bank borrowings 7E WA 3K (2,052) (2,029)
Cash and cash equivalents He kB &% 8BY 36,745 28,658
Certain cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on BB 4 SR AT WY B A 4 8 SR AT A ROR)
applicable bank deposit rates. The pledged short term time KU E AR R o O HEH 5 e
deposit is made for varying periods of between three and twelve TF A7 R B3 128 AR5 > 3
months and earns interest at the respective short term time Fe A B I e B AE SR 2 e BRI . o
deposit rate. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy 2 55 BRAT A B AN T ) E A JRE R
banks with no recent history of default. F e 15 B R AT -
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BRI Pt

31 December 2023
2023%12H31H

20. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES
AND ACCRUALS

20. EZENRIEA - HMEMRK
H R ERTRE

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

US$°000 US$’000

FER T £t

Trade payables B 5 e A 3R 2,300 4,352
Deposits received B U 4% 4 501 382
Other payables At JE AT BRIH 140 53
Accruals JRE w1 3K TH 1,745 2,113
4,686 6,900

MR EE ST R i K B 5 HE A
AT A B i 3 A 0 R

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

2023 2022

20234 20224F

US$°000 US$’000

FET + £

Within 1 month AR 2,154 3,973
1 to 2 months 1Z 218 H 146 340
2 to 3 months 283 A — 18
Over 3 months B 30 A — 21
2,300 4,352

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally

settled within 30-day terms.

%5 5 WA AT Sy B H— A

30K N & B AT o
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Notes to Financial Statements

BRI Pt

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

21. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 21. EHAE
Details of contract liabilities are as follows: GHRIABFEHNT

31 December 31 December 1 January
2023 2022 2022
2023F 20224F 20224

12A31H 12H31H 1A1H
US$°000 US$°000 US$°000
FXn TR0 FXu

Provision of warranty and support & fit f & Hi

services ¢ 1% MR B 15,726 14,381 12,049
Licensing arrangements #F ] 22 E 7,535 4,478 2,452
Total contract liabilities BRI AEEAH 23,261 18,859 14,501
Contract liabilities include advances received to render B &) AR 4 Ak AR 18 KSR IR
warranty and support services and in connection with certain W5 BT AT 22 HE A BRI s R B
licensing arrangements. The increase in contract liabilities in K e 20234F J 20224F & A B AE I N T3
2023 and 2022 was mainly due to the increase in advances F2 B E A R R AR R 1B K S
received from customers in relation to the provision of warranty & M W5 B2 T 3 T 2 BE A B 1 %
and support services and in connection with certain licensing J5 ST A AR B e

arrangements at the end of the reporting period.
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BRI Pt

31 December 2023
2023%12H31H

22. INTEREST-BEARING BANK 22. i EEITHER
BORROWINGS

2023
20235

Contractual Contractual

interest rate interest rate

Notes per annum  Maturity US$°000 per annum Maturity US$°000
i BELANE HHA TR BERANE A TEx

Current
N
Bank borrowings — secured (a) — — — Term Secured  On demand 726
Overnight
Financing Rate
(“Term SOFR”)
+1.5%
RITMER — CHA AR TP
W A 3
+1.5%
() — — — Hong Kong ~ On demand 4991
Interbank
Offered Rate
(“HIBOR”)
+2.25%
Bk BT ¥ REk
18 +2.25%
(a) HIBOR +1.5%  On demand 1,177  HIBOR +1.5% On demand 754
W RATRE HER 7 SRAT I 3% HER
FB+.5% 17 8+1.5%
1,177 0,471
Analysed into:
HONNEED L
Loans repayable within one year or on demand L177 6,471
& —4F R e K B 1B T 5
Notes: Bt it
(@)  The Group’s bank facilities amounting to US$14,989,000 (2022: (@) A 14,989,000 G (20224F ¢
US$14,927,000), of which an amount of US$1,177,000 (2022: 14,927,000 JT) ¥ H1191,177,0003 ¢ ¥
US$6.471,000) had been utilised as at the end of the reporting period, HH(20224F 1 6,471,0003% J0) 2 R 17 15 8%
are secured by the pledge of a time deposit of the Group amounting to LY R IR SR - TR A S
US$2,052,000 (2022: US$2,029,000). #2,052,000% JG (20224F : 2,029,000
JC) B E A AE SR SR .
(b) Except for the Term SOFR+1.5% secured bank borrowings which are (b) [k DA 6 JORE B A 146 14 bR 7 Bl R =R
denominated in United States dollars, all the borrowings of the Group +1.5% & 4K 49 SR AT 15 3K 4h > A S H T A
are denominated in Hong Kong dollars. i A LA O EHE -
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Notes to Financial Statements

BRI Pt

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

23. DEFERRED TAX 23. IE 3E B IH
The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the AAEEREBIH BB L EENEH
year are as follows: e
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHIEAE

Depreciation Depreciation
allowance in allowance in
excess of related excess of related
depreciation amortisation Total

BRERETEN BREHEEN

TERE TERE Bt

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
20235 20224 20235 20224 20235 20224
US$000  US$000  US$000  US$000  US$000  US$000
FEn S FEn S FEn SEIH

At 1 January RIAH 52 40 298 220 350 260
Deferred tax charged/(credited) ERMBA/GEA)

to the consolidated statement GARE R

of profit or loss and other AT i i 3K AR

comprehensive income during Bl

the year (14) 12 41 78 27 90
Exchange realignment LE &L — — 1 — 1 —

Gross deferred tax liabilities 12 H31H 118 #E
at 31 December BEARAH 38 52 340 298 378 350
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23. DEFERRED TAX (continuea)

Deferred tax assets

Notes to Financial Statements

BRI Pt

31 December 2023
2023%12H31H

23, JESE BB a0
FEERBEE

Losses available
Provision for for offsetting Depreciation
paid leave against future in excess of related
carried forward taxable profits depreciation allowance
TR ER KR RARBHRE
FHRRBER  EREENOER BRNNE
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
WBE NNF uBE ANF WBE ANF ANE A0E
US$000  USS'000  US$000  US$'000  US$000  USS'000  US$000  USS000
T#n  T#x T*rn  T#Ex FEx  TEx  FEr TEx
At 1 January TRUAA 40 47 2 n n 76 113 150
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to the ERztA/ (MR B G4
consolidated statement of profit or loss Ba R 2 m g
and other comprehensive income during % 1€ FE{
the year @) ) 2) (29) 5 () (5) 37
Exchange realignment PR/ T3} - — - — - — - —
Gross deferred tax assets RIASIAME LB
at 31 December b 3 40 - 2 76 1l 108 113

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and
liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial position.
The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the
Group for financial reporting purposes:

T f7  B BEIR L R N

Net deferred tax assets recognised
in the consolidated statement of

BT BRI BE R A TR B
T E M AR O I B IR DR R 8 -
RSN B R A SR R
TE Bl JH 45 Bk 2 0 A

2023
20235

2022
20224F
US$°000
TET

US$°000
FXR

i 53 9 A AE B IA L E A

financial position 108 111
Net deferred tax liabilities A &R A WS IR I 2R A
recognised in the consolidated TfE 58 1 4 4iE 6 TE A A5 05 AR
statement of financial position (378) (348)
270) (237)
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Notes to Financial Statements

BA RS HRAR L

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

23.

24.

DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

The Group has estimated tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
US$14,000 (2022: US$245,000), subject to the agreement by
the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department, that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of
the companies in which the losses arose. The Group also has
estimated tax losses arising in Malaysia of US$417,000 (2022:
US$327,000) for offsetting against future taxable profits arising
in Malaysia.

As at 31 December 2023, the tax losses of certain subsidiaries
incorporated in Hong Kong of nil (2022: US$12,000) were
recognised as deferred tax assets as the subsidiaries have been
generating assessable profits in prior years. In the opinion of
the directors, it is considered probable that taxable profits will
be available against which such tax losses can be utilised based
on the estimated future taxable profits of the subsidiaries.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
remaining tax losses of the Group arising in Hong Kong as they
have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some
time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits would
be available against which their tax losses can be utilised.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
tax losses arising in Malaysia as it is not considered probable
that taxable profits would be available against which the tax
losses can be utilised.

23, JEE BB a0

HE 48 7 W B 5 R b ok > A SE BB A
B A H 7 ¥ 014,000 T (20224
245,000 0) 2 EFBLE IR > %%
Bt TH 5 18 n] 4 R AR P K 8 A AR R
LR 2 AT R 2R E R B R o A
AL IR A A B EE AR B RS RV AR Y
417,000 JC (20224F : 327,000k 7C) Z
s BLE G 1E > rTHE S A B IS 2R VY
A P A 2R BB U A o

2023412 H31H » 25 T & ik 5k M
B ST B B JES 28 R DR A AE R A
A RERBLE A > L (20224F 1 12,000
Eor) BLIH G IR MR R BLUHE
FE o EHBLE  WEZENE QA
Al 5 R 2l HE B B s R o L R B
Tt A AT A K 81 BT B A 2 B TE RS 1 -
AR EA B H SN B EEE
SRR A IR A BLHE B o R H E
A B A — BIRE [ SR 15 s 48 00 g
A s DL K E SRR w R A 8 BT B A 2
Bl b 18 2 T e ME AR K - Bt A IS 2k
VG 56 A 2 BH s IR ER S A K]
AE A ME w5 B s A 9K 8 n] B A 2 Bl E
Wi 15 R R S R T RR R B
THERE -

ISSUED CAPITAL 24. BERITRAE
Shares % 12
2023 2022
2023 20224F
US$°000 US$°000
FE T+ £
Authorised: HEIZRE
4,000,000,000 (2022: 4,000,000,000 % (20224 :
4,000,000,000) ordinary shares 4,000,000,000 %)
of HK$0.01 each A B20.01% T 2 35 48 5,152 5,152
Issued and fully paid: O HEAT S & BT -
1,100,494,000 (2022: 1,100,494,000 % (20224F :
1,097,523,000) ordinary shares 1,097,523,000 /1% )
of HK$0.01 each B 1B0.01% oo 2 ¥ 48 ik 1,418 1,414
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24. ISSUED CAPITAL (Continued)

Shares (Continued)
A summary of movements in the Company’s issued capital is as

Notes to Financial Statements

BRI Pt

31 December 2023
2023%12H31H

24, BEEITRA w

& 13 )
ARFCEATRANE B ENT

follows:
Number of
shares in issue Issued capital Issued capital
BITRHHE ERITRE BBIRE
HK$’000 US$’000
Tt T %7

At 1 January 2022 202241 H1H 1,090,811,000 10,908 1,405

Share options exercised B AT I A (a) 6,712,000 67 9

At 31 December 2022 and ~ #220224F12 131 H

1 January 2023 K 202341 H1H 1,097,523,000 10,975 1,414

Share options exercised B A7 fi i A B (b) 2,971,000 30 4

At 31 December 2023 #20234F12 H31H 1,100,494,000 11,005 1,418

Notes: Bt

(@)  The subscription rights attaching to 6,712,000 share options were (@) 6,712,000 1 1 J HE B A1 9 52 Wi 4 LA A
exercised at the weighted average subscription price of HK$1.393 per T 2 R A g 01,393 T (B 5E25) 47
share (note 25), resulting in the issue of 6,712,000 ordinary shares fifi > E 176,712,000 8 3 48 B > 0 BR
for a total cash consideration, before expenses, of approximately i AR B 4 AU AT 491,195,000 9T -
US$1,195,000. An amount of approximately US$263,000 was transferred AW REAT 4% - —4E49263,0003E 810
from the share option reserve to share premium account upon the S HE Hhy I T RRE fR A AR 0 i AR OR -
exercise of the share options.

(b)  The subscription rights attaching to 2,971,000 share options were (b) 2,971,000 % i JB HE Bt 5 1 52 1 A LA Jon
exercised at the weighted average subscription price of HK$1.326 per V¥ R AE A 1.3260 T (B 5k 25) 17
share (note 25), resulting in the issue of 2,971,000 ordinary shares for a fifi > 3B 172,971,000/8 3% 48 [ > 0Bk
total cash consideration, before expenses, of approximately US$503,000. 20 T AR B 4 AU 3L 49503,000 5 7T - R
An amount of approximately US$106,000 was transferred from the share W REAT (4% > —4£49106,00038 JCHY 4
option reserve to share premium account upon the exercise of the share el R W A I O TR AR o
options.

Share options B e

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share
options issued under the scheme are included in note 25 to the
financial statements.

oA 25 7 140 AR ) AR B 3 B

1T

P9 W e HE W 15 AR S S R Y

FE25 o
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BA RS HRAR L

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

25. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 25. B HESTE

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Eligible participants of the Scheme include the
Company’s directors, including independent non-executive
directors, other employees of the Group, consultants or advisors
of the Group, suppliers of goods or services to the Group,
customers of the Group, the Company’s shareholders, and
any other person, at the sole discretion of the directors. The
Scheme became effective on 21 June 2016 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from
that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount
equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. The maximum number of shares
issuable under share options to each eligible participant in
the Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of
the shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further
grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive directors. In addition, any share
options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based on the
price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess
of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to
shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
28 days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors, and commences after certain vesting period and ends
on a date which is not later than 10 years from the date of offer
of the share options or the expiry date of the Scheme, whichever
is earlier.
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25. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) the nominal
value of the Company’s shares; (ii) The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) closing price of the
Company’s shares on the date of offer of the share options; and
(iii) the average Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s
shares for the five trading days immediately preceding the date
of offer.

There are no cash settlement alternatives. The Group does not
have a past practice of cash settlement for these share options.
The Group accounts for the Scheme as an equity-settled plan.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or
to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme
during the year:

Notes to Financial Statements

BRI Pt

31 December 2023
2023%12H31H

25. IR REGT & )

WA AT EREFEE o AN
DR @) AR A T R TAE 5 i) IR
SRR H > ARAFR &SI S
&5 A BR A 7D (k22 o7 J) W i A
KainppmEHmEMESH > A
A B - W A T T AE > DA
HRUE o

AU &R o AL ER T
Slf 4 DA B 4 4 5% S S TR 2 AR B o
A SR I R AN B A LLRE i A5
Z k]

Ji 52 HEE SN0 e 4% T R A N R i B B
BER K & BB R Z A -

R J MR R B A AR 0 OR AT
Z W TR

2023
20235
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise exercise
price  Number of price  Number of
per share options per share options
1% hn#E 4 i i HE
FHTHEE BREHE THOMHE WREHA
HK$ HK$
BT s T
At 1 January LHLA 2.326 16,929,000 1741 19,410,000
Granted during the year AR 4% 1.990 3,300,000 2.988 7,400,000
Forfeited during the year T A A B R R 2.560  (2,478,000) 2428 (2,202,000
Expired during the year JA 7 AT i 4 1 1720 (2,925,000) 1.872 (967,000)
Exercised during the year A A FEAT S 1.326  (2,971,000) 1393  (6,712,000)
At 31 December i 12A31H 2.585 11,855,000 2.326 16,929,000

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for
share options exercised during the year was HK$2.446 per
share (2022: HK$2.775 per share).

AR A BE AT R B A RE N AT A H Y
Jon R S 24 B0 A A5 B 2.446 5 T (2022
27758 T o
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BRI Pt

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

25. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (coninuea) 25. BT &
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options TR IR > i R AT 8 A T R 4 AT
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: oA AT BRI F
2023 2023%F
Number of options Exercise price per share Exercise period
BREHE BRITEE THEBAR
’000 HKS$
TR i v
52 1.180 10-5-2021 to 9-5-2024
75 1.180 10-5-2022 to 9-5-2024
147 1.180 10-5-2023 to 9-5-2024
50 1.120 31-12-2021 to 30-12-2024
53 1.120 31-12-2022 to 30-12-2024
100 1.120 31-12-2023 to 30-12-2024
50 0.922 14-12-2022 to 13-12-2025
53 0.922 14-12-2023 to 13-12-2025
175 0.922 14-12-2024 to 13-12-2025
1,100 2.970 9-11-2023 to 8-11-2026
550 2.970 9-11-2024 to 8-11-2026
550 2.970 9-11-2025 to 8-11-2026
2,800 2.988 17-6-2024 to 16-6-2027
1,400 2.988 17-6-2025 to 16-6-2027
1,400 2.988 17-6-2026 to 16-6-2027
1,650 1.990 11-12-2025 to 10-12-2028
825 1.990 11-12-2026 to 10-12-2028
825 1.990 11-12-2027 to 10-12-2028
11,855
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BRI Pt

31 December 2023
2023%12H31H

25. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (coninuea) 25. BRAERT &l
2022 20224

Number of options Exercise price per share Exercise period
i B HE g H AT M E 17 BR

’000 HK$

T T
346 1.934 14-3-2019 to 13-3-2023
1,211 1.934 14-3-2020 to 13-3-2023
825 1.934 14-3-2021 to 13-3-2023
856 1.934 14-3-2022 to 13-3-2023
312 1.020 14-9-2019 to 13-9-2023
414 1.020 14-9-2020 to 13-9-2023
399 1.020 14-9-2021 to 13-9-2023
523 1.020 14-9-2022 to 13-9-2023
235 1.180 10-5-2021 to 9-5-2024
232 1.180 10-5-2022 to 9-5-2024
618 1.180 10-5-2023 to 9-5-2024
104 1.120 31-12-2021 to 30-12-2024
125 1.120 31-12-2022 to 30-12-2024
125 1.120 31-12-2023 to 30-12-2024
254 0.922 14-12-2022 to 13-12-2025
325 0.922 14-12-2023 to 13-12-2025
325 0.922 14-12-2024 to 13-12-2025
1,450 2.970 9-11-2023 to 8-11-2026
725 2.970 9-11-2024 to 8-11-2026
725 2.970 9-11-2025 to 8-11-2026
3,400 2.988 17-6-2024 to 16-6-2027
1,700 2.988 17-6-2025 to 16—6-2027
1,700 2.988 17-6-2026 to 16—6-2027

16,929
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25. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
The fair value of the share options granted during the year
was US$215,000 (US$0.07 each) (2022: US$807,000 (US$0.11
each)). The Group recognised a share option expense of
US$253,000 (2022: US$266,000) during the year ended 31
December 2023.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during
the year was estimated as at the date of grant using a binomial
model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which
the options were granted. The following table lists the inputs to
the model used:

Dividend yield (%) & B % (%)

Expected volatility (%) TE 19 U R (%)
Risk-free interest rate (%) 1 B F 2 (%)
Expected life of options (year) W J HE TR R L AR T (4F)

Weighted average share price
(HKS$ per share)

o0 HEE - 3 5 £ (4 BB T

25. B AEET &l )
A AE AR A R E A
215,0003 7€ (5 173 0.07 3 JC)(20224F :
807,0003 7T (& 170.113€ Jo)) - A £
i % £ 20234F12 H31H 1E 4 FE i 53
253,0003 JC (20224F : 266,000 JT)
Z B RER] X -

A A JBE 452 A 14 MR ST B E B 4 L
EE A B2 H 3 IG5 A5
A1 A2 H I HE Y M O B R R A
JE o RSN R AP  2

2023 2022
20235 20224F
5.47 6.88
41.57 50.96
3.37 2.96
5.00 5.00
1.99 2.94

The expected life of the options is not necessarily indicative of
the exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility
reflects the assumption that the historical volatility of the
Company’s share price is indicative of future trends, which may
also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into
the measurement of fair value.

The 2,971,000 share options exercised during the year resulted
in the issue of 2,971,000 ordinary shares of the Company
and new share capital of approximately US$4,000, as further
detailed in note 24 to the financial statements.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 11,855,000
share options outstanding under the Scheme. The exercise
in full of the outstanding share options would, under the
present capital structure of the Company, result in the issue
of 11,855,000 additional ordinary shares of the Company and
additional share capital and share premium of approximately
US$15,000 and US$3,921,000 (before issue expenses),
respectively.
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O SR ABE 2w I A B AR A
JIe HE 11 L At 45 B o

AR AT 192,971,000 17 [ A% HE 2 5
AN T B 472,971,000 8% % @ I K &)
4,0003 0 Z WA > #E— 5 R W
A BB 2 B k24 o

R ER R s AAFERE THA
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25.

26.

217.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
Company had 11,653,000 share options outstanding under
the Scheme, which represented approximately 1.1% of the
Company’s shares in issue as at that date.

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
number of share options permitted to be granted under the
Scheme was 54,128,000, representing approximately 4.9% of
the Company’s shares in issue as at that date.

The number of share options permitted to be granted under the
Scheme at the beginning and the end of the financial year were
57,428,000 and 54,128,000 respectively. The service provider
sublimit under the Scheme is not yet available as at the date of
approval of these financial statements.

The number of shares that may be issued in respect of options
granted under the Scheme during the financial year of
7,779,000 divided by the weighted average number of shares in
issue for the year of 1,099,159,540 is 0.7%.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 79 of the financial
statements.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions
(i) During the year, the Group had non-cash additions
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of nil
(2022: US$1,246,000) and nil (2022: US$1,246,000),
respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for
buildings.

(ii) During the year, the Group had non-cash
remeasurement on lease modifications to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
US$2,649,000 (2022: US$66,000) and US$2,649,000
(2022: US$66,000), respectively, in respect of lease

arrangements for buildings.

Notes to Financial Statements

25.

26.

27.

BA SRR L

31 December 2023
2023%12H31H

BRESE
BEZSEM B MENMEL - RAFTE
wh# B A 11,653,00005 1 K A7 2
W B RE > AH AR AR A A HH B AT I
ety 2 #11.1% o

BEZS W EECRMMER > E5H 8T
U IR 0 B RE BH 7554,128,000
1y 5 AREEHAAR S F S E H OB AT R Ay
Z #14.9% o

B BUF R SRR > R R AR RT
5 ) B B RE B E 4 Fl £557,428,000
1y} 54,128,000 » #% % 3% % W B
FHAER > WM BN A0 MROE R I F
oy T BRAA -

AR > AR PR ET AR 0
RE T BT T B AT ) B £ B H 7,779,000 1y
B DAAFE A O 88 47 I 0 19 i R ST 35 8
1,099,159,540 %% 5 £0.7% °

f# tR

% S B A 4 i R 4 E Y Al
B K oI 8 ) 5 B B R
STOEUHG 5 45 M 35 5 Y ok -

RERERERME

@ BEXFBEEXRSH
() AR A AR T
B PR A R
BEEMFEHSRED LHE
B & A A F (20224F ¢
1,246,000 Jo) M & (2022
4 1 1,246,0005 7T) ©

AR FE 5 A AR [ T
M EZHEHA S S
EMNHEEI 2 EEE&E
R 2 L K B A fE R
£52,649,0003 JT (20224F :
66,0003 JT) }2,649,0003%
JC (20224 : 66,0003 JC) °

(i1)
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27. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing

27. MEBERERMET

by EXEHBMEETHNEEEH

activities
2023 2023
20235 20235
Lease Interest-bearing
liabilities bank borrowings
HESE AAEEITHERK
US$°000 US$°000
FExx TR
At 1 January 2023 202341 H1H 2,245 6,471
Remeasurement on lease MEBTZENG &=
modifications 2,649 —
Changes from financing cash flows il AR (1,671) (5,314)
Interest expense FIEBH 51 —
Foreign exchange movement A1 HE 52 1) 23 20
At 31 December 2023 2023412 H31H 3,297 1,177

2022 2022

20224F 20224F

Lease Interest-bearing

liabilities  bank borrowings

HE aE 7B SR AT 1 3K

US$°000 US$°000

T %7t T%7T

At 1 January 2022 R20224F 1 H1H 2,382 4,639

New leases o 1,246 —

Remeasurement on lease HEEF 2 E G2

modifications 66 —

Changes from financing cash flows Rl & Bl 4 i & 4 #) (1,463) 1,841

Interest expense B BH 3 59 —
Foreign exchange movement A FEE 5 H) 45) )

At 31 December 2022 R20224F12 431H 2,245 6,471
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27. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 27. RERERERWE @
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(¢) Total cash outflow for leases ¢ HENBEESRLEHERE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement FIAB R ERZHENR &
of cash flows is as follows: i AR
2023 2022
20235 20224
US$°000 US$’000
TER T %7
Within financing activities il T ) 1A 1,671 1,463
28. PLEDGE OF ASSET 28. EEHEK A
Details of the Group’s asset pledged for the Group’s bank A% B2 [ £ SRAT A R HI 9 08 B 1Y R
borrowings are included in notes 22 to the financial statements. ARG TE B R M s 22 -
29. COMMITMENTS 29. A
The Group had the following contractual commitments at the T B OR A 4 BB A AR S A K
end of the reporting period. ¥ o

2023 2022
20234 20224F

US$°000 US$’000
TXR T XU

Furniture and fixtures 150, K 2 B — 145
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30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 30. BB S X5
(a) In addition to the transactions, arrangements and balances (@ BRTHMBREFRNAS - %

detailed elsewhere in these financial statements, the
Group had the following transactions with related parties
during the year:

T KK B > % 9% I AR AF B O
LA BB O % 5 -

2023
2023%F

US$°000
FXn

Note
M
Lease payments charged by A Tt > w2
related companies” FH & A 3ja )

1,260 1,147

A Lease payments of US$1,260,000 (2022: US$1,147,000) included
in these related party transactions also constitute continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing

A WA RZ S B W O 58 g AR B AT R
1,260,0005% JG (20224F : 1,147,000
3 90) IR HE TR R B 14A

Rules. it e T B LR G o

Note: Bt at -

(i)  The lease payments were charged by related companies based (i) AT B A R 2 BB A AR IR
on terms as agreed between the relevant parties. A director A W 2 MR o BB
and the beneficial controlling shareholder of the Company, Mr. CIPAaE-S & W& & Ft
Chan, is also a director and beneficial shareholder of the related ] 5 A 3 \) 2 — 44 #  CH B
companies. JBE R o

(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group: (b) ALETEEEH A BN -
2023 2022

20235 20224F

US$°000 US$°000

TER T %70

Short term employee benefits * 0 R B AR A 1,153 1,150

Post-employment benefits il W 1% A 8 8

Total compensation paid to key cmEEEHRANE

management personnel SEAST A R B 4 %E 1,161 1,158

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in A R EE 5 I R AR B R

note 8 to the financial statements.
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 3. ERHETHEMIT A

CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial T 5 R & BRI Y 4 R T H A IR
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: T B 40 °F

TRMEE
Financial assets
at amortised cost

Financial assets

RBEREAARNEREE

2023 2022
2023F 20224F
US$°000 US$’000
FTER T %t
Trade receivables H G E R SR IE 17,419 12,054
Deposits and other receivables i A N HoAth R i R IE 1,753 2,175
Pledged deposit WELERE 2,052 2,029
Cash and cash equivalents W& B e EEY 36,745 28,658
57,969 44,916

Financial liabilities EWMAE

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

BBEKESARNESRAE

2023 2022

2023F 20224F

US$°000 US$°000

FEx + £t

Trade payables B 5 A 3k A 2,300 4,352

Other payables Aty JE A R I 140 53
Financial liabilities included in £ 45 7 R E )

accruals 4 Rl A 525 591

Lease liabilities HEAE 3,297 2,245

Interest-bearing bank borrowings 7T B BRAT 1H 3K 1,177 6,471

7,439 13,712
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32.

33.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of the
Group’s financial assets and liabilities reasonably approximated
to their fair values.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, pledged deposit, trade receivables, deposits and
other receivables, trade payables, other payables, financial
liabilities included in accruals, and interest-bearing bank
borrowings reasonably approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments or
the effect of discounting is not material.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments include cash
and cash equivalents, pledged deposit, lease liabilities and
interest-bearing bank borrowings. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is to finance the Group’s operations. The
Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
trade receivables, deposits and other receivables, trade payables,
other payables and financial liabilities included in accruals,
which mainly arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.
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oAl BEWCEIE ~ B 5 A FOR - HAt
JE A RO~ 4 TE E R RCE P &
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. i DL FL R T (B PR M AR o TR
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5 B0 AR TR o

TREREEREERBE
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest

rates relates primarily to the Group’s interest-bearing bank
borrowings with floating interest rates.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (through the impact on
interest-bearing bank borrowings with floating interest rates).

Notes to Financial Statements

BRI Pt

31 December 2023
2023%12H31H

3B.ewmAEAREEEERBEEKw

F = & b
7% 42 [ T T 35 R R A B Y A B
B A 4R AT F B R R R E R AT
A B e

Ti%l%aﬁfi A 98 7 1 B R R TR SR

718 3K % 2R ) A% 48 [ Bl i A (FF
Fﬁﬁﬁdﬂll%fﬁ*“* ) ¥ ] Z 4 H# AT
AE 8 B 1) R -

Increase/
Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in in profit
basis points before tax
2E i A0 & R
&, Cr &) #m O 2)
US$’000
T %7t
2023 20234
Hong Kong dollar T (50) 6
Hong Kong dollar T 50 6)
2022 20224F
Hong Kong dollar T (50) 32
Hong Kong dollar T 50 (32)

There is no impact on the Group’s equity except on the retained
profits.

BR T IR RSN > A SR ) HE 4 Sl J

TR -
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 33. EREREEEERBR @
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currency risk HMEE & B
The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such AL A 2 5 &R o %% B+
exposures mainly arise from revenue generated and/or costs and BRI BR T AR B 1 T e B AL
expenses incurred by operating units in currencies other than H UG 5 B AR U A BB A
the units’ functional currencies. P R E A ) B 3L e
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of AR R R R (MR B E E
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the B B 2 S MR (E Y 5 B ) A B [ B
Euro (“EUR”), Renminbi (“RMB”), Pound Sterling (“GBP”), il i A (FE BT A oA R 3R A 58 1) 3 Rk
Canadian dollar (“CAD”) and Australian dollar (“AUD”) gt (TEoT)) ~ AR (AR ~ 98
exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, of the (THgE]) -~ mg Koo (Mmoo )) K|k
Group’s profit before tax (due to changes in the fair values of FI R T (T8 7T ) 56 # 224 34 ] AE 5 B
monetary assets and liabilities). i UK -
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease)
exchange in profit
rate before tax
Exigh, B ADE R
(R ) #hn, (R )
% US$’000
% T%7T
2023 20234
If the United States dollar weakens i 55 T 54, K 7T 15 55
against EUR 5 359
If the United States dollar strengthens i 2 7T S8 K 7T i &
against EUR )] (359)
If the United States dollar weakens (eI IWN L ¥
against RMB 5 1
If the United States dollar strengthens 1 35 o0 5 A BRH N 5
against RMB Q)] 1
If the United States dollar weakens i 28 JC 58, 5 % 1 55
against GBP 5 70
If the United States dollar strengthens i 28 JC 58 5 8% I 58
against GBP 5) (70)
If the United States dollar weakens A1 & 5T 58 A0 o0 5 55
against CAD 5 2
If the United States dollar strengthens A 5 5T 58, fm oT i 5
against CAD )] (2)
If the United States dollar weakens i 2 7T 0,18 I 1 55
against AUD 5 50
If the United States dollar strengthens i 2 7T 5018 5T 0 58
against AUD 5) (50)
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

2022

If the United States dollar weakens
against EUR

If the United States dollar strengthens
against EUR

If the United States dollar weakens
against RMB

If the United States dollar strengthens
against RMB

If the United States dollar weakens
against GBP

If the United States dollar strengthens
against GBP

If the United States dollar weakens
against CAD

If the United States dollar strengthens
against CAD

If the United States dollar weakens
against AUD

If the United States dollar strengthens
against AUD

20224F
fif 3% JC 5 K o0 19 55

fitf % 7€ 5 K 70 0 3R

(ESPIEWNIEL 3 - EE
il 5 70 5t N R0 5
it 58 TT 5ol 9 5 ¥ 55

ik 58 I 5 5 85 0 5

il & 7T 58 0 7T ¥ 55

it % 78 50 It i 4

it % I 5 18 T K 55
s 5 5T 5t TR T 58

Notes to Financial Statements
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3B.ewmAEAREEEERBEEKw

S EE R B oar)

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease)
exchange in profit
rate before tax

B A% R
®m, Ok 2)

ExiEm
(R 2)

% US$°000

% TR

5 574
(&) (574)
5 1
® )
5 65
(&) (65)
5 2
(&) 2
5 30
&) (30)

There is no impact on the Group’s equity except on the retained

profits.

BT IR LR SN > A SR A R 4 Sl S

A=A
TR o
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT B.eEREEEERBEw

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk

The Group primarily trades on credit terms with recognised
and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that
most customers who wish to trade on credit terms are to a
certain extent subject to certain credit verification procedures.
In addition, receivable balances are monitored by the Group’s
management on an ongoing basis.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as at 31 December. The amounts
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

As at 31 December 2023

12-month

ECLs

128 A
RBEEER

FERR

A 45 ) = ZLLAE A J7 X S AR R R By
FEMNE =TT ETRK S o AEEW
BUORKLE - BT A v 22 LS 7 OE T
A oy )R P A TR E T 45
JHEC WG MR F o BAh - Mk
&5 BR b AR S B 0 A B R R A L

EESRBRERIEBEDE

TR PE AL EEBOR > SR E
B E K 5 SRR > BRIk
JE 8 K AR B %% 3 (w45 At
B 7RIS 2 2 DL R R 12
H3HZERD BB B A A - 2
B B Ty 4 T ) R T AR o

72023%12A31H

Lifetime ECLs

HRAEERE
Simplified

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
FIRE FRR FIRR B CH
US$°000 US$’000 US$°000 US$°000 US$°000

Txn TR ey Tn Tn

Trade receivables* B 5 M FOR - — - 17442 17442
Financial assets included in prepayments,  FFATELTHH » 4 KA

deposits and other receivables B TR A 4
— Normal** — Egw 1,753 — — — 1,753
Pledged deposit SR ileEs
— Not yet past due —WAREMH 2,052 - - - 2,052
Cash and cash equivalents RERHEEED
— Not yet past due — A 0 36,745 — — — 36,745
40,550 — — 17,442 57,992
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT B.eEREEEERBEw
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

FEERE @

As at 31 December 2022 2022F12831H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 A
BHEEER

EHENEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
H1 B kB FI B il Gl
US$°000 US$000 US$°000 US$°000 US$°000
Tx% TET TXT TET TET

Trade receivables* 50 M W I+ — — — 12,078 12,078
Financial assets included in prepayments, — #T AT #0H ~ 4 KA

deposits and other receivables TE IR OB ) 5 W

— Normal** — 2,175 — — — 2,175
Pledged deposit ERHEH

— Not yet past due — i A A 2,029 — — — 2,029
Cash and cash equivalents RERBE%EED

— Not yet past due — AR 28,658 — — — 28,658

3,862 . - 12,078 44,940

* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach # T 7 A TR P R AL SRR TR Y B 5 E R

for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in
note 17 to the financial statements.

*k The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables is considered to be “normal” when they
are not past due and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be
“doubtful”.

Since the Group primarily trades on credit terms with
recognised and creditworthy third parties, there is no
requirement for collateral.

Concentrations of credit risk are managed by customer/
counterparty. At the end of the reporting period, the Group
had certain concentrations of credit risk as 24% (2022: 13%)
and 65% (2022: 49%) of the Group’s trade receivables were due
from the Group’s largest customer and five largest customers,
respectively.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note
17 to the financial statements.

TE T & > R 4 5 A4 R B I A4 R R
B 5 R Y sE 174 5% o

w o FEA TN EOE - S A R R
B B I A R RURAE M R - HLIE
9 R U < A S R e A AT
T 8 LA i 8 I s W By TIEH ) &
S <5 T R RO S TR R o

F A 42 1 3 22 LU S A O A B AL R
S R B =07 AT S o B DL
JHAR & o

HEEETEIEES BT E
Moo R EROR s ALEEEH T
R bR E D > RN EAEEE S
JE U B 24% (20224 © 13%) K 65%
(2022%F : 49%) 43 7l 21 A 48 [ 1)
KREFRALKREF -

S A A [ i 3 Ry MR S LT

A £ 5 R B A T R E 2 B BOiR
TE B 15 i 22 B RE 17 B R o
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT B.eEREEEERBEw

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to ensure there are adequate funds
to meet its contractual payments for financial liabilities. In
the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and bank balances, and time deposit
deemed adequate by management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. Cash flows of the Group are closely monitored by senior
management on an ongoing basis.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

i B R B

A A 11 A R R L AT A
JH DL A 4 Rl B 0 S A HE A R
H o BUE B B MR B E > AR
B R M HE R AR B e R
T4k R > DL BT A8 Bl A 1
WAAF K> LA A A 4R I 2 2 RO
HEeEnki o2 AEHNER

Ui E AR P R A DR .

HRAR & #) R BRI A 5 B R o
MRz & B ER T

3 to less
Less than than 1to Sto 10
Ondemand 3 months 12 months § years years Total
IEHR
RER SRR 128 A 1856 SENF &t
US$000 US$000 US$000 US$°000 US$000  US$000
TER TER TEn Tin Tin TEn
Trade payables B 5 I A 3 — 2,300 — — — 2,300
Other payables oA A OB — 140 — — — 140
Financial liabilities included in accruals %5 1 M &t 2B 4 19
EHAMR 16 509 - - — 525
Lease liabilities HEAE - 281 1,358 1,628 11 3,538
Interest-bearing bank borrowings it BRI 3K 1,177 — — — — 1,177
1,193 3,230 1,358 1,628 m 7,680
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements

BRI Pt

31 December 2023
2023%12H31H

3B.ewmAEAREEEERBEEKw

B LB )

3 to less
Less than than 1to Sto 10
On demand 3 months 12 months 5 years years Total
3EHR
RER DR A 128 A I1Z5% SR04 &t
US$000 US$°000 US$°000 US$'000 US$000 US$000
T#7 TEx TET TET TETx TEL
Trade payables B 5 JE i 5UR — 4352 — — — 4352
Other payables oAl e A FOR — 33 — — — 53
Financial liabilities included in accruals L5 1 M &t 20 JE 4 9
EHAR 16 575 — — — 591
Lease liabilities HEAR — 279 1,340 450 304 2,393
Interest-bearing bank borrowings sHE BRI 6,471 — — — — 6,471
6,487 5,259 1,340 450 324 13,860
Note: B2

Included in the above interest-bearing bank borrowings of the Group are
certain term loans with an aggregate carrying amount of US$1,177,000 (2022:
US$6,471,000). The loan agreements of these borrowings contain a repayment
on demand clause giving the banks the unconditional right to call in the loans at
any time and therefore, for the purposes of the above maturity profile, the total
amount is classified as “on demand”.

Notwithstanding the above clause, the directors of the Company do not
believe that the loans will be called before their respective maturity dates, and
they consider that the loans will be repaid in accordance with the maturity
dates as set out in the respective loan agreements. This evaluation was made
considering: the financial position of the Group at the date of approval of the
financial statements; the lack of events of default; and the fact that the Group
has made all previously scheduled repayments on time.

bl AR SR B TS SR AT (S BRI (R AR
71,177,000 7T (20224F : 6,471,000 JT) 1 £
T8 B K o 5% S M N B K I R R B I
A SR AT A A R A [ R R Rk > R >
bR B R U R o A A B [
R

s 45 A b At e BLE > AR F S AN R
% S B BRI H A B R B9 AT 2R AT
M 8 A 7% S B8 CORT A AR 48 4% B 30 1 kT 319
BT ABR o JE WET A Y 5 8 2R 81 5 T gy
AHERT ¢ A A [ B B S SR A E U O B 5 R
DU 5 A AR A A 5 DA S R I R
T A S i I B 2 K o
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Notes to Financial Statements

BRI Pt

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

In accordance with the terms of the loans which contain a
repayment on demand clause, the maturity profile of those
loans as at the end of the reporting period, based on the

contractual undiscounted payments and ignoring the effect of
any repayment on demand clause, is as follows:

B.emEAREEEERBEKw

B M R BS an)

B8 A 1 i R R AR B R
o %GR O R R B9 B R
W2 (BL A G 4 2R 1 BB IE D) R Jme 4
AT o] 22 2R AR A R0 52 ) H 81 A
T

Less than 1to5 Over
1 year years 5 years Total
DR1E 1E5%F HBIBSE &%
US$°000 US$’000 US$°000 US$°000
FE0 TET TEx T £ T
As at 31 December 2023 #20234F12 A31H 1,190 — — 1,190
As at 31 December 2022 #20224F12 H31H 6,579 — — 6,579

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group regularly reviews and manages its capital structure
and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.
To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividends payment to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to
any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Capital management (Conrinued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
total debt to total shareholders’ equity. Total debt includes
interest-bearing bank borrowings. Total shareholders’ equity
comprises all components of equity attributable to owners of
the parent. The Group’s policy is to maintain the gearing ratio
at a reasonable level. The gearing ratios as at the end of the
reporting periods are as follows:

Interest-bearing bank borrowings

At B ERAT A A e AR 5 A

Notes to Financial Statements

BRI Pt

31 December 2023
2023%12H31H

3B.ewmAEAREEEERBEEKw

BEAREE @

2 S W DL A L R R A > BPE
4R I AORE 25 I R o
HERE LA E R SR AT M R o B RRE £
BB AR A N A HE W
Fir A A o A 4 B R AR AR
bb 24 AR A PR OKOF o B WA
A BB RNT

2023
20235

2022
20224F
US$°000
T

US$°000
FXx

and total debt 1,177 6,471
Total shareholders’ equity Ji R HE 4 AR R 50,224 43,291
Gearing ratio BfEH R 2.3% 14.9%
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Notes to Financial Statements

BRI Pt

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 34. ZxA T Bt % Ak 0 &
OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the AN F] R s B OR 2 B IR T R &
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: B
2023
2023%F
US$°000
FTER
NON-CURRENT ASSET FRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R A F 2 BE 7 7
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Prepayments, deposits and other AT - HE K
receivables JHC A R i R I 185 50
Amounts due from subsidiaries JRE Wiz B JE 2 7 Bk JE 134,585 105,701
Cash and cash equivalents B 4e LB &5 EY 28,068 6,357
Total current assets T B A AR 162,838 112,108
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBRE
Other payables and accruals Ay B AT BRCTE e R R 54 60
Amounts due to subsidiaries JRE A5 i JB 2 ] IR 136,238 85,314
Total current liabilities i ) A R AR 136,292 85,374
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 26,546 26,734
Net assets B E 26,553 26,741
EQUITY &
Issued capital 2 AT A 1,418 1,414
Reserves (note) fith fh (B 53) 25,135 25,327
Total equity HE 25 40 %8 26,553 26,741
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Notes to Financial Statements

BRI Pt

31 December 2023
2023%12H31H

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 34. XA T B B AR R ]| a0
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note: Bt i -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AN AR 2 T
Share Share
premium option Retained
account reserve profits Total
P& 17 32 1 iR BB IR R 1k 1B R EEF &%
US$°000 US$’000 US$°000 US$°000
T %7t T %7t T %t T %7t
At 1 January 2022 #20224F1 H1H 22,137 573 672 23,382
Profit for the year A 1A g — — 21,264 21,264
Issue of shares upon exercise AT (05 0 T HE % 8 AT IR M
of share options 1,449 (263) — 1,186
Equity-settled share option arrangements DA i &5 5 1) [ 1 E <4 Pk — 266 — 266
Transfer of share option reserve il T HE B 32 e s B 12
upon the forfeiture or expiry T 0 I M Al
of share options — (62) 62 —
Second interim 2021 dividend 20214F 55 R L B — — (11,513) (11,513)
2021 special dividend 202145 5 Il Ji 5 — — (989) (989)
Interim 2022 dividend 20224F B 2 — — (8,269) (8,269)
At 31 December 2022 and 20224£12 431 H F it
at 1 January 2023 20234E11H 23,586 514 1,227 25,327
Profit for the year NN — — 21,105 21,105
Issue of shares upon exercise AT 105 5% T HE % B8 AT IR M
of share options 605 (106) — 499
Equity-settled share option arrangements DA i &5 54 1) I 1 E 2 Pk — 253 — 253
Transfer of share option reserve i T HE i 32 e =B 1 12
upon the forfeiture or expiry T I P ot A
of share options — (146) 146 —
Second interim 2022 dividend 20224F 55 R L B — — (12,190) (12,190)
Interim 2023 dividend 20234F i ] ik B — — (9.859) (9.859)
At 31 December 2023 JA20234F12H31H 24,191 515 429 25,135
Under the Company Law of the Cayman Islands, a company may make WSS ARE > AFRA FHWE A
distributions to its members out of the share premium in certain circumstances. 43 UR T3 ik B R T LR B o
N,
35. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 35. L EM B RR
STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue % 55 W55 R o R e R 202442 A
by the board of directors on 29 February 2024. 29 H 48 i F it AE A o
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Five Year Financial Summary

EFNBEE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the 3§ 51 4% 48 3] i 48 1= #{W B4 BUAE B2 1) 26
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the AP\ K& E K AMBME > &EMAC M
published audited financial statements and reclassified/derived as Y %8 % #% Wf %5 ik % I 5808 & 8 70 814
appropriate, is set out below. This summary does not form part of the 4 (W JH) o 4 22300 A R Ak 48 35 4% 1 7%

audited financial statements. WMEZ—FH o -
RESULTS E
Year ended 31 December
BZE1RAIABLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
2023%F 20224 20214 20204F 20194F
US$’000 US$’000 US$°000 US$°000 US$°000
FEx T3 70 T %0 T 3t TE5x
REVENUE A 94,259 86,757 74,128 52,818 45,910
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BAEDER 32,950 26,381 24,727 16,042 13,994
Income tax expense Jir 75 Bt B 52 (4,851) (3,722) (3,527) (1,812) (1,905)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR B AT EE AR
ATTRIBUTABLE TO FREF
OWNERS OF THE
PARENT 28,099 22,659 21,200 14,230 12,089
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EENEE

2023

2023%F
US$°000
FXR

As at 31 December
M12H31H

2022 2021 2020 2019
20224F 20214 20204 20194F
US$°000 US$°000 US$°000 US$°000
TEt T %0 T %0 T %0

TOTAL ASSETS EEHE
TOTAL LIABILITIES E&&E#&%

85,275
(35,051)

83,290 71,743 59,307 50,078
(39,999) (31,660) (23,469) (15,964)
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